UNIVERSITY OF OKLAHOMA GRADUATE COLLEGE

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN PERCEPTIONS OF THE ENVIRONMENT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY PARTICIPATION IN COMMUNITY-DWELLING WOMEN

A DISSERTATION

SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE FACULTY

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

By

JENNIFER L. HAN Norman, Oklahoma 2008

UMI Number: 3333010

INFORMATION TO USERS

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleed-through, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

UMI®

UMI Microform 3333010 Copyright 2009 by ProQuest LLC All rights reserved. This microform edition is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.

> ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN PERCEPTIONS OF THE ENVIRONMENT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY PARTICIPATION IN COMMUNITY-DWELLING WOMEN

A DISSERTATION APPROVED FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND EXERCISE SCIENCE

BY

Mary K. Dinger, Ph.D.

E. Laurette Taylor, Ph.D.

Dada Fig David A. Fields, Ph.D.

allen. Thebe

Allen W. Knehans, Ph.D.

David M. Thompson, Ph.D.

© Copyright by JENNIFER L. HAN 2008 All Rights Reserved.

ag ar tha

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

There are several individuals who have assisted me in pursuing and achieving the completion of this research and hence my doctoral degree. First and foremost, my sincere appreciation goes to my mentor and committee chairperson, Dr. Mary K. Dinger, whose expertise and guidance have enabled me to develop into a true health promotion professional. I am grateful for her taking me on as a 2^{nd} -year doctoral student; her support and encouragement never wavered. Her teachings regarding accelerometers and data management cannot be learned in any textbook. I especially enjoyed the many hours that we spent discussing statistics and getting "sassy" with SAS. I would also like to thank the other members of my committee for their time and invaluable input – Dr. E. Laurette Taylor, Dr. David A. Fields, Dr. Allen W. Knehans, and Dr. David M. Thompson (an excellent biostatistician).

My gratitude goes to my colleagues who assisted me with data collection and who made the time spent in (and out of) the lab such fun – Lindsey Mallow, Cheryl Smith, Amanda Allman, and Morgan Halyk. Thanks also to Dr. Danielle Brittain for her assistance with data collection and her continual encouragement. Thanks are also extended to Diane McBride and Tonnie Tucker for their assistance with administrative matters.

Both of my parents have always supported me in my endeavors. My mother, Dr. Catalina Herrerias, has been my rock – she has encouraged me, assisted me, listened to me, given me advice, and has done everything that she possibly can to make this process more manageable. My father, Dr. C. Wayne Unsell, has provided me with wisdom and encouragement from afar. I am grateful to both of them for always believing in me and

iv

supporting my dreams. Last, but certainly not least, my deepest appreciation goes to my husband, Cameron Han. I want to thank him for never standing in the way of my educational pursuits; for providing me the opportunity to continue my schooling, especially after the birth of our precious daughter, Kaelin Elizabeth; for always encouraging and believing in me; and for listening to me and offering his own words of wisdom.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	INTRODUCTION	1
	Purpose of the Study	2
	Research Questions	3
	Hypotheses	3
	Significance of the Study	4
	Delimitations	6
	Limitations	6
	Assumptions	7
	Operational Definitions	7
II.	REVIEW OF LITERATURE	9
	Physical Activity	9
	Defining Physical Activity	9
	Physical Activity Recommendations	10
	Prevalence of Physical Activity	10
	Physical Activity and Health Benefits	11
	Physical Activity and All-cause Mortality	11
	Physical Activity and Cardiovascular Disease	13
	Physical Activity and Cancer	15
	Physical Activity and Type 2 Diabetes	17
	Physical Activity and Other Chronic Conditions	19
	Walking for Health	19
	Environmental Correlates of Physical Activity and Walking	22
	Neighborhood Aesthetics	23
	Accessibility of Places to Be Active	24
	Destinations	26
	Safety	27
	Other Factors	28
	Measuring Physical Activity	28
	Questionnaires	29
	Accelerometers	30
	Assessment of Physical Activity in Previous	
	Environmental Studies	32
	Measuring Attributes of the Environment for Physical Activity	33
	Perceptions of Environmental Attributes	33
	Objective Measures of Environmental Attributes	34
	Summary	35
III.	METHODOLOGY	37
	Participants	37
	Research Design	39
	Instrumentation	39
	Procedures	43
	Data Reduction and Analysis	44

IV.	RESULTS	S	48
	Pa	rticipants	48
		Time Engaging in Physical Activity	51
		Meeting Physical Activity Recommendations	54
	Pe	rceptions of the Environment	55
		Perceptions of the Environment According to	
		Activity Status	59
	Re	lationship between Perceptions of the Environment and	
		Physical Activity	63
		NEWS-A Subscales and Accelerometer-derived	
		Physical Activity	63
		NEWS-A Subscales and Regular Walking (IPAQ)	64
		NEWS-A Subscales and Regular Walking (NWS)	64
		Proximity to Destinations and Accelerometer-derived	
		Physical Activity	65
		Proximity to Destinations and Regular Walking (<i>IPAQ</i>)	65
		Proximity to Destinations and Regular Walking (NWS)	66
V.	DISCUSS	ION AND CONCLUSIONS	67
	Me	eeting Physical Activity Recommendations	68
	Pe	rceptions of the Neighborhood Environment	70
	Re	lationship between Environmental Factors and	
		Physical Activity	72
	Str	rengths of the Study	85
	Liı	mitations	86
	Re	commendations for Future Research	87
	Su	mmary and Implications	88
	Co	onclusions	89
REE	RENCES		94
			74
APPE	ENDICES		
	A: Ins	stitutional Review Board – Norman Campus Approval	103
	B: Re	cruiting Materials	109
	C: Pro	escreening Questionnaire	113
	D: De	emographic Questionnaire	115
	E: Int	ternational Physical Activity Questionnaire – Long Form	118
	F: Ne	eighborhood Walking Scale	124
	G: Ne	eighborhood Environment Walkability Scale – Abbreviated	126
	H: Int	formed Consent Form	133
	I: HI	PAA Authorization Form	137
	J: Ac	celerometer Log Sheet	141
	K: Da	ita	143

ABSTRACT

Purpose: To assess the relationship between perceptions of the neighborhood environment with objectively monitored ambulatory activity and self-reported walking during leisure time and for transportation in women aged 50 to 75 years. Methods: One hundred twenty-six women [age: 59.9 ± 6.9 years; BMI: 26.2 ± 4.3 kg/m²; 90.5%Caucasian] completed two physical activity questionnaires and a survey assessing perceptions of the neighborhood environment, and wore an accelerometer during all waking hours for 7 consecutive days. **Results:** Participants engaged in 72.5 ± 55.5 minutes of moderate and 77.5 ± 59.3 minutes of moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity per day, and 47.6% were meeting national recommendations when examining activity in bouts of at least 10 minutes via the accelerometer. Participants reported engaging in 120.0 (IQR = 180.0) minutes of leisure-time walking and 20.0 (IQR = 120.0) minutes of transportational walking on the IPAQ, and reported walking for 100.0 (IQR = 190.0) in the neighborhood in a usual week on the NWS. Lack of parking was associated with counts per minute ($\beta = -29.1$, p = 0.03; model $R^2 = 0.04$), total counts/day ($\beta = -29.1$, p = 0.03; model $R^2 = 0.04$), total counts/day ($\beta = -29.1$, p = 0.03; model $R^2 = 0.04$), total counts/day ($\beta = -29.1$, p = 0.03; model $R^2 = 0.04$), total counts/day ($\beta = -29.1$, p = 0.03; model $R^2 = 0.04$), total counts/day ($\beta = -29.1$, p = 0.03; model $R^2 = 0.04$), total counts/day ($\beta = -29.1$, p = 0.03; model $R^2 = 0.04$), total counts/day ($\beta = -29.1$), total counts/day ($\beta =$ 26535, p = 0.03; model $R^2 = 0.04$), and minutes of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity performed in 10-minute bouts ($\beta = -12.5$, p = 0.04; model $R^2 = 0.03$). The subscales of infrastructure and safety for walking (OR = 1.7, 95% CI: 1.02, 2.9) and traffic hazards (OR = 0.5, 95% CI: 0.3, 0.9) were associated with being a regular leisure-time walker as described on the *IPAO*. The presence of a recreation center [OR = 10.0; 95% CI: 2.1][48.6] and a bookstore [OR = 0.2; 95% CI: 0.03, 0.8] within walking distance of home were related to regular leisure-time walking, and an elementary school [OR = 0.2; 95%]CI: 0.05, 0.6] and a bookstore [OR = 5.1; 95% CI: 1.4, 18.5] were related to regular

viii

transportational walking as described on the *IPAQ*. The presence of an elementary school was related to regular neighborhood walking for recreation as described on the *NWS* (OR = 0.3, 95% CI: 0.1, 0.8). **Conclusions:** Preliminary analysis indicates that there are factors in the physical environment that may influence physical activity participation, and walking in particular, among community-dwelling women aged 50 to 75 years.

CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION

There is a positive relationship between physical activity and health. Regular participation in physical activity confers health benefits such as reduced risk of coronary heart disease, hypertension, type 2 diabetes, colon cancer, and depression.¹⁻³ In 2007, the American College of Sports Medicine (ACSM) and the American Heart Association (AHA) published an update⁴ to the previous national physical activity recommendations.² Updated recommendations state that adults should accumulate at least 30 minutes of moderate intensity aerobic physical activity on 5 days, at least 20 minutes of vigorous intensity aerobic physical activity on 3 days, or a combination of aerobic activities weekly in order to achieve health benefits.⁴ However, recent statistics demonstrate that 55 to 70% of American adults are not sufficiently active to attain health benefits, and levels of physical activity continue to decline with age.^{5, 6} For the purpose of this study, physical activity is defined as any bodily movement that is performed by the skeletal muscles and results in energy expenditure.⁷

In recent years, the physical environment has been recognized as an important moderator of physical activity participation.⁸⁻¹⁰ Studies of environmental correlates typically involve measurement of physical activity via means of self-report; few studies have utilized objective measures of physical activity.¹¹⁻¹⁶ Environmental characteristics have been examined as perceptions of study participants^{17, 18} and more recently by using objective measures such as audit instruments that are used to inventory and assess physical environmental conditions and Geographic Information Systems (GIS).^{13, 19} Studies of environmental attributes have shown differential relationships with physical activity participation according to gender,^{8, 20, 21} and few studies have evaluated the

relationship between environment and physical activity specifically in older women.^{13-15,} ^{18, 22, 23} To date, only one published study has investigated the relationship between physical activity as monitored with an accelerometer and environmental characteristics in older women.¹⁵

Among individuals who engage in leisure-time physical activity, walking is the most common type of activity performed.^{24, 25} Studies have shown that walking is associated with reduced risk of coronary heart disease and mortality.^{26, 27} Environmental attributes related to walking activity are believed to be specific to the purpose of walking.²⁰ Women who walk during their leisure time most often do so in their neighborhood streets.²⁸ While most women do not meet the public health recommendations for physical activity, studies have shown that more women over the age of 40 years may be accumulating sufficient time in lower-intensity walking in domains outside of leisure time.²⁴ Whitt and associates²⁹ observed that women did the majority of walking within the household and transportation domains, though this walking was typically low intensity, short duration, and intermittent. Environmental correlates specific to walking activity and to walking within the neighborhood warrant additional investigation.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to assess the relationship between perceptions of the neighborhood environment with subjectively monitored neighborhood walking during leisure time and for transportation as well as with objectively monitored ambulatory activity in women aged 50 to 75 years. Specifically, the ability of the environmental

factors to accurately predict physical activity and walking for particular purposes were investigated.

Research Questions

The following research questions were asked for the purposes of this study:

- 1. How physically active are healthy community-dwelling women?
 - a. Are study participants meeting physical activity recommendations?
 - b. How much recreational walking do study participants engage in on a weekly basis?
 - c. How much walking for transportation do study participants engage in on a weekly basis?
- 2. Is there a difference in perceptions of the neighborhood environment based on physical activity level?
- 3. What is the relationship between environmental attributes defined on the *NEWS-A* and physical activity?
- 4. What is the relationship between environmental attributes defined on the *NEWS-A* and walking activity?

Hypotheses

The following hypotheses will be made for the purposes of this study:

- 1. Less than 50% of participants will be meeting current national physical activity recommendations.
- Less than 50% of participants will engage in at least 30 minutes of recreational walking on five or more days weekly.

- Less than 50% of participants will engage in at least 30 minutes of walking for transportation on five or more days weekly.
- 4. Individuals who report walking regularly in their neighborhoods will have positive perceptions of their neighborhood environment compared to those who walk less or do not walk in their neighborhood.
- 5. The subscales on *NEWS-A* will be able to predict individuals who engage in regular physical activity.
- 6. The subscales on *NEWS-A* will be able to predict individuals who engage in recreational walking.
- 7. The subscales on *NEWS-A* will be able to predict participants who engage in walking for transportation.
- 8. The presence of destinations within a 20-minute walk from home will be able to predict individuals who engage in regular physical activity.
- 9. The presence of destinations within a 20-minute walk from home will be able to predict individuals who engage in recreational walking.
- 10. The presence of destinations within a 20-minute walk from home will be able to predict participants who engage in walking for transportation.

Significance of the Study

The risk for disease and disability increases with older age.³⁰ It is estimated that the number of individuals who are aged 65 years and older will constitute 20% of the total American population by the year 2030.³⁰ With health care costs being three to five times greater for an older compared to a younger individual,³¹ the United States economy will experience a shift in health care expenditures in the coming years. The health

benefits that are associated with regular participation in physical activity could offset the worsening health effects that seem to coincide with aging. Unfortunately, declining levels of regular physical activity participation also appear to coincide with aging, just as the proportion of those who do not engage in any leisure-time physical activity rises.^{5, 32, 33}

Older adults, especially older women, are among the least physically active groups in the American population. According to recent statistics, only 45.5% of women aged 45 to 64 years and 36.3% of women aged 65 years and older participate in regular physical activity during their leisure time,⁶ and these numbers are even smaller for women aged 65 to 74 years (20.9%) and 75 years and older (13.9%) from a separate national survey.⁵ Physical activity interventions that target the individual may not be sufficient to produce changes that will improve the health indices of the population. Interventions targeting larger social units and entire populations would better induce population-level behavior change.

Interventions that have the potential to impact larger social units include environmental interventions.¹⁰ In recent years, investigators have documented that certain aspects of the physical environment affect participation in physical activities such as walking activity.^{19-21, 34} During this time, it became evident that gender differences with respect to perceived environmental influences on physical activity existed.^{8, 35, 36} Although older women are among the least active groups of the population and women tend to perceive their environment in a different manner than their male counterparts, few studies have examined environmental correlates of physical activity solely in a population of older women.^{13-15, 18, 22, 23} Only three studies targeting older women objectively monitored physical activity.¹³⁻¹⁵ Researchers used a pedometer in two of these

studies,^{13, 14} which is a small device that counts the number of steps accumulated during a specified time period. Morris, McAuley et al¹⁵ used an accelerometer, which provides more detailed information to enable discrimination of the duration and intensity of ambulatory physical activity. However, Morris, McAuley and associates¹⁵ did not utilize the accelerometer data to determine intensity and duration of activity.

Delimitations

The following delimitations existed in this study:

- The study population included healthy, ambulatory women aged 50 to 75 years who lived in Norman, Oklahoma City, and surrounding areas.
- 2. Participants were excluded if they were pregnant or were non-ambulatory.
- 3. Participants were excluded if they had a pacemaker, were taking medication to treat blood pressure or a heart condition, or had a heart condition.
- 4. Participants were excluded if they had a bone or joint problem that could have been made worse by engaging in physical activity.

Limitations

The following limitations existed in this study:

- 1. Participants were apparently healthy volunteers, which may restrict the generalizability of the results to others in the same age range.
- 2. The ActiGraph GT1M accelerometer was waist-worn and monitored ambulatory activity. External loads and movements of the upper body were not detected.
- 3. The ActiGraph GT1M accelerometer is not waterproof and must be removed during water activity; thus, water activity was not objectively monitored.

- 4. Data collected in this study may not represent all the possible patterns of physical activity or perceptions of environmental attributes.
- 5. The study design limited the discussion to associations rather than claims regarding temporal relationships.

Assumptions

The following assumptions were made in this study:

- 1. Participants were able to accurately recall past-week and usual physical activity.
- 2. Participants were able to accurately and honestly respond to items regarding demographics and perceptions of environmental attributes.
- 3. Participants complied with the researchers' instructions regarding wearing the accelerometer and completing the accelerometer log.
- 4. Participants maintained their normal levels of physical activity.

Operational Definitions

The following terms used in this study are defined below:

- 1. Physical activity any bodily movement performed by the skeletal muscles that results in energy expenditure.⁷
- MET estimate of the absolute energy expenditure of an activity. One MET is equal to the resting metabolic rate of an individual, which is defined as 3.5 ml of oxygen per kilogram body mass per minute.³⁷
- Moderate intensity intensity that requires energy expenditure of at least 3.0 but less than 6.0 METs.²
- Vigorous intensity intensity that requires energy expenditure of 6.0 METs or greater.²

- Physical environment built (e.g., architectural features, community design) or natural (e.g., weather and open space) space outside of the person.³⁸
- Neighborhood for purposes of data analysis, a diameter encompassing a 20minute walk around an individual's home¹⁴; neighborhood was not defined for participants.
- 7. Walkability the ability to walk to nearby destinations.³⁹
- 8. Density amount of activity in a given area.⁴⁰
- 9. Aesthetics attractiveness and appeal of a place.⁴⁰
- Destination relates to the availability of community and commercial facilities in neighborhoods.⁴¹
- Safety reflects the need to provide safe physical environments for individuals; incorporates personal and traffic elements.⁴¹
- 12. Land use mix proximity of different land uses, or the distribution of activities across space.⁴⁰
- 13. Walking for transportation walking to get to and from places.⁴²

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

In 2007, the ACSM and the AHA recommended that adults should accumulate at least 30 minutes of moderate intensity aerobic physical activity on 5 days, at least 20 minutes of vigorous intensity aerobic physical activity on 3 days, or a combination of activities weekly in order to achieve health benefits.⁴ However, recent statistics demonstrate that 55 to 70% of American adults are still not sufficiently active to attain health benefits, and levels of physical activity continue to decline with age.^{5, 6}

Physical activity is a behavior, and many factors influence an individual's choice to engage in this particular behavior. Recent research has focused on the impact of the physical environment on an individual's choice to be physically active. This chapter discusses the importance of being physically active, how the environment is associated with physical activity participation and walking for particular purposes, and how investigators measure both attributes of the environment and physical activity.

Physical Activity

Defining Physical Activity

Physical activity refers to any bodily movement performed by the musculature that requires energy.⁷ Physical activity recommendations state that adults should engage in activities of at least moderate intensity.^{2, 4, 43, 44} Moderate intensity physical activity refers to activities that require 3 to 5.99 METs to perform.² One MET is equal to the amount of energy that an individual uses at rest, which is 3.5 ml of oxygen per kilogram body mass per minute.³⁷ Thus, a moderate intensity activity is one that requires at least 3 times the amount of resting energy to perform.

Physical Activity Recommendations

The most recent national public health recommendations for physical activity state that healthy adults aged 18 to 65 years should engage in moderate intensity aerobic physical activity for a minimum of 30 minutes on five days or vigorous intensity aerobic activity for a minimum of 20 minutes on three days weekly to promote and maintain health.⁴ This recommendation also states that activity should be performed in bouts lasting at least 10 minutes in duration, and that combining moderate and vigorous intensity activity provides sufficient health benefits if individuals perform 450 to 750 MET-minutes per week of these combined activities.⁴

Specific to older adults, the ACSM recommends regular participation in physical activity to promote healthy aging and to maintain and improve physical and psychological functioning.⁴⁵ The ACSM suggests performing exercise with such specific goals as gaining muscular strength and hence bone mineral density to lower risk of osteoporosis, improving balance and postural stability to prevent falls, and enhancing cardiovascular functioning. The national public health recommendation for physical activity includes a second recommendation for adults aged 65 years and older.⁴⁶ In addition to the recommendation made for those aged 65 years and younger, older adults should perform flexibility exercises to enable performance of regular physical activity and activities of daily life. They should also include balance activities to reduce the risk of falling.

Prevalence of Physical Activity Participation

Recent government statistics demonstrate that 55 to 70% of American adults are not sufficiently active to attain health benefits.^{5, 6, 33} Levels of physical activity continue

to decline with age as the proportion of individuals who engage in no leisure-time physical activity increases.^{5, 6, 33} Additionally, females are less active and report greater levels of inactivity than males at all age groups.^{5, 6, 33, 36} In a study of adults aged 50 years and older, investigators observed a marked decline in activity scores as the age category increased, with females yielding lower activity scores than their male counterparts.⁴⁷

Physical Activity and Health Benefits

Whether an individual is meeting physical activity recommendations is important because regular participation in physical activity has many health benefits.^{1-4, 27, 48-50} Some of the earliest studies assessing the impact of physical activity on health demonstrated decreased risk of mortality due to coronary heart disease among men who were active versus inactive on the job.⁵¹⁻⁵⁴ The national physical activity recommendation that was published in 1995 was developed from evidence supporting the link between physical activity and a variety of chronic illnesses.² This recommendation has been revised recently,⁴ and as the evidence supporting the benefits of physical activity on health continues to grow, physical activity recommendations to improve health status will be updated.

Physical Activity and All-cause Mortality

Physical inactivity is one of the leading causes of preventable death in the United States, along with poor diet.⁵⁵ The association between physical activity and mortality has been well documented, beginning with early studies of occupational physical activity⁵¹⁻⁵⁴ and later emphasizing leisure-time physical activity.⁵⁶ Many of the early studies were performed with men as the participants, though recent studies have expanded to include evaluations of physical activity and mortality among women.^{27, 50, 57-59}

The Women's Lifestyle and Health study is a large, population-based study of women between the ages of 30 to 49 years at recruitment.⁵⁰ Participants were asked to rank their overall physical activity levels (household, occupational, and leisure-time) at ages 14 and 30 years, and were followed for an average of 11.4 years. Results demonstrated a decreased risk of mortality among women who self-reported greater levels of physical activity at recruitment, with no associations evident with respect to earlier physical activity participation. This same study found that women who were active also had a lower body mass index (BMI) and were less likely to be smokers. Another population-based study observed that women aged 65 years and older who engaged in leisure-time physical activity just once a week had a 41% reduction in mortality risk compared to those who did not participate in any physical activity.⁵⁹ Interestingly, participation in 2 or more days of physical activity compared with 1 day of activity did not result in additional risk reductions for this sample.

The Nurses' Health Study, was initiated in 1976 among a large population of female registered nurses aged 30 to 55 years.²⁷ Results from data collected between 1980 and 1996 demonstrated a 24% decline in all-cause mortality risk for women who engaged in 1-1.9 hours of weekly leisure-time physical activity compared to those who did less than 1 hour of activity. Additional benefits were noted with increasing levels of physical activity, but the benefits were less and were similar across other activity levels. In this sample, physical activity was more strongly related to respiratory deaths than deaths from other causes, with the most active group experiencing a 77% reduced risk of death from respiratory causes compared to those in the least active group.

The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures showed that women at least 65 years of age who performed between 1046 and 1906 kcal weekly of leisure-time physical activity had lower risk of all-cause mortality compared to peers who performed less than 163 kcal of activity weekly.⁵⁷ Mortality attributed to cardiovascular disease (CVD) was also lower when comparing these same groups. In addition, women who were sedentary at baseline but became active also demonstrated a 50% reduction in all-cause mortality risk and a 36% reduction in risk of mortality from cardiovascular incidents.

A large prospective study followed men and women for a mean follow-up period of 17.7 years, assessing occupational and leisure-time physical activity participation and mortality.⁵⁸ Women who engaged in physical activities such as walking, cycling, and light gardening for more than 4 hours per week experienced a reduced risk of total mortality by 36% compared to women who were primarily sedentary. Women who engaged in vigorous activities for at least 3 hours per week had a 42% reduced risk of mortality compared to women who were inactive. While women who were classified as obese (body mass index \geq 30 kg/m²) had a higher risk of mortality compared to their nonobese counterparts, women who were not obese and not physically active had a higher hazard ratio than women who were obese and active (1.59 versus 1.12, respectively). *Physical Activity and Cardiovascular Disease*

Cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of death and is a large contributor to disability in the United States.^{60, 61} Physical inactivity is a modifiable risk factor for CVD and for many of the other risk factors of CVD, and performing 30 minutes of moderate intensity activity is recommended as a form of secondary prevention.^{62, 63} Over the years,

several studies have demonstrated the link between physical activity participation and lower risk of CVD, particularly coronary heart disease and stroke.^{48, 51-54, 56, 64, 65}

Several studies assessing physical activity and CVD have been performed specifically in women. Data from the Nurses' Health Study indicated that women in the two highest activity level groups had reduced risk of coronary events by 26-34% compared to those in the least active group.⁶⁶ The benefits attained by being active were also evident in women who had other risk factors for CVD, such as smoking, high BMI, and familial history of myocardial infarction. The Women's Health Study was a prospective study of female health professionals who were aged 45 years and older at the time of enrollment.⁴⁸ After 5 years of follow-up, relative risk of developing coronary heart disease was reduced by 45% for women who expended 600 to 1499 kcal each week in all physical activities compared to women who expended less than 200 kcal weekly. Expending additional energy did not provide further benefits. The Women's Ischemia Syndrome Evaluation examined the effects of physical fitness on CVD, and researchers found that women with lower fitness levels were significantly more likely to have obstructive coronary artery disease and other adverse cardiovascular events.⁶⁷

Hu, Stampfer and colleagues⁶⁴ demonstrated a decreased risk of ischemic stroke with increasing levels of physical activity in women. Specifically, women who obtained at least 7 hours of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity reduced their risk of stroke by 40%. Ellekjaer et al⁶⁸ implemented a prospective study assessing the relationship between self-reported leisure-time physical activity and stroke mortality in women at least 50 years of age. After an average of 9.8 years of follow-up, women in the high- and

medium-active groups had reduced risk of mortality from stroke by 48% and 23%, respectively, compared to women in the low-active group.

A meta-analysis of 52 articles examined the dose-response relationship between physical activity and reduced risk of coronary heart disease, stroke, and overall CVD in women.⁶⁹ In general, higher levels of physical activity related to reduced risk of coronary heart disease compared to the least active group, and only the most active women experienced reduced risk of stroke compared to those who were inactive. In addition, women who accumulated the most time walking per week had reduced risk of coronary heart disease, stroke, and overall CVD compared to those who were least active. *Physical Activity and Cancer*

Cancers are the second leading cause of death in the United States.⁵⁵ Physical activity is believed to reduce the risk of developing colon and breast cancers and may reduce risk of developing lung and prostate cancers.⁷⁰ Results of a prospective study of Japanese men demonstrated that those who had higher levels of cardiorespiratory fitness also had almost a 60% lower risk of mortality from lung, stomach, liver, colon, esophageal, and rectal cancers when compared to those who were least fit. Smokers with higher fitness levels also experienced similar reductions in cancer mortality.

Studies have demonstrated a beneficial relationship between physical activity participation and colon cancer. Researchers with the Nurses' Health Study observed that women who expended more than 21 metabolic equivalent-hours (MET-hours) per week in leisure-time physical activity had reduced their risk of colon cancer by 46% compared to women who expended less than 2 MET-hours per week in activity.⁷¹ This level of activity is quite high, however; it is the equivalent of walking at a pace of 3 mph for an

hour every day. More recent results from the Nurses' Health Study support the earlier findings, and show that engaging in at least 4 hours of moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity each week reduced risk of colon cancer by 55%.⁷² Results of a case-control study demonstrated a 20-40% reduction in risk of colon cancer among adults aged 30 years and older.⁷³ Interestingly, researchers of the Miyagi Cohort Study noted that walking more than one hour daily decreased risk of colon cancer in men by more than 40%, but walking did not have beneficial effects for women in this sample.⁷⁴

Studies have generally demonstrated a beneficial relationship between physical activity participation and breast cancer. Friedenreich and associates⁷⁵ evaluated the relationship between intensity of physical activity and breast cancer in a case-control study examining occupational, household, and recreational physical activity across the lifetime. Researchers observed a 30% reduction in breast cancer risk among postmenopausal women who performed the high levels of household activity (minimum of 13.9 hours/week per year) and 33 to 40% reduced risk for those who performed midrange levels of occupational activity (12.4 to < 21.4 hours/week per year). Results of the Women's Health Initiative Cohort Study demonstrated a 14% reduced risk of breast cancer in women who performed strenuous recreational physical activity in the past (at age 35 years) and a 21% risk reduction in women who engaged in more than 7 hours of moderate or strenuous physical activity at the time of study enrollment (aged 50 to 79 years).⁷⁶ In a separate cohort study, women aged 40 to 65 years at enrollment who were followed for a mean of 11.4 years experienced reduced risk of breast cancer when they reported engaging in vigorous recreational activity, such that even one to two hours per week reduced risk by 12% and five or more hour per week reduced risk by 38%.⁷⁷

Performing the equivalent of a minimum of 7.4 hours per week of a 3.0 MET, moderateintensity recreational activity resulted in a 12 to 19% reduction in breast cancer risk.

Physical activity may also improve survival rates from breast cancer. Holmes et al⁷⁸ showed that women diagnosed with breast cancer who performed a minimum of 9 MET-hours of physical activity each week had lower risk of mortality. Women with hormone-responsive tumors who performed the equivalent of 3 hours of moderate intensity activity weekly were 50% less likely to die from breast cancer compared with those who did 1 hour or less of weekly moderate activity. Investigators concluded that women with breast cancer had the best chances of survival if they performed the equivalent of 3-5 hours of moderate-intensity walking each week.

There are also studies that have found no link between physical activity and breast cancer. For example, results of the Women's Health Study demonstrated no significant associations between risk of breast cancer and total amount of energy expended or vigorous physical activity performed during leisure time in women aged 45 years and older.⁷⁹

Physical Activity and Type 2 Diabetes

There are several recent studies that have demonstrated that participation in physical activity is related to a reduced risk of developing type 2 diabetes. For example, Kriska et al⁸⁰ observed that Pima Indian men who performed the equivalent of a brisk walk for 30 minutes each day during their leisure time reduced their risk of developing diabetes by 34%. Women who performed a similar amount of activity during their leisure time or while at work reduced their risk of diabetes by 25 to 30%. Results of a 5-year follow-up of multi-ethnic, postmenopausal women in the Women's Health Initiative

study showed that women who walked regularly had a 13-26% reduction in diabetes risk.⁸¹ In addition, women who were the most active during their leisure time (in the three highest quintiles of energy expenditure) reduced their risk of incident cases of diabetes by 25 to 33%.

Folsom et al⁸² implemented a 12-year follow-up of the Iowa Women's Health Study to determine if physical activity reduced the incidence of type 2 diabetes among postmenopausal women who were aged 55 to 69 years at the time of study enrollment. Researchers observed that participants who reported engaging in regular physical activity reduced their risk of incident diabetes by 14-31%, with those engaging in greater levels of activity experiencing more benefits. Participants who performed moderate intensity activity more than 4 times per week had a 27% reduced risk, while those who performed vigorous intensity activity more than 4 times per week had a 36% reduced risk, of developing diabetes. Results of a 6.9-year follow-up of the Women's Health Study assessing women who were aged 45 years or older at time of study enrollment demonstrated that expending 1500 kcal per week in recreational activity translated into an 18% risk reduction of incident diabetes.⁸³

Hu, Li et al⁸⁴ evaluated walking and television viewing in a 6-year follow-up of the Nurses' Health Study. Researchers observed that watching television for a minimum of 6 hours per week increased the risk of developing diabetes by 30%; the risk increased with greater levels of television viewing. They found that the risk of diabetes increased by 14% for each additional 2 hours per day that participants watched television. Conversely, each 1-hour increment of brisk walking per day resulted in a 34% reduction in diabetes risk.

Physical Activity and Other Chronic Conditions

Goodwin⁸⁵ observed a beneficial relationship between physical activity and mental disorders. She found that there were fewer individuals suffering from conditions such as major depression, phobias, and other anxiety disorders who reported regular participation in physical activity compared to those who reported no regular activity. Regularly active individuals had 25 to 35% lower odds of suffering from major depression or anxiety disorders compared to those who were not active. Weuve et al⁸⁶ concluded that physical activity is associated with better cognitive functioning and less cognitive decline in women aged 70-81 years. Nelson et al⁸⁷ observed that physically active postmenopausal women reported less stress and fewer symptoms of depression compared to their counterparts who were not physically active. Hu, Li and associates⁸⁴ found that watching 2 hours of television each week increased women's risk of obesity by 22%, and the risk increased with more hours of television viewing. Conversely, each 1-hour increment of brisk walking daily reduced the risk of obesity by about 25%.

Walking for Health

Walking is the most common form of physical activity.^{24, 25, 88} One study noted that 57.6% of adults who engaged in some amount of walking each week reported walking as their only form of leisure-time physical activity, and the proportion of only-walkers was highest among women and older adults.⁸⁹ In a follow-up study of older women, 78% of participants reported walking in the last year, with more than half of their physical activity energy expenditure attributable to walking.¹⁴ Twenty-five percent of the women reported walking as their only source of physical activity.

The risks of walking for physical activity are low.⁹⁰ Walking is easy, requires little skill, and can be performed by most individuals and in a variety of places. Walking can be performed in all domains of physical activity: while at work, around the house, for transportation, and during leisure time. According to the Compendium of Physical Activities,⁹¹ most types of walking are considered to be of at least moderate intensity (METs \geq 3.0). Thus, walking should confer health benefits to individuals who regularly walk for at least 30 minutes a day on most days of the week.

Several studies have documented the positive association between walking activity and health. Manson, Hu et al⁶⁶ observed that women who engaged in 90 minutes of walking at a brisk pace each week had a similar reduction in risk of coronary events compared to women who engaged in a similar amount of vigorous intensity activity. In addition, women who walked at a pace of at least 2.0 mph reduced their risk of coronary events by 25 to 36%. Rockhill and colleagues²⁷ observed that middle-aged and older women who walked regularly achieved reductions in all-cause mortality risk similar in magnitude to engaging in vigorous physical activity. Gregg and associates⁵⁷ found that expending a minimum of 187 kcal weekly reduced all-cause mortality risk and cardiovascular-specific mortality risk in older women. Manson, Greenland et al²⁶ demonstrated that walking reduced the risk of CVD in postmenopausal women aged 50 to 79 years irrespective of ethnicity, age, and BMI category. Women who walked 2.5 hours weekly benefited from a 30% reduced risk of CVD. A separate cohort study of women aged 45 years and older found that 1 hour of walking each week lowered the relative risk of coronary heart disease by approximately 50% compared to those who did no walking.⁴⁸ The association was also evident in women who were overweight, had high

cholesterol levels, and were smokers. Results of the Nurses' Health Study demonstrated that 1 to 3.9 hours of walking each week reduced risk of colon cancer by 36 to 41%, with risk reductions primarily occurring for cancers of the proximal colon.⁷²

Individuals walk for a variety of reasons, and participation in walking activity has been associated with a variety of sociodemographic factors. Rafferty and colleagues⁸⁹ evaluated BRFSS data from 1998 and observed that walking activity increased with age until 65 to 74 years, and walking was more common in women, Caucasians, and those of higher socioeconomic status. Eyler et al²⁸ and Simpson et al⁸⁸ also observed that greater walking participation occurred among Caucasians and those of higher socioeconomic status. Ham and associates⁹² reported that short walking trips of less than one mile in length are more common among individuals younger than 30 years, those with lower incomes, and those who live in urban areas. Whitt et al²⁹ found that accumulation of walking was different based on ethnicity and domain of physical activity.

Walking has also been associated with a variety of physical environmental factors, such as aesthetics,^{20, 93, 94} convenience and accessibility of facilities,^{20, 21, 93-97} and safety issues.^{21, 94, 97} The neighborhood environment is of particular importance because much of the walking that individuals do is in their own neighborhoods. In one study, more than 60% of walkers reported using neighborhood streets for walking.²⁸ In this same study, 45% of regular walkers and 50% of occasional walkers stated that they walked more since they began using their neighborhood resource, which was their main place for walking. A walking intervention targeting low-income women demonstrated that those who walked did so in the neighborhood and that the majority of increased walking was done for leisure or exercise.⁹⁸ Suminski and colleagues²¹ reported that a

larger proportion of women compared to men walked for exercise in their neighborhood (52.6 versus 38.5%, respectively). Of this sample, approximately 52% of women reported walking for transportation, though only 32% report doing so in their neighborhood.

Environmental Correlates of Physical Activity and Walking

Some theories of behavior change, including the ecological model put forth by McLeroy et al⁹⁹ and Bandura's Social Cognitive Theory,¹⁰⁰ recognize that what occurs outside of the individual may impact the behavior of the individual. With such a large proportion of American adults not attaining sufficient levels of activity to attain health benefits, interventions promoting physical activity participation and targeting large numbers of individuals at the same time have the potential to influence behavior change in anyone who encounters the intervention. Such interventions include modifications to the environment and public policy.¹⁰¹ An example of how the environment could be modified to promote physical activity participation is to create or improve access to places where people can be active,¹⁰ such as neighborhood streets and parks.

Identifying factors in the physical environment that affect an individual's choice to be physically active is necessary for the design of communities that support active lifestyles. Investigation of the relationship between environmental attributes and physical activity participation has expanded in recent years. The literature identifies several common factors, though the manner in which the factors are defined and measured may not always be in agreement. Some of these factors are discussed below, including neighborhood aesthetics, convenience to places to be active, accessibility and number of destinations, and safety.

Neighborhood Aesthetics

Several studies have evaluated various aspects pertaining to the attractiveness and appeal of neighborhoods and whether these aspects influence an individual's choice to be active in the neighborhood. In a review of multiple studies, Owen and co-workers⁴² stated that perceptions of the environment's aesthetics constitute the attribute that is most often evaluated. They concluded that aesthetics is related to walking for exercise or recreation and with overall walking, but is not associated with walking for transportation.

King, Castro and associates²² observed a positive correlation between the presence of hills and enjoyable scenery in the neighborhood and physical activity in a group of women aged 40 years and older. However, the correlations changed when the analysis was performed for each racial/ethnic group separately. Only the presence of hills was positively correlated in White (OR = 1.48; 95% CI: 1.04, 2.10) and Hispanic (OR = 1.89; 95% CI: 1.21, 2.93) women but not in African American or Native American women. Enjoyable scenery was no longer significant for any group.

Lee³⁶ observed that women aged 60 to 75 years compared to their male counterparts perceived the presence of fewer hills and less enjoyable scenery in their neighborhood. Ball, Bauman et al⁹³ found that 59% of females who reported positive perceptions of neighborhood friendliness, attractiveness, and pleasantness were recreational walkers compared to 41% who reported the least positive perceptions of these aesthetic features. Those with poor perception of neighborhood aesthetics were the least likely to walk for exercise in the past two weeks. Suminski and co-workers²¹ observed an inverse relationship between neighborhood aesthetics and walking for transportation in men and no significant relationship between aesthetics and activity in

women although men and women did not differ on their perceptions of the neighborhood environment. Aesthetics was defined differently in this study, and referred to cleanliness and views of local buildings and scenery.

Humpel, Owen, Iverson et al²⁰ found that neighborhood aesthetics were positively associated with walking activity among men and demonstrated no relationship among women when friendliness of people and enjoyable scenery were used as measures of aesthetics. They observed that 67% of neighborhood walkers were those with more positive perceptions of neighborhood aesthetics. Of interest is that aesthetics was associated with neighborhood walking and walking for exercise among men, but demonstrated no relationship among women in this sample. Men who had the highest positive perception of neighborhood aesthetics were 7.4 (95% CI: 1.9, 28.8) times more likely to be classified as high neighborhood walkers and 3.9 (95% CI: 1.0, 14.5) times more likely to be high exercise walkers. Similarly, Humpel, Owen, Leslie and associates⁹⁴ observed that moderate and highly positive perceptions of neighborhood aesthetics was associated with neighborhood walking among men but was not related to walking or general physical activity among women. Humpel, Marshall and colleagues³⁵ noted that improved perceptions of aesthetics related to twice the odds of men increasing weekly walking activity by 30 min, though again, the relationship was insignificant in women.

Accessibility of Places to be Active

Having access to places where one can be physically active is related to greater levels of physical activity and walking participation among adults. Among adults aged 65 years and older, the perceived presence of malls and pedestrian trails near their homes

was associated with neighborhood walking, and objectively determined presence of malls was related to an increased odds of walking by 4.7 times (p = .04).¹⁹ Among individuals of the same age group, walking levels declined less in neighborhoods where participants reported access to physical activity facilities across a 12-month period.¹⁰² Adults who reported using a private recreational facility were seven times more likely to be active compared with those who were not active (OR = 7.3, 95% CI: 3.5, 15.0) and four times more likely to be insufficiently active compared with those who were inactive (OR = 4.4, 95% CI: 2.2, 8.8).⁹⁵ Use of parks and the presence of sidewalks were also associated with walking and obtaining some amount of physical activity. Conversely, Wendel-Vos, Schuit et al¹⁰³ reported that objectively measured access to green and recreational spaces was not significantly associated with walking for recreation or transportation among men and women aged 20 to 59 years.

Several studies evaluated access to places to be active in terms of convenience of walking facilities and resources. One study found that those who reported low convenience scores were 40% less likely to have walked for exercise during the past 2 weeks.⁹³ In this same study, 58% of women who scored convenience as high and 51% who scored convenience as moderate reported walking for exercise. A walking intervention study determined that more positive perceptions of convenience were related to increased levels of walking in both men and women.³⁵ In another study, an increased odds of being in a higher category of neighborhood walking participation was associated with women who reported moderate (OR = 3.2, 95% CI: 1.8, 5.6) to high (OR = 3.8, 95% CI: 2.1, 6.7) scores on convenience of walking opportunities.⁹⁴ This same study saw a

similar trend in men, whereby neighborhood walking and total physical activity was related to more positive perceptions of convenience.

Destinations

Several studies have found a positive association between physical activity and accessibility to destinations such as shops and public transportation, while other studies have demonstrated opposing results. One study observed that women who perceived an average number of destinations (compared to few or many destinations) within walking distance were almost six times more likely to walk for transportation.²¹ Low-income women in a walking intervention study engaged in greater levels of physical activity when they perceived that they had a place to walk within their neighborhood.⁹⁸ Of those women who reported places to walk near their home (n=8), 38% increased their daily steps by 2000 per day. The most common destinations reported by these women were parks and schools where grounds were open to the public. King and associates¹⁴ assessed convenience of destinations and walking levels in older women aged 50-65 years at the time of their original entry into the study 17 years earlier. Women in this sample infrequently walked to destinations that were more than 20 minutes away. Pedometer data showed that women who lived within walking distance of a biking/walking trail, a park, or a department/discount/hardware store accumulated more steps than women who did not live within walking distance of these places. Generally, women who lived within walking distance of two or more destinations were more active.

Humpel, Owen, Leslie et al⁹⁴ found that women's walking in the neighborhood was inversely related to positive perceptions of accessibility of destinations, whereas men's walking in the neighborhood and total walking were directly related to positive
perceptions of accessibility to shops and public transportation. Conversely, Humpel, Owen, Iverson and associates²⁰ observed that positive perceptions of accessibility were related to a 70% reduction in the likelihood of men engaging in greater levels of walking in the neighborhood, while moderate perceptions of accessibility increased likelihood of women walking for pleasure (OR = 3.5; 95% CI: 1.6, 9.2).

Safety

Perceptions of safety can refer to traffic conditions, neighborhood crime, and conditions of walking and physical activity facilities. It seems intuitive that more negative perceptions of safety would relate to decreased activity participation. Taylor, Sallis and co-workers²³ reported that safety was a primary concern among low income, urban women aged 50 years and older. Suminski et al²¹ reported that an average safety rating of neighborhood traffic, lighting, and crime was related to increased odds of women walking for exercise (OR = 4.6, p < 0.05) and walking their dog (OR = 3.3, p < 0.05) 0.05). In their walking intervention study, Miles and Panton⁹⁸ observed that low-income female participants who did not increase their physical activity were concerned with safety and security within their neighborhood. In their 12-month longitudinal study, Li et al¹⁰² found that adults aged 65 years and older experienced less of a decline in walking in neighborhoods when they deemed the neighborhoods to be safe for walking. Humpel, Marshall and colleagues³⁵ demonstrated that women who changed their perceptions of traffic to not being a problem were 1.8 times (95% CI: 1.0, 3.0) more likely to increase their weekly walking participation by 30 minutes. The opposite relationship occurred for men, with more positive perceptions of traffic reducing the odds of increasing walking participation by 60-70% compared to men whose perceptions of traffic did not change or

were more negative. Likewise, Humpel, Owen, Iverson et al²⁰ found that men aged 40 years and older were less likely to walk for pleasure when they believed that traffic was not a problem.

Other factors

The effects of various other environmental factors on physical activity and walking participation have been evaluated. For example, weather that was reported as not being an influence on walking activity was associated with a greater likelihood of women walking in the neighborhood (OR = 3.8, 95% CI: 1.7, 8.8) and walking for exercise (OR = 7.7, 95% CI: 3.0, 19.5).²⁰ Weather was also strongly related to higher walking levels for men.²⁰ King, Brach et al¹⁴ reported that neighborhoods with higher walkability ratings were associated with greater levels of pedometer-measured and self-reported physical activity in older women. Other studies have demonstrated positive associations between street networks that are better connected and physical activity.^{12, 15}

Measuring Physical Activity

Physical activity behavior is difficult to measure because there are several domains in which an individual can be active and many ways to quantify physical activity. Investigators can measure physical activity directly or indirectly, and measurements can include outcomes related to energy expenditure (i.e., kcal) or the behavior itself (i.e., minutes of walking).¹⁰⁴ An example of an indirect measure of physical activity is a questionnaire, and an example of a direct measure of physical activity is an accelerometer.

Questionnaires

Questionnaires are commonly used to subjectively estimate physical activity. Advantages of questionnaires include their simplicity, the ability to gather data on large groups of people, their relatively low cost, and unobtrusive nature.^{37, 104} Questionnaires require little effort to complete, are non-reactive, practical to use, and can be adapted for use in any population to assess all domains of physical activity.^{37, 104} Some of the disadvantages of using questionnaires include their dependence on the ability of the respondent to accurately recall physical activity and bias from social desirability.^{37, 104}

There are three classifications of questionnaires: global, recall, and quantitative history.¹⁰⁴ Global questionnaires consist of fewer than 5 items and ask general questions regarding physical activity participation. Recall questionnaires consist of 10-30 items and usually refer to behavior during the past month or less. They enable calculation of energy expenditure or physical activity performed during the time period assessed. Quantitative history questionnaires are more detailed records of physical activity done during the past year or longer.

The International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) is a recall questionnaire that estimates physical activity performed during the past seven days.¹⁰⁵ The long form of the *IPAQ* asks respondents to record the frequency and duration of moderate, vigorous, and walking activity performed in bouts of at least 10 minutes. Separate items exist for physical activity done while at work, for transportation, around the home, and during leisure time. Time spent sitting on an average day is also recorded. From this information, time, MET-minutes, and energy expenditure relating to the varying intensities of physical activity can be estimated.

Reliability and validity of the *IPAQ* long form were assessed in a large population of adults aged 18 - 69 years living in 12 countries.¹⁰⁶ Test-retest reliability (pooled $r_s =$ 0.8; 95% CI: 0.79 - 0.82) and convergent validity with an accelerometer (pooled $r_s = 0.3$; 95% CI: 0.3 - 0.4) were deemed acceptable and comparable to other physical activity measurement questionnaires.

Accelerometers

Accelerometers directly measure physical activity in laboratory and field settings. Accelerometers are non-invasive, unobtrusive, and are not subject to reporting errors.¹⁰⁷ In addition, they can store large amounts of data depending on their cycle mode. Accelerometers provide the user with no feedback, as the data must be uploaded to a computer with specific software.

Accelerometers are valid and reliable instruments for monitoring ambulatory physical activity. The Computer Science and Applications, Inc. (CSA) accelerometer demonstrated good reliability across three trials of treadmill walking with an intraclass correlation coefficient of $p_I = 0.8$.¹⁰⁸ Counts from the CSA accelerometer demonstrated similar trends with a 3-day activity diary and produced correlations of r = 0.5 for total activity minutes pooled across the 3 days and r = 0.5 for total kcal pooled across the 3 days.¹⁰⁹ Correlations between CSA counts and METs derived from a portable metabolic system were higher among walking trials (r = 0.8) when compared with trials involving a combination of activities (r = 0.6).¹¹⁰ Comparisons of three different accelerometers and the Yamax pedometer with indirect calorimetry among adults who performed various moderate-intensity tasks in the field and in the lab resulted in a range of correlation coefficients from r = 0.3 to r = 0.6.¹¹¹

Accelerometer data are represented by a count that is the summation of all accelerations that occur within a specified time interval. To make it easier to utilize accelerometer counts, researchers have developed regression equations that classify each minute of monitored data into light, moderate, hard, or very hard intensity categories.^{110,} ¹¹² However, none of the established equations to predict energy expenditure or intensity level based on raw accelerometer counts accurately measure all types of physical activity. Crouter and associates¹¹³ have recently developed a two-regression model that can distinguish between walking and running activity and lifestyle activity. Their method uses physical activity data that is recorded in 10-second intervals to calculate the coefficients of variation for each 10-second interval within a 60-second period. The regression model chosen to compute energy expenditure (METs) is based on the resulting coefficient of variation. Correlations between the predicted METs from this new two-regression model and METs measured by indirect calorimetry were excellent (r = 0.96, SEE = 0.73, p < 0.001).¹¹³

Accelerometers have their disadvantages for use in research. They are costly, and it can take an extensive amount of time to manage the resulting data.¹¹⁴ Accelerometers are also unable to detect increased intensity of physical activity due to changes in grade or to carrying loads.^{111, 115} Also, past prediction equations underestimate energy expenditure in the field and are better at estimating activity (walking and running activity, in particular) in the lab. The two-regression model developed by Crouter and associates may offset the latter disadvantage.

Assessment of Physical Activity in Previous Environmental Studies

Various methods of measuring physical activity have been used in studies of environmental correlates. The most common method has been self-report questionnaires. Many studies have used questionnaires whereby respondents report the frequency and duration of neighborhood walking in order to calculate weekly minutes of walking.^{20, 35, 93} Other studies have assessed physical activity and specifically neighborhood walking by creating summary scores from respondents having rated on a 5-point Likert scale how much they agree with specific statements.^{19, 34, 102, 116} Suminski et al²¹ used a past seven day recall to estimate physical activity. If a participant reported walking, then investigators probed with additional questions to determine if walking was performed in the neighborhood for transportation, to walk the dog, and for exercise. Several studies have also used the short or long forms of the *IPAQ*.^{16, 17, 94, 96, 117, 118}

A few studies have used objective monitors of physical activity. For example, Miles and Panton⁹⁸ used the Yamax DigiWalker pedometer as part of an intervention to increase walking in low-income women. Two studies have used the DigiWalker pedometer to estimate physical activity in women over the age of 50 years.^{13, 14} Researchers used an accelerometer to validate the *Neighborhood Environment Walkability Scale (NEWS)*, which is a questionnaire that evaluates perceptions about environmental factors in the neighborhood that are related to walking.¹¹⁹ Other studies have used accelerometers to assess the relationship between subscales from *NEWS* and physical activity in a random sample of adults from neighborhoods deemed highwalkable and low-walkable¹¹ and in older women.¹⁵

Measuring Attributes of the Environment for Physical Activity

The physical environment can be measured subjectively using self-report questionnaires and objectively using audit instruments and GIS. Many environmental attributes have been assessed in both the health-related and urban planning literature. Pikora and co-workers⁴¹ have suggested that four key features of the environment – functionality, safety, aesthetics, and destinations - be considered in any assessment instrument. Functionality refers to the basic structural components of streets and pedestrian pathways. Safety relates to both personal and traffic safety. Aesthetics include features that pertain to the attractiveness of the area, such as the presence of trees and parks. Destinations refer to any facilities in the area to which individuals may travel. Each key feature consists of items that can be changed to improve the individual components of the feature.⁴¹ For example, improvements in path type will influence perceptions of walking surface and hence the functionality of the environment for walking.

Perceptions of Environmental Attributes

Many studies have utilized questionnaires consisting of 10 items or less that generally ask about neighborhood aesthetics, safety, and convenience or accessibility of destinations and facilities.^{8, 21, 34, 35, 93, 94, 102} Responses are generally reported on a 5- or 10-point Likert scale, and summary statistics are calculated. While test-retest reliability statistics are sometimes reported for questionnaire items,^{34, 102} the validity of many of the surveys is unknown.

The *NEWS* is one of several larger-scale surveys that have been developed in recent years. *NEWS* is a 98-item questionnaire consisting of 7 subscales assessing

respondents' perceptions of the following factors: residential density, land use mixdiversity, land use mix-access, street connectivity, walking/cycling facilities, aesthetics, traffic safety, and crime safety.¹¹⁹ The abbreviated version of *NEWS (NEWS-A)* has combined the two safety subscales into a single subscale and consists of fewer items.¹¹⁸ Reliability and validity of the *NEWS* and *NEWS-A* have been assessed. Initial evaluation of the psychometric properties of *NEWS* demonstrated ICC test-retest reliability scores ranging from 0.6 to 0.8 for the individual subscales and acceptable construct validity.¹¹⁹ Acceptable psychometrics were found in a study that utilized most of the individual *NEWS* items.¹⁷ ICCs ranged from 0.4 for four items assessing perceived traffic safety to 0.96 for diversity of land use mix, and validity measured against crime reports and rater reports yielded Pearson *r* ranging from 0.2 to 0.9. Cerin, Saelens et al¹¹⁸ observed stronger correlations between *NEWS* and walking items from the long form of the *IPAQ* when the associations were made at the blockgroup compared with the individual level. *Objective Measures of Environmental Attributes*

Investigators have begun to utilize objective measures of the environment, specifically audit instruments and GIS, to assess the walkability of communities. Audit instruments are essentially tools that are used to inventory and evaluate specific characteristics of the environment, and they are designed with specific purposes in mind.¹²⁰ For example, Moudon and Lee¹²⁰ evaluated several audit instruments which they categorized as either inventories used for research purposes, route quality assessment tools, area quality assessment tools for policy and planning, or tools used to estimate demand for active transportation.

GIS is a computer system that integrates geographically-referenced information for analysis and display.¹²¹ GIS consists of a series of shapefiles, which are layers of different types of information. Each observation within each layer corresponds to a specific point or coordinate, enabling analysis of trends. Using GIS, Leslie et al¹²² created a walkability index based on such factors as residential and retail density, connectivity, and land use. Investigators validated the index in the field, finding that most of the attributes of the selected areas coincided with the area's walkability classification.

Objective measures enable investigators to make comparisons of neighborhoods and their supports for active living in ways that translate into policy and community changes. New communities promoting physical activity can be designed in accordance with what investigators conclude to be environmental moderators of physical activity based on information gathered from objective sources. It is interesting to note, however, that reality and perceptions often do not coincide. Several studies have observed little agreement between perceptions and objectively measured environmental attributes as they relate to physical activity.^{19, 95, 123} One explanation for the lack of agreement between the two types of measures may be that individuals cannot accurately estimate distance. Also, individuals who are not active in their environment may not be aware of certain neighborhood characteristics. Finally, there are other factors (e.g., personal beliefs, culture) that may impact how an individual perceives their environment in such a way that may not accurately reflect reality.

Summary

Regular participation in physical activity and specifically walking activity confers health benefits to individuals, yet many individuals still are not engaging in sufficient

levels of physical activity to achieve these benefits. Generally, older women are less active than men and younger women. While many factors relate to participation in physical activity, factors in the physical environment have been found to be related to physical activity and walking in the neighborhood. However, different factors correlate with recreational walking compared with walking for transportation. In addition, the relationship between these factors and walking are different in men and women. Based on the evidence, environmental correlates of physical activity and walking for particular purposes should be evaluated separately for men and women.

Studies assessing the relationship between environmental factors and physical activity have utilized a combination of subjective and objective measures of the environment. However, the majority of such studies used subjective, self-reported measures of physical activity. Objective measures reduce bias from recall and social desirability; thus, more studies utilizing objective measures of physical activity should be performed. This study utilized subjective measures of the environment and both subjective measures of physical activity participation in a sample of women aged 50 to 75 years.

CHAPTER III

METHODOLOGY

The purpose of this study was to assess the relationship between perceptions of the neighborhood environment with subjectively monitored neighborhood walking during leisure time and for transportation as well as with objectively monitored ambulatory activity in women aged 50 to 75 years. Specifically, the ability of environmental factors to accurately predict physical activity and walking for particular purposes was investigated. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board at the University of Oklahoma – Norman campus (Appendix A).

Participants

This study utilized a convenience sample of female volunteers from the Norman, Oklahoma City, and surrounding areas. Criteria for inclusion in this study were being female, aged 50 to 75 years, apparently healthy, community-dwelling, and ambulatory. Participants were recruited from the Norman and Oklahoma City metro areas via several methods. Advertisements were placed on the University of Oklahoma's television and radio stations and in newsletters (OU Retirees, Parkview Neighborhood Association), and were electronically mailed to employees on the Norman and Health Sciences Center campuses. Announcements were made at community organization meetings (Senior Vitality meeting, etc.), an informational booth was established at a senior health fair, and flyers were distributed on campus and at public facilities in Norman and Oklahoma City. Recruitment materials are presented in Appendix B. In addition, three reporters published short editorial items in the Daily Oklahoman and the Norman Transcript newspapers.

Two-hundred eighty-six individuals contacted the researcher via telephone or electronic mail expressing interest in the study. Potential participants were pre-screened for eligibility, and the researcher scheduled appointments for 143 volunteers who met the inclusion criteria. Thirty-five women were eligible but did not respond to repeated attempts to schedule an appointment. Potential participants who attended the senior health fair were given the option of completing a pre-screening questionnaire on site or contacting the researchers at a later date for pre-screening via telephone or electronic mail.



Figure 1. Flow chart of participant recruitment.

Research Design

This was a descriptive-correlational study. This study described the physical activity levels of healthy, community-dwelling women, their perceptions of their neighborhood environment, and the relationship between perceived environmental attributes and physical activity participation. Threats to internal validity included testing, instrumentation, and selection bias. Threats to external validity included use of a convenience sample and the reactive effects of testing.

Instrumentation

Nine instruments were utilized in this study. Five questionnaires were completed by participants and three measures were completed by researchers. Participants also wore an accelerometer for 1 week.

Prescreening Questionnaire

The prescreening questionnaire consisted of 11 items that evaluated inclusion criteria, including seven items from the Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire (PAR-Q; Appendix C).¹²⁴

Demographic Questionnaire

The demographic questionnaire consisted of 11 items such as age, ethnicity, marital status, education, and employment status (Appendix D).

Height

Participants' height was measured with a portable stadiometer. Each participant was instructed to remove her shoes and any heavy clothing (i.e., jackets). The participant stood with her back and feet against the stadiometer, looked straight ahead, placed her

hands on her hips, and inhaled. The researcher then lowered the measuring device so that it touched the top of the participant's head and recorded her height to the nearest $\frac{1}{2}$ inch. *Weight*

Participants were weighed using a physician's balance-beam scale. With shoes and heavy clothing still removed, each participant stood on the scale and remained still. The researcher recorded her weight to the nearest ½ pound.

Body Composition

Body composition was measured using bioimpedance analysis (BIA) with a BC-418 Body Composition Analyzer (Tanita, Tokyo, Japan). The BC-418 Body Composition Analyzer provides estimations of lean soft tissue and percent body fat that are highly correlated with dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (r = 0.95-0.98 and r = 0.8-0.9, respectively).¹²⁵ Each participant removed her socks and stepped onto the weighing platform, with her feet spread apart so that her inner thighs were not touching. The participant grasped the hand grips and held her arms straight down at her sides, not touching her body. A small, undetectable, high frequency current (50 kHz) passed through the participant's body to assess the resistance to the electrical current. Because electricity flows easily through water and water is associated with lean tissue, body composition was inferred from the electrical resistance.

International Physical Activity Questionnaire

The long form of the *IPAQ* was used to assess self-reported physical activity (Appendix E). The *IPAQ* recalls physical activity performed during the past 7 days. It consists of 27 items asking respondents to record the frequency and duration of moderate, vigorous, and walking activity performed in bouts of at least 10 minutes while at work,

for transportation, around the home, and during leisure time, as well as time spent sitting and in a car on an average day.¹⁰⁵

The *IPAQ* long form demonstrates good test-retest reliability (pooled $r_s = 0.8$; 95% CI: 0.79, 0.82) and acceptable validity with an accelerometer, with indices comparable to other physical activity measurement questionnaires.¹⁰⁶

Neighborhood Walking Scale

The *Neighborhood Walking Scale (NWS)* was designed for use in this study to assess walking for specific purposes within the participant's self-described neighborhood in a usual week (Appendix F). The *NWS* consists of 2 items that have been used in prior studies^{20, 35, 94}: "How many times a week do you go for a walk for any reason in and around your neighborhood?" and "How much time would you usually spend when you do go for a walk in and around your neighborhood?" These two items resulted in excellent agreement of women's total neighborhood walking in a reliability study (ICC = 0.95, 95% CI: 0.90, 0.97).³⁵ The *NWS* also consisted of 2 similar groupings of items that modified "walk for any reason" to read as "walk for recreation" and "walk for transport." *Accelerometer*

The ActiGraph GT1M (ActiGraph, Pensacola, FL) was used to objectively assess ambulatory physical activity. The GT1M is an updated version of the ActiGraph Model 7164, which has acceptable test-retest reliability (ICC = 0.8)¹⁰⁸ and validity with counts (the summation of the acceleration signals per cycle) significantly correlated with energy expenditure and relative oxygen consumption during ambulatory activity.^{110, 112}

The GT1M is a uniaxial accelerometer capable of storing more than 1 MB of data, measuring 1.5 x 1.44 x .70 in, and weighing 27 g. The GT1M detects vertical

accelerations ranging in magnitude from 0.05 to 2.0 g. The signal is digitized by a 12 bit analog-to-digital converter at a sampling rate of 30 samples per second and the digitized signal is then filtered so that signals within the frequency range of 0.25 to 2.5 Hz are recorded. The resulting counts are summed over a user-specified interval of time.¹²⁶ Tensecond cycles were used for this study, and data were downloaded directly to the computer for management and analysis.

Neighborhood Environment Walkability Scale

The abbreviated version of the *NEWS (NEWS-A)* was used to assess perceptions of the physical environment related to physical activity, walking for leisure, and walking for transportation (Appendix G). The *NEWS-A* consists of 7 sections that evaluate residential density, diversity of land use mix, access to services, street connectivity, facilities for walking and cycling, neighborhood aesthetics, and neighborhood safety.^{118,} ¹¹⁹ Items from the 7 sections are used to create 12 subscales, which were determined by factor analysis from the original *NEWS.*¹¹⁸ Residential density refers to the number of individuals living in an area, and the subscale asks respondents to report how common specific types of residences are within their immediate neighborhood. Diversity of land use mix refers to the proximity of businesses and facilities, and the subscale asks respondents to indicate how long it would take to walk to each of 23 destinations. The other sections include items that are scaled from 1 (strongly disagree) to 4 (strongly agree), with higher scores generally representing a more positive perception of the neighborhood attribute.

Initial evaluation of the psychometric properties of *NEWS* demonstrated acceptable reliability ($\rho_I = 0.6 - 0.8$) and construct validity for the individual subscales.¹¹⁹

Validity of individual items measured against crime reports and rater reports in a separate study yielded Pearson correlations ranging from 0.2 to 0.9.¹⁷ Concurrent validity of the *NEWS-A* with the *NEWS* resulted in strong correlations between subscales at the individual level (r = 0.8 - 0.9).¹¹⁸

Procedures

Orientation

During the orientation session, participants signed and received a copy of the Informed Consent (Appendix H) and HIPAA Authorization form (Appendix I). Participants also completed the prescreening items again to ensure eligibility. Participants were given sufficient time to read the forms and provide consent; the consent process typically took 10-15 minutes.

After obtaining consent and ensuring eligibility, researchers assessed participants' height with a portable stadiometer, weight with a physician's balance beam scale, and body composition with the BC-418 Body Composition Analyzer. These assessments took approximately 10-15 minutes. Following these assessments, participants completed the demographic questionnaire, the *IPAQ*, the *NWS*, and the *NEWS-A*. Completion of these questionnaires took approximately 25-35 minutes.

Participants then received a demonstration by the researcher on how to wear the accelerometer and were fitted with a belt that they used to attach the accelerometer to their body. Participants wore the accelerometer over their right iliac crest during all waking hours except during water activities for the next 7 days. They also completed an accelerometer log sheet (Appendix J) each evening when they removed the

accelerometer. Participants were instructed to maintain their normal levels of physical activity during the week they wore the accelerometer.

Follow-Up

After wearing the accelerometer for 7 consecutive days, participants returned to the lab for a follow-up visit. During this visit they returned the accelerometer and log sheet, and again completed the *IPAQ*, the *NWS*, and the *NEWS-A*. This visit lasted approximately 20 minutes. All individuals who participated in the study and wore the accelerometer as instructed received a physical activity and body composition report, as well as a \$10 gift card.

Data Reduction and Analysis

Data Reduction

Ten-second epochs were utilized to calculate the intensity of each minute using a two-regression model.¹¹³ Intensity was characterized by a MET value, which typically estimates the absolute (as opposed to relative) energy expenditure of an activity. One MET is equal to the resting metabolic rate of an individual, which is defined as 3.5 ml of oxygen per kilogram body mass per minute.³⁷ Prior to determining the MET value for each minute, the coefficient of variation [CV; (SD/mean)*100] for the minute must first be calculated.¹¹³ For each 10-sec epoch, the counts for that epoch and the following 5 epochs were summed to represent the total counts per minute, and the CV for each minute was calculated. A CV greater than 10 represented a minute of lifestyle activity, and the lifestyle equation was used to estimate METs per minute. A CV greater than 0 but less than or equal to 10 represented a minute of walking or running, and the walk/run equation was used to estimate METs per minute. If the total counts per minute were 50 or

less, a MET value of 1.0 was assigned to the minute. Each minute was then categorized into an intensity category as follows: moderate \geq 3.0 METs and < 6.0 METs, vigorous \geq 6.0 METs, moderate-to-vigorous \geq 3.0 METs.

The accelerometer compliance requirements, determined *a priori* by the researchers, were that participants must have worn the device for at least 12 hours per day on 4 or more days.¹²⁷ Both non-wear and wear time were calculated.¹²⁸ Valid non-wear time consisted of bouts of at least 60 consecutive minutes of zero counts, with allowance for two consecutive minutes of counts between 1 and 100. After removing valid non-wear minutes, accelerometer wear time was determined by summing the remaining minutes. Counts per minute, total counts per day, total accumulated time and accumulated time in bouts of at least 10 minutes spent engaging in moderate, vigorous, and moderate-to-vigorous physical activity were determined.¹²⁸

Self-reported weekly time walking for leisure and walking for transportation as described on the *IPAQ* were calculated by multiplying the activity frequencies by their corresponding durations, and recommended data processing guidelines were implemented.¹²⁹ Self-reported weekly time spent walking in the neighborhood for specific purposes as described on the *NWS* were also calculated by multiplying the frequency and duration of each type of activity.

The percentage of participants meeting physical activity recommendations as defined by accumulating, in bouts of at least 10 minutes, 30 minutes of moderate intensity activity on 5 or more days, 20 minutes of vigorous intensity activity on 3 or more days, or a combination of activities using accelerometer-derived data⁴ was determined. The percentage of participants who were regular walkers, i.e., were walking

for leisure and walking for transportation for at least 30 minutes on 5 days, was also determined. *NEWS-A* subscales were scored according to *NEWS-A* scoring procedures.¹³⁰ The walking distances from home to each of 23 destinations listed in *NEWS-A* and the total number of the 23 destinations that were within a 20-minute walk from home were computed.

Data Analysis

The proposed sample size for this study was 150 participants, and the researcher enrolled 143 volunteers. Two women did not complete the study. One woman was uncomfortable wearing the belt, and another woman had an accident in her home. The accelerometers malfunctioned for seven women. Another eight women did not meet the *a priori* criteria of wearing the accelerometer for at least 12 hours per day on 4 or more days. The final sample of 126 women represents 88.1% of the participants who began the study. The majority of demographic characteristics were not different between participants who remained in the final sample (n = 126) and those who did not (n = 17; *p* > 0.05), with the exception of BMI (25.4 and 26.6 kg/m², respectively; *p* = 0.01).

Participants (n = 126) wore the accelerometer for 14.6 ± 0.8 hours on 6.2 ± 1.0 days, exceeding the *a priori* criteria for accelerometer wear time. Using the definition of a standard day as being the length of time that 70% of the sample wore the accelerometer, ¹²⁷ participants in the final sample wore the device for 97% of the sample's standard day of 15.1 hours. Additionally, participants wore the device on 89% of their designated days. Ninety-one percent of the participants (n = 126) wore the accelerometer on at least one weekend day, and there were no differences in physical activity between

those who wore the accelerometer on at least 1 weekend day and those who did not (p > 0.05).

Descriptive statistics were calculated for all demographic, physical activity, and environmental subscale variables and the distributions were assessed. Because selfreported walking data and data from the *NEWS-A* subscales were skewed according to Shapiro-Wilk tests for Normality (p < 0.05), median and interquartile ranges are presented for these data. Wilcoxon Rank Sum Tests were performed to assess differences in perceptions of the environment according to activity status (meeting versus not meeting recommendations, regular versus non-regular walking). Univariate and multivariate regression analyses were performed to assess the relationship between perceptions of the environment and accelerometer-derived physical activity. Logistic regression was performed to assess the relationship between perceptions of the environment and engaging in regular walking for particular purposes. Data reduction and analysis was performed using SAS version 9.1 (SAS Institute Inc., 2002).

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

Despite the numerous health benefits that are associated with regular participation in physical activity,^{1,4,27,48-50} many individuals are still not regularly active.⁶ Older women are among the least active group in the U. S. population, with fewer than 46% of 45-64 year-olds and 36.3% of those aged 65 years and older engaging in recommended levels of physical activity.⁶ Several studies have demonstrated a relationship between factors in the physical environment and physical activity participation,^{13, 14, 17, 20, 22, 93, 131,} ¹³² though only three studies have assessed this relationship in a population of older women while utilizing objective measures of physical activity.¹³⁻¹⁵

The purpose of this study was to assess the relationship between subjectively measured factors in the environment with objectively monitored ambulatory activity as well as with subjectively monitored walking during leisure time and for transportation in women aged 50 to 75 years. Specifically, the ability of the environmental factors to accurately predict physical activity and walking for particular purposes was investigated.

Participants

Participants were aged 59.9 ± 6.9 years, weighed 69.9 ± 12.8 kg, and had a BMI of 26.2 ± 4.3 kg/m². One hundred fourteen (90.5%) of the participants were Caucasian, and 87 (69.0%) were married. The majority of participants had a household income of at least \$50,000 per year, had received a post-secondary education, and were employed. The participants' demographic characteristics are presented in Tables 1 and 2.

$\Delta q_0 (y_0 q_0 q_0) + q_0^2$	50.0 ± 6.0
Age (years). Mean \pm su	39.9 ± 0.9
Weight (kg): mean ± sd	69.9 ± 12.8
Height (cm): mean \pm sd	163.0 ± 6.0
BMI (kg/m ²): mean \pm sd	26.2 ± 4.3
Body Fat (%): mean \pm sd	34.7 ± 7.2
Current Smoker ^a : count (%)	
Yes	5 (4.0)
No	120 (96.0)
Chronic Illness ^a : count (%)	
Yes	34 (27.0)
No	91 (72.2)
Experienced Menopause ^a : count (%)	
Yes	114 (91.2)
No	11 (8.8)
Hormone Replacement Therapy ^b : count (%)	
Yes	35 (30.4)
No	80 (69.6)

Table 1. Physical Characteristics of the Participants, n=126.

^aNo response from one participant. ^bNo response from 11 participants.

Race/Ethnicity: count (%)	
Caucasian	114 (90.5)
Other	12 (9.5)
Marital Status: count (%)	
Married	87 (69.0)
Other	39 (31.0)
Children Living in the Home ^a : count (%)	
None	116 (92.8)
≥ 1	9 (7.2)
Education: count (%)	
Some high school	2 (1.6)
Grade 12/GED or some college/technical school	40 (31.7)
College graduate or graduate school	84 (66.6)
Employment Status ^a : count (%)	
Employed for wages or self-employed	78 (62.4)
Other	47 (37.6)
Household Income ^b : count (%)	
Less than \$10,000	2 (1.6)
\$10,000 to less than \$35,000	16 (13.1)
\$35,000 to less than \$50,000	26 (21.3)
\$50,000 or more	78 (63.9)

Table 2. Socio-demographic Characteristics of Participants, n = 126.

^aNo response from one participant. ^bNo response from 4 participants.

Time Engaging in Physical Activity

Three methods of quantifying participants' physical activity were utilized. The Actigraph GT1M accelerometer objectively monitored participants' physical activity. The *IPAQ* measured self-reported walking during leisure-time and walking for transportation. The *NWS* measured self-reported neighborhood walking for any reason, for recreation, and for transportation.

Accelerometer. A two-regression model was applied to the accelerometer count data to estimate intensity for each valid minute that the device was worn. Participants engaged in 72.5 ± 55.5 minutes of moderate, 1.3 ± 4.8 minutes of vigorous, and 77.5 ± 59.3 minutes of moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity per day when examining activity in bouts of at least 10 minutes. Participants accumulated more minutes of moderate, vigorous, and moderate-to-vigorous physical activity per day when summing all minutes within each intensity category without the constraint of the minimum 10-minute bout (Table 3).

IPAQ. Four items from the long form of the *IPAQ* measured walking in the leisure and transportation domains. Ninety (71.4%) participants reported doing at least 10 minutes of walking and 57 (45.2%) reported walking for at least 150 minutes during their leisure time in the previous week. Sixty-three (50%) participants indicated that they had done some walking for transportation purposes, with 27 (21.4%) having walked for at least 150 minutes for transportation purposes in the past week. Overall, participants reported spending more time walking for leisure [120.8 (IQR = 180.0) minutes] than for transportation purposes [20.0 (IQR = 120.0) minutes; S = 677, p = 0.0173]. Because the distributions of the *IPAQ* walking variables were positively skewed according to the

Shapiro-Wilk test for Normality (p < 0.0001 for both variables), median values and interquartile ranges (IQR) are presented in Table 3.

NWS. Six items from the *NWS* were used as measures of walking for particular purposes within the participant's self-described neighborhood. Eighty-nine (70.6%) participants indicated that they did some walking within their neighborhood in a usual week, and 46 (36.5%) of them walked for 150 minutes or more. Seventy-three (57.9%) participants walked for recreational or leisure purposes within their neighborhood, with 33 (26.2%) walking for more than 150 minutes. Twenty-one (16.7%) walked for transportation, with only 4 (3.2%) walking for 150 minutes or more. The majority of the time that participants spent walking in their neighborhood in a usual week was for recreational purposes [50.0 (IQR = 180.0) minutes], and very little time was spent walking for transportation [0.0 (IQR = 0.0) minutes]. Because the distributions of the neighborhood walking variables were positively skewed according to the Shapiro-Wilk test for Normality (p < 0.0001 for all variables), medians and IQRs are presented in Table 3.

Accelerometer^a: mean \pm sd Counts/minute 282.3 ± 124.7 Total counts/day 248,828.7 ± 113,156.1 Daily minutes of moderate physical activity 159.8 ± 64.7 Accumulated 10-minute bouts 72.5 ± 55.5 Daily minutes of vigorous physical activity 4.3 ± 6.8 Accumulated 10-minute bouts 1.3 ± 4.8 Daily minutes of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity Accumulated 164.1 ± 67.8 10-minute bouts 77.5 ± 59.3 **IPAQ:** median (IQR) Weekly minutes of leisure-time walking^b 120.0 (180.0) Weekly minutes of walking for transportation^c 20.0 (120.0) Neighborhood Walking Scale: median (IQR) Weekly minutes of walking for any reason^c 100.0 (190.0) Weekly minutes of walking for recreation^c 50.0 (180.0) Weekly minutes of walking for transportation^b 0.0 (0.0)

Table 3. Physical Activity of Participants, n=126.

^aData based on n=126. ^bData based on n=118. ^cData based on n=117.

Meeting Physical Activity Recommendations

The percentage of participants meeting physical activity recommendations ⁴ was determined using data from the accelerometer. In addition, the percentage of participants who were regular walkers, i.e., were walking for leisure and/or for transportation for at least 30 minutes on 5 days as reported on the *IPAQ*, and who were regular neighborhood walkers as reported on the *NWS*, was determined.

Accelerometer. Sixty (47.6%) participants met the current physical activity recommendations, defined as accumulating, in bouts of at least 10 minutes, 30 minutes of moderate intensity physical activity on at least 5 days, 20 minutes of vigorous intensity activity on at least 3 days, or a combination of the two intensities of activity during the 7-day monitoring period. Only one participant engaged in less than 10 minutes of physical activity during the week.

IPAQ. According to self-report with the *IPAQ*, 39 (31.0%) participants walked for leisure and 24 (19.0%) walked for transportation purposes for more than 30 minutes on at least 5 days. Overall, 51 (40.5%) participants were classified as regular walkers by walking for leisure and/or transportation.

NWS. According to self-report with the *NWS*, 36 (28.6%) participants walked in their neighborhoods for a minimum of 30 minutes on 5 or more days in a usual week, and thus were classified as regular neighborhood walkers. Twenty-three (18.2%) participants reported regular neighborhood walking for recreational purposes and 4 (3.2%) participants reported regular neighborhood walking for transportation. Cross-tabulating the frequencies of those classified as regular neighborhood walkers for any reason (n = 36) with those who engaged in regular neighborhood walking for recreation or for

transportation showed that 22 participants reported sufficient levels of walking for recreation, 4 participants reported sufficient levels of walking for transportation, and 10 participants did not report sufficient levels of walking for either purpose.

Cross-tabulation of Accelerometer and IPAQ. Cross-tabulating the frequencies of those classified as meeting recommendations via objective monitoring with those who reported regular walking via the *IPAQ* indicated some differences. Whereas 26 participants were accumulating sufficient levels of physical activity according to both accelerometer data and self-reported walking, 34 participants were meeting physical activity recommendations by engaging in activities other than or in addition to walking. Alternatively, 25 participants reported sufficient amounts of walking, though were not classified as meeting recommendations using accelerometer data.

Perceptions of the Environment

Perceptions of the environment were examined with the *NEWS-A*. The residential density subscale asks respondents to report how common are specific types of residences within their immediate neighborhood. A score of 177 reflects a neighborhood consisting only of detached, single-family homes and a score of 475 reflects a neighborhood consisting exclusively of apartments or condos more than 13 stories high. The diversity of land use mix subscale asks respondents to indicate how long it takes to walk to each of 23 destinations, and scores can range from 1 (more than 30 minutes) to 5 (1 to 50 minutes). The other sections include items that are scaled from 1 (strongly disagree) to 4 (strongly agree), with higher scores representing perceptions of high walkability on the subscales of land use mix-access, street connectivity, infrastructure and safety for walking, aesthetics, lack of parking, and lack of cul-de-sacs. Higher scores on the

subscales for traffic hazards, crime, hilliness, and physical barriers represent perceptions of lower walkability. Data for each of the 12 *NEWS-A* subscales was skewed according to Shapiro-Wilk tests for Normality (p = 0.0006 for infrastructure and safety subscale; p < 0.0001 for all other subscales). Median values, corresponding interquartile ranges, and the range of participants' actual scores are presented in Table 4.

Subscale	Median (IQR)	Participants' Range
Residential Density (n = 125)	177.0 (0.0)	173.0 - 261.0
Land Use Mix:		
Diversity (n = 117)	1.9 (1.5)	1.0 - 4.7
Access $(n = 126)$	2.3 (2.0)	1.0 - 4.0
Street Connectivity (n = 125)	3.0 (1.5)	1.0 - 4.0
Infrastructure and Safety for Walking (n = 122)	2.5 (1.3)	1.0 - 4.0
Aesthetics (n = 126)	3.5 (0.8)	1.8 - 4.0
Traffic Hazards ^a (n = 125)	2.0 (1.0)	1.0 - 4.0
$Crime^{a}$ (n = 124)	1.0 (0.3)	1.0 - 3.3
Lack of Parking $(n = 126)$	1.0 (1.0)	1.0 - 4.0
Lack of Cul-de-sacs (n = 126)	3.0 (3.0)	1.0 - 4.0
Hilliness ^a (n = 126)	1.0 (1.0)	1.0 - 4.0
Physical Barriers ^a ($n = 126$)	1.0 (0.0)	1.0 - 4.0

Table 4. Participants' NEWS-A Subscale Scores.

Note: Residential density subscale scores can range from 177 to 473. Scores for the other subscales generally range from 1 to 4, with land use mix-diversity ranging from 1 to 5. ^aHigher scores indicate lower walkability.

Ninety-four (74.6%) participants reported that their immediate neighborhood consisted solely of detached single-family homes, and another 19 (15.1%) reported that single-family homes were the most common type of home in their neighborhood, though other types of homes were present. One participant's immediate neighborhood consisted solely of townhomes or row homes, and two participants reported apartment or condominium buildings 1 to 3 stories high to be the only type of home in their neighborhood. No one reported the presence of apartments or condos higher than 6 stories in their immediate neighborhood. Using *NEWS-A* scoring procedures,¹³⁰ the median residential density subscale score was 177.0 (IQR = 0.0; Table 4).

Participants described how long it would take to walk from their home to 23 specific destinations such as stores, parks, and schools. The number of participants who lived within walking distance, defined as a 20-minute walk from home,¹⁴ of the 23 specific destinations is presented in Table 5. On average, participants described 8.1 ± 7.0 destinations to be within walking distance of home. The most commonly reported destinations within walking distance from home were parks (58.7%) and grocery stores (75.4%). Participants most often described the other destinations as being more than a 30-minute walk from home. Eighteen (14.3%) participants perceived none of the 23 destinations to be within walking distance of their home. The median subscale score for diversity of land use indicates that, overall, destinations were more than a 21-minute walk from home.

Destination	Count (%)
Convenience or small grocery store	95 (75.4)
Park	74 (58.7)
Fast food restaurant	64 (50.8)
Bank or credit union	59 (46.8)
Coffee place	58 (46.0)
Non-fast food restaurant	57 (45.2)
Elementary school	55 (43.7)
Laundry or dry cleaners	53 (42.1)
Pharmacy or drug store	53 (42.1)
Supermarket	51 (40.5)
Salon or barber shop	48 (38.1)
Video store	43 (34.1)
Post office	38 (30.2)
Bus or train stop	37 (29.4)
Other schools (not elementary)	36 (28.6)
Gym or fitness facility	36 (28.6)
Clothing store	30 (23.8)
Fruit or vegetable market	27 (21.4)
Hardware store	26 (20.6)
Bookstore	25 (19.8)
Library	20 (15.9)

Table 5. Participants Living Within Walking Distance (20 min) of Specific Destinations.

Table 5 Continued.

Destination	Count (%)	
Recreation center	20 (15.9)	
Participant's job or school	10 (7.9)	

Participants' median subscale scores for aesthetics, crime, hilliness, and physical barriers indicate more walkable neighborhoods, while lower subscale scores for land use mix-access and lack of parking at local shopping areas denote less walkable neighborhoods. Median subscale scores for street connectivity, infrastructure and safety for walking, traffic hazards, and lack of cul-de-sacs were in the middle of the possible range of scores, indicating neither more or less walkability (Table 4).

Perceptions of the Environment According to Activity Status

Median *NEWS-A* subscale scores were compared for 60 participants who met current physical activity recommendations and 66 who did not, as classified by accelerometer-derived physical activity. Median scores of the environmental subscales were also compared for those who were classified as regular walkers versus non-regular walkers based on self-report from the *IPAQ*, and regular neighborhood walkers versus non-regular neighborhood walkers based on data from the *NWS*.

Accelerometer. NEWS-A subscale scores did not differ ($p \ge 0.05$) between those classified as meeting recommendations and those not meeting recommendations based on accelerometer-derived physical activity (Table 6).

	Meeting	Not Meeting	
	Physical Activity	Physical Activity	
	Recommendations	Recommendations	<i>p</i> -value
	n = 60	n = 66	
Residential Density	177.0 (9.5) ^b	177.0 (0.0)	0.05
Land Use Mix:			
Diversity	1.9 (3.5) °	1.9 (1.6) ^d	0.41
Access	2.3 (2.2)	2.3 (2.0)	0.52
Street Connectivity	3.0 (1.5) ^b	3.0 (1.5)	0.65
Infrastructure and Safety			
for Walking	2.3 (1.2) ^d	2.7 (1.3) ^b	0.65
Aesthetics	3.5 (1.0)	3.5 (1.0)	0.77
Traffic Hazards ^a	2.0 (0.7) ^b	2.0 (1.0)	0.17
Crime ^a	1.0 (0.3) ^b	1.0 (0.3) ^b	0.33
Lack of Parking	1.0 (1.0)	1.0 (1.0)	0.33
Lack of Cul-de-sacs	2.5 (1.5)	4.0 (3.0)	0.77
Hilliness ^a	1.0 (0.5)	1.0 (1.0)	0.27
Physical Barriers ^a	1.0 (0.0)	1.0 (1.0)	0.20

 Table 6. Comparison of Median (IQR) NEWS-A Subscale Scores by Activity Status

 (Accelerometer-derived Physical Activity).

Note: All comparisons were made by Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test. ^aHigher scores indicate lower walkability. ^bMissing data from 1 participant. ^cMissing data from 6 participants. ^dMissing data from 3 participants.

IPAQ. NEWS-A subscale scores did not differ (p > 0.05) between those classified as regular walkers compared to non-regular walkers based on *IPAQ* data.

NWS. Table 7 compares NEWS-A subscale scores according to self-reported neighborhood walking for any reason. Three subscale scores differed between regular neighborhood walkers engaging in sufficient levels of neighborhood walking for any reason and non-regular walkers. Those who walked regularly for any reason reported a lower median score for the lack of cul-de-sacs subscale (mode = 1), thus indicating that neighborhood streets had more cul-de-sacs compared to those who were not regular neighborhood walkers (mode = 4). Differences also existed for the hilliness (Wx =2605.5; m = 90; n = 36; p = 0.03) and physical barriers (Wx = 2006.0; m = 90; n = 36; p = 0.04) subscales. Though the median scores for hilliness and physical barriers were the same between the neighborhood walking groups, the IQR values (score that reflects the difference between the 25th and 75th percentiles) were not. A larger IQR represents greater dispersion of reported scores. For example, almost 56% of the regular walkers reported a score of 1 on the hilliness subscale and another 25% reported a score of 2 (score at 25% = 1, score at 75% = 2; IQR = 1), whereas 76% of the non-regular walkers reported a score of 1 (score at 25% = 1, score at 75% = 1; IOR = 0). Those who reported regular neighborhood walking for transportation purposes reported a lower median score for the subscale of land use mix-diversity compared to those who were not walking for transportation [1.0 (IQR = 0.6) versus 1.9 (IQR = 1.5), respectively; Wx = 98.5; m = 113; n = 4; p = 0.04]. A lower median score for land use mix-diversity represents greater walking distance to destinations. No other differences in subscale scores were observed between groups according to neighborhood walking.

	Regular	Not Regular	
	Neighborhood Walkers	Neighborhood Walkers	
	n = 36	n = 90	<i>p</i> -value
Residential Density	177.0 (0.0) ^b	177.0 (0.0)	0.62
Land Use Mix:			
Diversity	1.7 (1.0) °	2.0 (1.5) ^d	0.13
Access	2.2 (2.0)	2.3 (2.0)	0.62
Street Connectivity	3.0 (1.0) ^b	2.5 (1.5)	0.63
Infrastructure and Safety			
for Walking	2.7 (1.5) ^d	2.5 (1.2) ^b	0.31
Aesthetics	3.6 (1.0)	3.2 (1.0)	0.17
Traffic Hazards ^a	2.0 (1.0) ^b	2.0 (1.0)	0.11
Crime ^a	1.0 (0.3) ^e	1.0 (0.3)	0.83
Lack of Parking	1.0 (1.0)	1.0 (1.0)	0.77
Lack of Cul-de-sacs	2.0 (2.0)	3.0 (2.0)	0.04
Hilliness ^a	1.0 (1.0)	1.0 (0.0)	0.03
Physical Barriers ^a	1.0 (0.0)	1.0 (1.0)	0.04

Table 7. Comparison of Median (IQR) NEWS-A Subscale Scores by Walking Status(Self-reported Neighborhood Walking for Any Reason).

Note: All comparisons were made by Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test. ^aHigher scores indicate lower walkability. ^bMissing data from 1 participant. ^cMissing data from 6 participants. ^dMissing data from 3 participants. ^eMissing data from 2 participants.
Relationship between Perceptions of the Environment and Physical Activity

Perceptions of the neighborhood environment were examined using the *NEWS-A*. The relationship between data from each of the twelve subscales of *NEWS-A* and accelerometer-derived physical activity were assessed using multivariate linear regression analysis. The relationship between environmental perceptions and regular walking were assessed using logistic regression. Associations between proximity of destinations and physical activity and regular walking was examined for each destination individually, as well as for the mean number of destinations within a 20-minute walk from home. *NEWS-A Subscales and Accelerometer-derived Physical Activity*

Linear regression preceded by univariate analysis assessed the relationship between subscales of *NEWS-A* and counts/minute, total counts/day, and time spent engaging in moderate and moderate-to-vigorous physical activity in bouts of at least 10 minutes. Univariate analysis resulted in few significant associations. Univariate analyses demonstrated associations between the lack of parking subscale and counts/minute (β = -29.1, 95% CI: -54.6, -3.6; model R^2 = 0.04), total counts/day (β = -26535, 95% CI: -49692, -3378.3; model R^2 = 0.04), and minutes of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity performed in bouts of at least 10 minutes (β = -12.5, 95% CI: -24.7, -0.4; model R^2 = 0.03). Stepwise multivariate regression analysis demonstrated that no additional variables entered the models predicting counts/minute, total counts/day, and minutes of moderateto-vigorous physical activity. There were no significant associations between *NEWS-A* subscales and minutes of moderate intensity physical activity.

NEWS-A Subscales and Regular Walking (IPAQ)

Logistic regression assessed the relationship between subscales of *NEWS-A* and regular walking as reported on the *IPAQ*. Univariate analyses demonstrated significant associations between regular leisure-time walking and two subscales. More positive perceptions of having an infrastructure and safety for walking increased the odds of being a regular leisure-time walker by 1.7 times (95% CI: 1.02, 2.9). More negative perceptions of traffic hazards decreased the odds of being a regular leisure-time walker by 50% (OR = 0.5; 95% CI: 0.3, 0.9). No significant regressive models related *NEWS-A* subscales and regular walking for transportation purposes.

NEWS-A Subscales and Regular Neighborhood Walking (NWS)

Logistic regression assessed the relationship between subscales of *NEWS-A* and regular neighborhood walking as reported on the *NWS*. An inverse relationship existed between regular neighborhood walking for any reason and lack of cul-de-sacs (OR = 0.7, 95% CI: 0.5, 0.98); those who perceived that their neighborhoods have few cul-de-sacs were less likely to walk. A positive relationship existed between regular neighborhood walking for any reason and hilliness (OR = 1.6, 95% CI: 1.02, 2.4); those who agreed more strongly with the statement "The streets in my neighborhood are hilly, making my neighborhood difficult to walk in" were more likely to walk regularly in the neighborhood. No other associations were detected between *NEWS-A* subscales and regular neighborhood walking for any reason, for recreation, or for transportation purposes.

Proximity to Destinations and Accelerometer-derived Physical Activity

Univariate linear regression was performed to assess the relationship between proximity of destinations and accelerometer data (counts/minute, total counts/day, and time spent engaging in moderate and moderate-to-vigorous physical activity in bouts of at least 10 minutes). The mean number of destinations within walking distance of home did not predict of counts/minute ($\beta = -0.8$, p = 0.6; model $R^2 = 0.00$), total counts/day ($\beta = -$ 749.1, p = 0.6; model $R^2 = 0.00$), or time spent engaging in moderate ($\beta = -0.5$, p = 0.5; model $R^2 = 0.00$) and moderate-to-vigorous ($\beta = -0.5$, p = 0.5; model $R^2 = 0.00$) physical activity. Neither did the presence of each of 23 destinations within walking distance of home predict counts/minute, total counts/day, nor time spent engaging in moderate and moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (p > 0.05).

Proximity to Destinations and Regular Walking (IPAQ)

Logistic regression was performed to assess the relationship between proximity of destinations and regular walking as reported on the *IPAQ*. Univariate analyses detected a positive relationship between the presence of a recreation center within walking distance of home and regular leisure-time walking (OR = 3.0, 95% CI: 1.2, 7.9); those who lived within a 20-minute walk to a recreation center were 3 times more likely to walk regularly for leisure. Stepwise multivariate logistic regression adjusted the model, with the presence of a recreation center increasing the odds [OR = 10.0; 95% CI: 2.1, 48.6] and the presence of a bookstore decreasing the odds [OR = 0.2; 95% CI: 0.03, 0.8] of engaging in regular leisure-time walking. Univariate analyses detected an inverse relationship between the presence of an elementary school within walking distance of home and regular walking for transportation (OR = 0.3, 95% CI: 0.1, 0.9). As above,

stepwise multivariate analysis adjusted the model. The presence of an elementary school decreased the odds [OR = 0.2; 95% CI: 0.05, 0.6] while the presence of a bookstore increased the odds [OR = 5.1; 95% CI: 1.4, 18.5] of engaging in regular walking for transportation purposes. The mean number of destinations within walking distance of home was not related to regular walking.

Proximity to Destinations and Regular Walking (NWS)

Logistic regression was performed to assess the relationship between proximity of destinations and regular walking as reported on the *NWS*. Univariate analyses demonstrated that the presence of an elementary school within walking distance of home was inversely related to regular neighborhood walking for any reason (OR = 0.4, 95% CI: 0.2, 0.9) and for recreational purposes (OR = 0.3, 95% CI: 0.1, 0.8). Stepwise multivariate analysis did not result in any additional models. Also, the mean number of destinations within walking distance of home was not related to regular neighborhood walking.

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

Factors of the physical environment are related to physical activity participation and walking for specific purposes.^{19-21, 34} While studies have demonstrated differences in these relationships according to gender,^{8, 35, 36} few studies have examined environmental correlates of physical activity solely in a population of older women.^{13-15, 18, 22, 23} Three studies targeting middle and older-aged women objectively monitored physical activity.¹³⁻¹⁵ Two of these studies utilized a pedometer,^{13, 14} which is a small device that counts the number of steps accumulated during a specified time period, and the third study used an accelerometer.¹⁵ An accelerometer is an objective physical activity monitor that provides more detailed information than a pedometer, enabling discrimination of the duration and intensity of ambulatory physical activity. The purpose of this study was to assess the relationship between perceptions of the neighborhood environment with objectively monitored ambulatory activity as well as with subjectively monitored walking during leisure time and for transportation in women aged 50 to 75 years. Specifically, the ability of the environmental factors to accurately predict physical activity and walking for particular purposes was investigated.

Results of this study estimated that fewer than half of the participants were meeting physical activity recommendations when using data from the accelerometers, and 40.5% reported walking for leisure and/or transportation purposes for a minimum of 30 minutes on at least 5 days. Participants who walked regularly in their neighborhoods for transportation purposes perceived less diversity of land use mix within their neighborhoods compared to non-regular transportational walkers, and those who walked

regularly in their neighborhoods for any reason perceived more cul-de-sacs, more hilliness, and fewer physical barriers compared to non-regular neighborhood walkers. Regression analyses demonstrated significant relationships between environmental factors and physical activity participation. One subscale from *NEWS-A*, lack of parking, was inversely related to accelerometer-derived physical activity, and two subscales, traffic hazards and infrastructure and safety for walking, were associated with selfreported leisure-time walking. Negative perceptions of traffic hazards decreased the likelihood of walking and positive perceptions of infrastructure and safety for walking increased the likelihood of walking. Two additional subscales were related to selfreported neighborhood walking. Perceptions of more hills and cul-de-sacs increased the likelihood of neighborhood walking. The presence of specific destinations within a 20minute walk from home were related to general, past-week self-reported walking for transportation and leisure as well as usual neighborhood walking.

Meeting Physical Activity Recommendations

Meeting physical activity recommendations was evaluated using accelerometerderived physical activity, such that individuals who were accumulating in 10-minute bouts at least 30 minutes of moderate intensity activity on 5 or more days, at least 20 minutes of vigorous intensity activity on 3 or more days, or a combination of moderate and vigorous activities were classified as meeting recommendations.⁴ Additionally, those who reported walking via the *IPAQ* and separately via the *NWS* for specific purposes for at least 30 minutes on 5 or more days were classified as being regular walkers. These classifications enabled more detailed analysis of objectively monitored physical activity, self-reported walking for leisure and transportation, and self-reported walking for any

reason, for leisure, and for transportation that occurred specifically within the participant's neighborhood.

Fewer than half of this study's participants were meeting physical activity recommendations when using accelerometer-derived data. However, 47.6% were accumulating amounts of moderate or greater intensity physical activity in bouts of at least 10 minutes that were sufficient to elicit health benefits. A larger percentage of participants were meeting recommendations compared to women in a national surveillance study.⁶ Though the national sample demonstrated that 14.1 to 27.3% of women aged 45 years and older were inactive,⁶ or engaged in fewer than 10 minutes of moderate or greater intensity activity each week, only one participant in this sample was classified as inactive using accelerometer-derived physical activity.

Participants in the current study reported amounts of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity and leisure-time walking that were much greater than a sample of adults representing several communities throughout the United States,¹³² though amounts of leisure-time walking were similar to a separate national sample of women aged 18 years and older.⁸⁸ Approximately 40% of participants reported via the *IPAQ* that they walked for leisure and/or transportation purposes for a minimum of 30 minutes on 5 or more days of the previous week, thus meeting national physical activity recommendations solely by walking. This proportion is larger than that of a national telephone survey of 1816 individuals (67% female), in which 33.6% of female respondents accumulated 30 minutes of walking on 5 or more days weekly.²⁸ Almost 29% of participants reported via the *NWS* that they regularly walked within their neighborhood. This proportion represents approximately 70% of those meeting physical activity recommendations solely by

walking, according to self-report with the *IPAQ*. Interestingly, the percentage of regular walkers that use their neighborhood for walking is similar to the proportion of regular walkers in national samples who reported using primarily their neighborhood streets for walking and physical activity (66-70%).^{9, 28}

Perceptions of the Neighborhood Environment

Almost 75% of participants reported living in neighborhoods that consisted solely of detached, single family homes. Participants indicated low levels of access to and diversity of stores and other facilities in the neighborhood, with the average facility being a 21 to 30-minute walk from home, and they noted that plenty of parking was available at local shopping areas. On the other hand, participants had positive perceptions of their neighborhoods' aesthetics and street connectivity, and indicated that traffic hazards and crime were not prevalent. Hilliness and physical barriers did not present a challenge to walking. Perceptions regarding having an infrastructure and safe environment for walking were generally neutral.

Participants who met physical activity recommendations did not perceive their neighborhood environments differently than those who were not meeting recommendations. These findings conflict with results from a study in which individuals in walking-friendly neighborhoods, whose *NEWS* subscale scores reflected more positive perceptions of their neighborhood environment, accumulated more time engaging in moderate-intensity physical activity as measured by an accelerometer when compared to those in less walking-friendly neighborhoods, who reported less positive perceptions of their environment.¹¹⁹

Participants who walked regularly for transportation in the neighborhood (i.e., regular neighborhood walkers for transportation) reported lower and less varied scores for the land use mix-diversity subscale compared to those who walked less or not at all for transportation in the neighborhood. This was an interesting finding because higher scores on this subscale typically indicate more walkable neighborhoods. Thus, those who walked more in their neighborhoods for transportation did so in less walkable environments. This finding conflicts with the findings of another study in which those who self-reported greater amounts of walking for transportation, or specifically walking for errands outside of the home, lived in more walkable neighborhoods.¹¹⁹ However, only four participants regularly walked in their neighborhood for transportation purposes, so conclusions should be drawn cautiously.

There were interesting differences in perceptions between those who reported regular walking for any reason in the neighborhood and those who walked less or not at all in their neighborhood. Higher scores on the lack of cul-de-sacs subscale are thought to indicate higher walkability, yet those who walked more in their neighborhoods reported lower scores for this subscale, meaning their neighborhoods had more cul-de-sacs and were presumed to be less friendly for walking. Regular neighborhood walkers also reported a greater presence of hills in their neighborhoods, which denotes a less walkable environment according to *NEWS-A* scoring.¹³⁰ Conversely, regular neighborhood walkers reported no major physical barriers to prevent them from walking. These findings are not consistent with Saelens et al,¹¹⁹ whose participants reported different perceptions of neighborhood walkability using NEWS but did not report differing amounts of total time spent walking.

Relationship between Environmental Factors and Physical Activity

Discussion of the relationship between perceived environmental factors and physical activity is difficult because there are many ways of measuring and reporting both the environment and physical activity. Studies that have assessed the relationship between the two are not consistent with the tools utilized to quantify the outcomes. For example, questionnaire items referring to aesthetics may simply ask if the environment is pleasant, or may be more detailed and ask about the presence of greenery and other nice things to observe. Likewise, physical activity can be quantified by a variety of questionnaires that may provide measures of energy expenditure, time, or simply a score. Physical activity can also be monitored objectively via a pedometer that counts steps per minute or an accelerometer that can produce counts per minute (a measure of intensity) or time. The following discussion of the current study's findings regarding the relationship between perceptions of the environment and physical activity will begin with the associations with accelerometer-derived physical activity, continue with self-reported physical activity measured via the IPAO, and will finish with self-reported neighborhood walking.

Objectively monitored physical activity. This study is one of the few studies of environmental correlates that utilized accelerometers to quantify physical activity. Interestingly, results of the current study demonstrated that only the lack of parking subscale from *NEWS-A* was significantly associated with accelerometer-derived physical activity. The lack of parking subscale consists of a single item asking participants if they agree with the statement, "Parking is difficult in local shopping areas." The thought is that if parking is difficult, then individuals may be inclined to walk to local shopping

areas. In this study, stronger agreement with this statement was inversely related to counts/minute, total counts/day, and minutes of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity performed in bouts of at least 10 minutes. This means that participants who engaged in greater levels of physical activity as measured by the accelerometer had the perception that parking is easy in local shopping areas. This finding is opposite what would be expected; i.e., that active people perceive that parking is difficult. One should question how well this subscale predicts physical activity, however. A previous study that evaluated the relationship between the lack of parking item and self-reported physical activity found no significant relationship between the two (pr = 0.04),¹¹⁸ and other studies have not used or have not discussed the lack of parking item as its own subscale.^{11, 17, 132, 133} Brownson, Chang and colleagues¹³⁴ assessed the reliability of *NEWS* items and observed only fair inter-rater agreement of the lack of parking item, with the item having an intraclass correlation coefficient of 0.22.

Other studies have demonstrated associations between *NEWS* subscales and accelerometer-derived physical activity. Saelens et al¹¹⁹ observed that individuals who lived in more walking-friendly neighborhoods reported more positive perceptions of residential density, diversity of land use mix, street connectivity, aesthetics, and pedestrian/traffic safety when compared to individuals who lived in neighborhoods that were less walking-friendly. Atkinson et al¹¹ found that street connectivity correlated with moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (r = 0.21) in a random sample of adults from neighborhoods deemed either high-walkable or low-walkable; no other significant associations were evident with respect to moderate or moderate-to-vigorous physical activity. Morris, McAuley and co-workers¹⁵ demonstrated correlations between total

counts per day and street connectivity (r = 0.25, p < 0.01), access to walking/cycling facilities (r = 0.21, p < 0.05), and aesthetics (r = 0.21, p < 0.05) in a population of older women. However, street connectivity was the only factor that remained in the regressive model after controlling for other factors (self-efficacy and functional limitations).

Two other studies using other means to evaluate environmental factors demonstrated associations with accelerometer-derived physical activity. Oakes and colleagues¹⁶ observed that street connectivity, or specifically, larger block lengths, increased the odds of total activity (total counts per day) by 44% (OR = 1.4, 95% CI: 1.03, 2.0) in a sample of adults aged 25 years and older. Frank et al¹² found that minutes of moderate intensity activity was associated with objective measures of residential density (pr = 0.18, p < 0.01), intersection density (i.e., street connectivity; pr = 0.11, p <0.01), and land-use mix (pr = 0.14, p < 0.01) in a sample of adults aged 20 to 70 years.

The current study found no associations between objectively monitored physical activity and mean number of destinations within walking distance of home or presence of specific destinations within walking distance of home. These findings contradict King, Belle and associates¹³ and King, Brach and co-workers.¹⁴ King, Belle and associates¹³ used objective measures of the environment to determine that the presence of a golf course and the presence of a post office within a 20-minute walk from home were related to a greater accumulation of steps per day in a sample of women aged 52 to 62 years. In a 15-year follow-up to a separate study, King, Brach and co-workers¹⁴ evaluated subjective rather than objective measures of the environment, specifically, convenience of walking to different destinations and overall quality of the neighborhood for walking, in a sample of women aged 74.2 \pm 4.2 years at follow-up. They observed that the number of

destinations within a 20-minute walk from home was related to accumulated steps per day, though the correlation was not very strong ($r^2 = 0.25$).

That only one environmental factor was significantly related to objectively monitored physical activity was surprising, considering other studies have shown associations with a variety of environmental characteristics and with proximity to destinations. It was also unexpected considering the many advantages of using an objective measure of physical activity. An accelerometer worn at the hip, as in this study, monitors the duration and intensity of ambulatory activity. Accelerometers are noninvasive, unobtrusive, and are not subject to reporting errors, which is a concern with using questionnaires to gather physical activity information.¹⁰⁷ In addition, the researcher utilized the most current methods of managing the accelerometer data in order to provide a more accurate estimation of intensity level and more accurate estimates of time spent engaging in moderate and vigorous physical activity.^{113, 128} However, participants in this study wore the accelerometer for all waking hours, thus capturing physical activity performed at home, at work, during leisure time, and for transportation. It is possible that perceptions of the neighborhood environment do not relate to the total amount of physical activity that is performed by an individual, but rather is related to the activity that is performed solely in and around the neighborhood.

Self-reported walking for leisure and transportation (IPAQ). The current study observed that two subscales of NEWS-A were related to regular walking during leisure time. Specifically, more positive perceptions of having an infrastructure and safety for walking increased the odds of being a regular leisure-time walker, and more negative perceptions of traffic hazards decreased the odds of being a regular leisure-time walker.

There were no significant associations between *NEWS-A* subscales and regular walking for transportation purposes. These findings differ from the results of several studies.^{9, 14, 17, 18, 22, 93, 95, 117, 132, 133, 135}

Few studies have assessed the relationship between self-reported physical activity and environmental perceptions with items from the NEWS, and results differed. McGuire¹³³ demonstrated correlations between several subscale items of a modified version of NEWS-A and past-month physical activity performed both within and outside of the neighborhood among adults aged 21 to 82 years. She observed that individuals were more likely to engage in physical activity outside of their neighborhood if they had positive perceptions of their neighborhoods' aesthetics, and were less likely to engage in activity if they perceived a high crime rate and poor accessibility to stores and other facilities. Other items relating to safety and traffic hazards were not associated with physical activity performed outside of the neighborhood. Using an early version of NEWS and the short form of the IPAQ in a study of adult women. De Bourdeaudhuij et al¹⁷ observed that scores of the land use mix-diversity subscale were positively associated with self-reported walking (pr = 0.15), and scores from the land use mix-access subscale were positively related to self-reported moderate physical activity (pr = 0.16). However, the other subscales were not significantly associated with either form of activity.

King, Toobert and associates¹³² used a modified version of *NEWS* to evaluate potential environmental moderators of physical activity interventions among mostly middle and older-aged adults in five U. S. cities. They observed that individuals who were most likely to be meeting physical activity recommendations according to selfreport were those who reported higher scores on the aesthetics subscale in addition to

being generally satisfied with their neighborhood. Analyses of data from the individual sites produced varied associations. For example, living in neighborhoods consisting of primarily detached, single-family homes was inversely related to leisure-time walking among adults aged 65 and older at one study site, whereas the associations were positive with respect to performing moderate-to-vigorous intensity physical activity among postmenopausal women at another study site. Researchers noted that physical activity performed for reasons other than to run errands was more likely to occur in low-density neighborhoods among middle and older-aged women. The perception that stores were within walking distance of home, referring to the land use mix-access subscale, was positively related to walking for errands at two sites and leisurely walking at a third site. In addition, better perceptions of street connectivity were related to walking for errands at two sites.

A positive perception of neighborhood aesthetics is the environmental factor that is most consistently associated with self-reported physical activity. In study of women aged 18 to 65 years, researchers used the long form of the *IPAQ* to evaluate walking for leisure and transportation purposes, and asked several questions regarding environmental aesthetics.¹¹⁷ Respondents were categorized as having low, medium, or high perceptions of neighborhood aesthetics. Researchers observed that the highest perceptions of neighborhood aesthetics were related to increased odds that individuals engaged in any leisure-time walking (OR = 1.5, 95% CI: 1.2, 1.9). Sallis, King et al¹³⁵ observed that women aged 50 years and older who perceived pleasant scenery in their neighborhoods reported engaging in more minutes of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity when compared to peers who did not perceive pleasant scenery, and also when compared to

younger women who did perceive pleasant scenery. In a study of women aged 40 years and older, Wilcox and co-workers¹⁸ found that the perception of enjoyable scenery was positively related to doing some activity among rural (OR = 1.7, 95% CI: 1.2, 2.5) but not urban (OR = 1.3, 95% CI: 0.9, 1.9) women. Other neighborhood characteristics that were assessed, including the presence of sidewalks, heavy traffic, hills, street lights, and high crime, were unrelated to participation in leisure-time physical activity both in urban and rural areas. In another study of ethnically diverse women aged 40 years and older, King, Castro et al²² found that the presence of hills and enjoyable scenery increased the odds by 1.5 (95% CI: 1.2, 1.8) and 1.4 (95% CI: 1.1, 1.8) times, respectively, that women selfreported sufficient levels of physical activity to be meeting national recommendations. However, researchers noted no relationships between self-reported physical activity and the presence of sidewalks, heavy traffic, streetlights, or high levels of crime in the neighborhood. Brownson, Baker and associates⁹ demonstrated that the presence of hills (OR = 1.3, 95% CI: 1.04, 1.6) and enjoyable scenery (OR = 1.5, 95% CI: 1.1, 1.9) were both positively associated with meeting physical activity recommendations among a nationwide population of adult men and women. Ball, Bauman et al⁹³ observed the existence of a larger proportion of adult walkers among those who perceived their neighborhood aesthetics in a more positive manner. Those who reported moderate perceptions of neighborhood aesthetics were 16% less likely to walk for exercise (OR = 0.8, 95% CI: 0.7, 0.99), and those who reported poor perceptions of aesthetics were 41% less likely to walk for exercise (OR = 0.6, 95% CI: 0.5, 0.8).

Some studies demonstrated a positive association between the presence of sidewalks and self-reported physical activity. Brownson, Baker et al⁹ observed that the

presence of sidewalks (OR = 1.3, 95% CI: 1.02, 1.6) were positively associated with meeting physical activity recommendations among a nationwide population of adult men and women. Addy and co-workers⁹⁵ found that the presence of sidewalks in the neighborhood increased the odds of doing some walking compared to no walking by 2.2 times (95% CI: 1.3, 3.9). They noted that other factors such as having a pleasant neighborhood for walking, streetlights, traffic volume and crime were not related to physical activity or walking.

Other studies have shown associations between other environmental factors and self-reported physical activity. For example, Brownson, Baker and associates⁹ made an unusual observation that the presence of heavy traffic increased the odds of meeting physical activity recommendations by 1.3 times (95% CI: 1.04, 1.6). Oakes et al¹⁶ demonstrated that high residential density doubled the odds of walking for transportation purposes (OR = 2.0, 95% CI: 1.3, 3.1). Ball, Timperio et al¹¹⁷ found that the highest perceptions of neighborhood safety were related to increased odds that adult women engaged in any leisure-time walking (OR = 1.6, 95% CI: 1.2, 1.9). In this same study, the third highest quartile of objectively measured street connectivity (i.e., the number of 4-way intersections) increased the odds of women walking for transport by 1.6 times (95% CI: 1.2, 1.9).

In addition to the two subscales of *NEWS-A*, the present study found significant associations between the presence of specific destinations within walking distance of home and regular walking reported on the *IPAQ*. Specifically, the presence of a recreation center increased the odds while the presence of a bookstore decreased the odds of engaging in regular walking during leisure time. Conversely, the presence of a

bookstore increased the odds of engaging in regular walking for transportation purposes, while an elementary school resulted in a decreased likelihood of walking to get to places.

Studies have demonstrated different findings with respect to the presence of destinations near home and self-reported physical activity. For example, King, Brach and colleggues¹⁴ observed that the number of destinations within a 20-minute walk from home was related to self-reported walking ($r^2 = 0.17$) and total leisure-time physical activity ($r^2 = 0.16$) in a sample of older women aged 74.2 ± 4.2 years. McCormack et al¹³⁶ observed that the number of recreational and utilitarian destinations within close proximity to the home related to an increased odds that individuals engage in regular walking for recreation and for transportation purposes. Cerin, Leslie and co-workers⁹⁶ observed a positive association between perceived access to recreational destinations and walking for transportation among women, whereas Mowen and associates¹³⁷ noted a lack of association between self-rated physical activity level and distance to a park among a sample of adults at least 50 years of age. Wendel-Vos, Schuit and colleagues¹⁰³ found no association between the amount of objectively measured green space within 300-m and 500-m radii of participants' homes and self-reported walking in a sample of more than 13,000 adults when adjusted for age, gender, and education level.

Self-reported neighborhood walking (NWS). In addition to evaluating the relationship between perceptions of the neighborhood environment with both accelerometer-derived and self-reported physical activity, the current study also evaluated the relationship between environmental factors and walking for specific purposes within the neighborhood. The *NEWS-A*, as its name implies, asks participants to report their perceptions of factors in the neighborhood that are believed to be related to walking.

While perceptions of the neighborhood environment may not correlate well with general physical activity or walking performed outside of the neighborhood, researchers anticipate associations between the *NEWS-A* and neighborhood walking. Addy et al⁹⁵ observed in a study of almost 1200 adults at least 18 years of age that the neighborhood environment was a stronger predictor of physical activity and walking than variables corresponding to the larger community. However, just as the current study showed few associations between *NEWS-A* subscales and physical activity measured by accelerometer and self-report, it found few associations when examining walking in the neighborhood.

In this sample of women aged 50 to 75 years, factors pertaining to neighborhood design (lack of cul-de-sacs) and the natural landscape (hills) were important predictors of neighborhood walking. Participants who agreed that there were more cul-de-sacs were more likely to be classified as a regular neighborhood walker, which seems to contradict the literature. Typically, elements of street connectivity that indicate a grid-like network of streets rather than cul-de-sacs and loops are related to more activity.^{12, 15, 119, 132} The researcher speculates that cul-de-sacs may provide participants with an environment that is more protected for walking. Interestingly, the item regarding cul-de-sacs is scored as a separate item in *NEWS-A*, though it is included in the street connectivity subscale of *NEWS*. Morris and colleagues¹⁵ found that removal of the cul-de-sacs item from the street connectivity subscale improved the internal consistency of the subscale (i.e., the item did not seem to measure the same concept as the other items constituting the subscale).

The positive relationship demonstrated in this study between perceptions of hills and neighborhood walking is consistent with the literature.^{9, 22} However, scoring procedures for *NEWS-A* consider the presence of hills to be a barrier to walking.¹³⁰ The

NEWS-A contains a single question that constitutes the hilliness subscale. Respondents are asked to agree or disagree with the following statement: "The streets in my neighborhood are hilly, making my neighborhood difficult to walk in." This statement is effectively asking the respondent to answer two distinct questions relating to hills. The first question asks if hills are present, and the second question asks if hills make it difficult to walk in the neighborhood. Some participants of the current study had difficulty in answering this question because there were hills present in their neighborhoods, yet the hills did not hinder their walking.

Studies that have utilized *NEWS* and other items to assess environmental correlates of neighborhood walking have demonstrated various associations.^{20, 21, 94, 133} In a study of adults aged 21 to 82 years, McGuire¹³³ utilized subscale items of a modified version of *NEWS-A* and past-month physical activity performed in the neighborhood to produce results that differed somewhat from the current study. McGuire found that while having attractive views and landscapes was correlated with neighborhood physical activity participation, perceiving many interesting sites while walking was not. Similar to the current study, McGuire observed that items regarding safety and accessibility were not associated with neighborhood physical activity. Although her study participants reported that it was difficult to walk in their neighborhood with so much traffic along nearby streets and that drivers exceeded the speed limits, traffic hazards were not significantly correlated with neighborhood physical activity. Thus, factors relating to creating a safer environment for being active were not important. Contrary to McGuire's and the current study's findings are the observations from Suminski and associates²¹ that

women were more likely engage in neighborhood walking for exercise purposes if they perceived their neighborhood to be of average compared to below average safety.

The current study utilized the NWS to determine levels of walking within the neighborhood. The NWS consists of items adapted from the neighborhood walking questions in other environmental studies.^{20, 35, 94} One such study examined some items from the NEWS in addition to other questions about environmental factors to inquire about perceptions of the walkability of the neighborhood in a sample of adults aged 40 years and older.²⁰ Researchers observed that factors pertaining to aesthetics and safety were not associated with neighborhood walking among women. While perceptions of moderate accessibility of walking facilities increased the odds of walking for pleasure by 3.5 (95% CI: 1.6, 9.2) times, accessibility was not associated with walking for transportation. Another such study assessed perceptions of aesthetics, convenience of walking opportunities, access to services, and traffic using eight items.⁹⁴ Women with more positive perceptions of convenience of walking opportunities were at least 3 times more likely to walk more in the neighborhood. Women who reported greater access to services actually had reduced odds (OR = 0.5, 95% CI: 0.3, 0.9) of walking in the neighborhood, while those reporting moderate access to services were more likely to report walking (OR = 1.9, 95% CI: 1.1, 3.4).

The current study showed no relationship between average number of destinations within walking distance from home and neighborhood walking, which contradicts the findings of a study of adult women who were 5.7 times (95% CI: 1.6, 19.7) more likely to walk for transportation within the neighborhood if they perceived that their neighborhood had an average number of destinations to which they could walk.²¹ While total number of

destinations was not important to neighborhood walking in the current study, the presence of an elementary school within walking distance of home decreased the odds of engaging in regular neighborhood walking for any reason and for recreational purposes.

While various environmental factors have been found to be associated with physical activity and walking, these factors play a small role in multivariate analyses of environmental, socio-demographic, and other predictors of activity. For example, De Bourdeaudhuij et al¹⁷ stated that environmental variables accounted for only 3-4% of the variance of regression models. Ball, Timperio and colleagues¹¹⁷ found that while neighborhood aesthetics, safety, and street connectivity were positively associated with walking, they lost their significance when cognitive factors such as self-efficacy and enjoyment of physical activity were entered into the models. In a recent review of 47 publications, Wendel-Vos, Droomers and associates¹³⁸ found very few significant associations between the physical environment and physical activity, particularly among women. In fact, convenience of facilities was the only physical environmental factor that was consistently associated with physical activity among women in the numerous studies analyzed. The current study is no exception. While some associations existed between specific NEWS-A subscales and destinations with physical activity, the overall variability that was accounted for by these factors in linear regression analysis was quite small (R^2) ranged from 0.03 to 0.04).

Participants of the current study reported very similar perceptions of their neighborhood environments, and few factors were associated with objectively measured physical activity and self-reported walking. It is possible that there are other environmental factors specific to this region and to this target population that were not

evaluated in this study. For example, many streets in this area lack sidewalks, thus making it difficult to answer some of the items relating to infrastructure and safety for walking. Also, the weather may influence activity participation (e.g., too hot/rainy/windy). Other characteristics of this region that do not vary considerably from one part of town to another include low residential density and the presence of urban sprawl (poor diversity of land use mix).

Strengths of the Study

There are several strengths to this study. The sample's relative homogeneity may have reduced the influence of potential demographic confounders such as race and socioeconomic status. The use of an objective monitor of physical activity is a strength of the study in that it reduces possible respondent biases that can occur with self-report. Also, the Actigraph GT1M is the latest in accelerometer technology and is extremely useful as an objective measure of physical activity. The use of current methods of managing accelerometer data is a strength of this study. Use of a recently developed tworegression model to determine METs for each minute of wear,¹¹³ and improved techniques to determine wear time and bouts of physical activity¹²⁸ enabled more accurate estimation of objectively monitored physical activity. The use of the NWS is a strength of the study because it inquires about different types of walking within the participant's neighborhood. If researchers are attempting to determine which factors in the neighborhood influence walking for different purposes, then researchers need an instrument that specifically measures these activities. It is also important to utilize a standard instrument to compare studies. Items on the NWS have been used in other studies^{20, 94} and slight modifications in wording produced the additional items specific to

walking for recreation and transportation. Items from earlier versions of *NEWS-A* have been used in several studies.^{17, 132, 133} While problems persist with a few of the *NEWS-A* items, as discussed earlier, the *NEWS-A* is still a comprehensive instrument that assesses many of the environmental factors that are believed to impact walking participation, and its use in future studies will undoubtedly continue.

Limitations

Limitations existed in this study. Participants were healthy volunteers and thus may have been more willing to participate and comply with the study protocol than those who were ineligible or did not express interest in study participation. Because participants were Caucasian, highly educated, had a household income of more than \$50,000, and were relatively physically active, they may not be representative of the average female aged 50 to 75 years living in the Oklahoma City or surrounding areas. In addition, participants had very similar perceptions of their neighborhood environments, making it difficult to distinguish differences between groups.

Other limitations in this study relate to the questionnaire used to assess perceptions of the neighborhood environment. Though the *NEWS-A* is a comprehensive measure, it may not sufficiently describe all factors of the physical environment that are related to walking. As mentioned earlier, the hilliness subscale consists of a single item that is asking two questions, thus making it difficult for participants to accurately respond to the item. Two items inquiring about sidewalks are difficult to answer when participants do not have sidewalks in their neighborhood. Also, other destinations could be included in the land use mix-diversity subscale, such as biking/walking trails and department or discount stores.

Recommendations for Future Research

Evaluation of the influence of the physical environment on physical activity and walking participation has been an important area of research in the past decade. There exists a plethora of information with much contradiction based on the population of interest. Advances could be made in this area of research by standardizing assessment instruments, particularly those used to evaluate environmental perceptions. NEWS and *NEWS-A* are two of the few environmental questionnaires that focus solely on the physical environment specific to walking. Further refinement of NEWS-A as a valid and reliable measure across age groups and populations should be performed. Similarly, the use of a standardized method of quantifying physical activity would enable more meaningful analyses and comparisons across studies. Use of an objective measure of physical activity, such as an accelerometer, would reduce potential respondent biases that are common with self-report measures. If the activity of interest is neighborhood physical activity participation, perhaps asking respondents to wear the device when they are engaging in any physical activity outside of their home but within their neighborhood would better represent neighborhood physical activity participation. In addition, the neighborhood should be defined for enhanced clarification, and consideration of what constitutes an acceptable walking distance should be made specific to the population of interest.

Most studies of environmental perceptions and physical activity are crosssectional, descriptive studies. Researchers cannot state whether individuals are more active in their neighborhoods because their environment motivated them to be active, or if individuals chose their environment because it was conducive to their already active

lifestyle. Longitudinal studies that evaluate changes in physical activity in conjunction with changing neighborhood environments can answer such questions.

Summary and Implications

Engaging in moderate intensity physical activities such as walking on a regular basis provides health benefits.⁴ Most individuals who walk regularly for physical activity do so within their neighborhoods.^{9, 28} Researchers have demonstrated correlations between environmental factors and physical activity, though differences in environmental perceptions, activity level, and the relationship between the two are evident from one population to the next. Findings of the current study indicate that certain factors of the physical environment are associated with physical activity and neighborhood walking among women aged 50-75 years who live in Oklahoma City or surrounding areas. Perceptions of the availability of parking at local shopping areas and hills and cul-de-sacs in the neighborhood predicted physical activity, although R^2 was small. Perceptions of the presence of an elementary school, a recreation center, and a bookstore within a 20-minute walk from home also predicted walking for specific purposes. Although preliminary, findings suggest aspects of the environment that may be key to physical activity interventions targeting middle and older-aged women living in similar areas.

This study adds to the body of literature targeting middle and older-aged women, who tend to be among the least active groups in the U. S. population, and using objective measures of physical activity. A small number of studies of the environmental correlates of physical activity have utilized objective measures of physical activity. While few relationships between environmental factors and objectively monitored physical activity

existed in this study, its findings suggest careful consideration of how an objective physical activity monitor may best be used to assess neighborhood physical activity.

Conclusions

Research Hypothesis 1. Less than 50% of participants will be meeting current national physical activity recommendations.

Sixty-six (52.4%) participants were not meeting current national recommendations for physical activity.

Research Hypothesis 2. Less than 50% of participants will engage in at least 30 minutes of recreational walking on five or more days weekly.

Eighty-seven (69.0%) participants engaged in less than 30 minutes of recreational walking on five or more days during the previous week, and 103 (81.8%) participants reported that they walk for lesser amounts in their neighborhood in a usual week. Participants accumulated 120.0 (IQR = 180.0) minutes of leisurely walking in the previous week as reported on the *IPAQ* and 50.0 (IQR = 180.0) minutes of recreational walking in the neighborhood in a usual week as reported on the *NWS*.

Research Hypothesis 3. Less than 50% of participants will engage in at least 30 minutes of walking for transportation on five or more days weekly.

One hundred and two (81.0%) participants engaged in less than 30 minutes of transportational walking on five or more days during the previous week, and 122 (96.8%) participants reported that they walk for lesser amounts in their neighborhood in a usual

week. Participants accumulated 20.0 (IQR = 120.0) minutes of transportational walking in the previous week as reported on the *IPAQ* and 0.0 (IQR = 0.0) minutes of transportational walking in the neighborhood in a usual week as reported on the *NWS*.

Research Hypothesis 4. Individuals who report walking regularly in their neighborhoods will have positive perceptions of their neighborhood environment compared to those who walk less or do not walk in their neighborhood.

Those who were walking regularly in their neighborhoods reported more positive perceptions of the presence of physical barriers in their neighborhoods [1.0 (IQR = 0.0) versus 1.0 (IQR = 1.0), respectively; Wx = 2006.0; m = 90; n = 36; p = 0.0427], but more negative perceptions of their neighborhoods' hilliness [1.0 (IQR = 1.0) versus 1.0 (IQR = 0.0), respectively; Wx = 2605.5; m = 90; n = 36; p = 0.0333] and lack of cul-de-sacs [2.0 (IQR = 2.0) versus 3.0 (IQR = 2.0), respectively; Wx = 1912.5; m = 90; n = 36; p = 0.0369] compared to those who were not walking regularly. Those who reported walking regularly in their neighborhoods' diversity of land use mix compared to those who were not walking regularly for transportation [1.0 (IQR = 0.6) versus 1.9 (IQR = 1.5), respectively; Wx = 98.5; m = 113; n = 4; p = 0.0398]. No other differences in environmental perceptions were evident between neighborhood walking groups.

Research Hypothesis 5. The subscales on *NEWS-A* will be able to predict individuals who engage in regular physical activity.

Univariate regression analyses demonstrated a significant association between the lack of parking subscale and counts/minute (β = -29.1, 95% CI: -54.6, -3.6; model R^2 = 0.04), total counts/day (β = -26535, 95% CI: -49692, -3378.3; model R^2 = 0.04), and minutes of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity performed in bouts of at least 10 minutes (β = -12.5, 95% CI: -24.7, -0.4; model R^2 = 0.03). There were no significant associations between *NEWS-A* subscales and minutes of moderate intensity physical activity.

Research Hypothesis 6. The subscales on *NEWS-A* will be able to predict individuals who engage in recreational walking.

More positive perceptions of having an infrastructure and safety for walking increased the odds of being a regular leisure-time walker as described on the *IPAQ* by 1.7 times (95% CI: 1.02, 2.9). More negative perceptions of traffic hazards decreased the odds of being a regular leisure-time walker as described on the *IPAQ* by about 50% (95% CI: 0.3, 0.9). There were no statistically significant associations between *NEWS-A* subscales and regular neighborhood walking as described on the *NWS* for recreation purposes.

Research Hypothesis 7. The subscales on *NEWS-A* will be able to predict participants who engage in walking for transportation.

There were no significant models relating *NEWS-A* subscales and regular walking for transportation purposes as described on the *IPAQ* or on the *NWS*.

Research Hypothesis 8. The presence of destinations within a 20-minute walk from home will be able to predict participants who engage in regular physical activity. The mean number of destinations within walking distance of home was not a significant predictor of counts/minute ($\beta = -0.8$, p = 0.6; model $R^2 = 0.00$), total counts/day ($\beta = -$ 749.1, p = 0.6; model $R^2 = 0.00$), or time spent engaging in moderate ($\beta = -0.5$, p = 0.5; model $R^2 = 0.00$) and moderate-to-vigorous ($\beta = -0.5$, p = 0.5; model $R^2 = 0.00$) physical activity. Additionally, the presence of each of 23 destinations within walking distance of home was also not a significant predictor of counts/minute, total counts/day, or time spent engaging in moderate and moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (p > 0.05).

Research Hypothesis 9. The presence of destinations within a 20-minute walk from home will be able to predict individuals who engage in recreational walking. Univariate analyses resulted in a positive relationship between the presence of a recreation center within walking distance of home and regular leisure-time walking as described on the *IPAQ* (OR = 3.0, 95% CI: 1.2, 7.9). Stepwise multivariate analysis modified the model, with the presence of a recreation center increasing the odds [OR = 10.0; 95% CI: 2.1, 48.6] and the presence of a bookstore decreasing the odds [OR = 0.2; 95% CI: 0.03, 0.8] of engaging in regular leisure-time walking. The mean number of destinations within walking distance of home was not related to regular recreational walking as described on the *IPAQ*. Univariate analyses demonstrated that the presence of an elementary school within walking distance of home was inversely related to regular neighborhood walking for recreational purposes as described on the *NWS* (OR = 0.3, 95%

CI: 0.1, 0.8). The mean number of destinations within walking distance of home was not related to regular neighborhood walking.

Research Hypothesis 10. The presence of destinations within a 20-minute walk from home will be able to predict individuals who engage in transportational walking. Univariate analyses resulted in an inverse relationship between the presence of an elementary school within walking distance of home and regular walking for transportation as described on the *IPAQ* (OR = 0.3, 95% CI: 0.1, 0.9). Stepwise multivariate analysis modified the model, with the presence of an elementary school decreasing the odds [OR = 0.2; 95% CI: 0.05, 0.6] and the presence of a bookstore increasing the odds [OR = 5.1; 95% CI: 1.4, 18.5] of engaging in regular walking for transportation purposes. The mean number of destinations within walking distance of home was not related to regular transportational walking as described on the *IPAQ*. There were no significant associations between the presence of specific destinations or mean number of destinations within walking distance of home and walking for transportation in the neighborhood as described on the *NWS*.

REFERENCES

- 1. Brown WJ, Burton NW, Rowan PJ. Updating the evidence on physical activity and health in women. *Am J Prev Med.* 2007;33(5):404-411.
- 2. Pate RR, Pratt M, Blair SN, et al. Physical activity and public health: A recommendation from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the American College of Sports Medicine. *JAMA*. 1995;273(5):402-407.
- 3. Warburton DER, Nicol CW, Bredin SSD. Health benefits of physical activity: The evidence. *CMAJ*. 2006;174(6):801-809.
- 4. Haskell WL, Lee I, Pate RR, et al. Physical activity and public health. Updated recommendations for adults from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2007;39(8):1423-1434.
- 5. Barnes P, Heyman KM. Early release of selected estimates based on data from the January June 2007 National Health Interview Survey: National Center for Health Statistics; 2007.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. U.S. Physical Activity Statistics: 2005 State Demographic Data Comparison. <u>http://apps.nccd.cdc.gov/PASurveillance/DemoCompareV.asp</u>. Accessed March 5, 2008.
- 7. Caspersen CJ, Powell KE, Christenson GM. Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: Definitions and distinctions for health-related research. *Public Health Rep.* 1985;100(2):126-131.
- 8. Bengoechea EG, Spence JC, McGannon KR. Gender differences in perceived environmental correlates of physical activity. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*. Vol 2; 2005.
- 9. Brownson RC, Baker EA, Housemann RA, Brennan LK, Bacak SJ. Environmental and policy determinants of physical activity in the United States. *Am J Public Health.* 2001;91:1995-2003.
- 10. Task Force on Community Preventive Services. Increasing physical activity. *MMWR*. 2001;50(RR18):1-16.
- 11. Atkinson JL, Sallis JF, Saelens BE, Cain KL, Black JB. The association of neighborhood design and recreational environments with physical activity. *Am J Health Promot.* 2005;19(4):304-309.
- 12. Frank LD, Schmid TL, Sallis JF, Chapman J, Saelens BE. Linking objectively measured physical activity with objectively measured urban form: Findings from SMARTRAQ. *Am J Prev Med.* 2005;28(2S2):117-125.
- 13. King WC, Belle SH, Brach JS, Simkin-Silverman LR, Soska T, Kriska AM. Objective measures of neighborhood environment and physical activity in older women. *Am J Prev Med.* 2005;28(5):461-469.
- 14. King WC, Brach JS, Belle SH, Killingsworth R, Fenton M, Kriska AM. The relationship between convenience of destinations and walking levels in older women. *Am J Health Promot.* 2003;18(1):74-82.
- 15. Morris KS, McAuley E, Motl RW. Self-efficacy and environmental correlates of physical activity among older women and women with multiple sclerosis. *Health Educ Res*; 2007:9.

- 16. Oakes JM, Forsyth A, Schmitz KH. The effects of neighborhood density and street connectivity on walking behavior: The Twin Cities walking study. *Epidemiologic Perspectives & Innovations*. Vol 4; 2007:9.
- 17. De Bourdeaudhuij I, Sallis JF, Saelens BE. Environmental correlates of physical activity in a sample of Belgian adults. *Am J Health Promot.* 2003;18(1):83-92.
- 18. Wilcox S, Castro C, King AC, Housemann R, Brownson RC. Determinants of leisure time physical activity in rural compared with urban older and ethnically diverse women in the United States. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2000;54:667-672.
- 19. Michael Y, Beard T, Choi D, Farquhar S, Carlson N. Measuring the influence of built neighborhood environments on walking in older adults. *J Aging Phys Activ.* 2006;14:302-312.
- 20. Humpel N, Owen N, Iverson D, Leslie E, Bauman A. Perceived environment attributes, residential location, and walking for particular purposes. *Am J Prev Med.* 2004;26(2):119-125.
- 21. Suminski RR, Poston WSC, Petosa RL, Stevens E, Katzenmoyer LM. Features of the neighborhood environment and walking by U.S. adults. *Am J Prev Med.* 2005;28(2):149-155.
- 22. King AC, Castro C, Wilcox S, Eyler AA, Sallis JF, Brownson RC. Personal and environmental factors associated with physical inactivity among different racialethnic groups of U.S. middle-aged and older-aged women. *Health Psychol.* 2000;19(4):354-364.
- 23. Taylor WC, Sallis JF, Lees E, et al. Changing social and built environments to promote physical activity: Recommendations from low income, urban women. *J Phys Act Health.* 2007;4:54-65.
- 24. Brownson RC, Eyler AA, King AC, Brown DR, Shyu Y, Sallis JF. Patterns and correlates of physical activity among US women 40 years and older. *Am J Public Health*. 2000;90(2):264-270.
- 25. Dowda M, Ainsworth BE, Addy CL, Saunders R, Riner W. Correlates of physical activity among U.S. young adults, 18 to 30 years of age, from NHANES III. *Ann Behav Med.* 2003;26(1):15-23.
- 26. Manson JE, Greenland P, LaCroix AZ, et al. Walking compared with vigorous exercise for the prevention of cardiovascular events in women. *New Engl J Med.* 2002;347(10):716-725.
- 27. Rockhill B, Willet WC, Manson JE, et al. Physical activity and mortality: A prospective study among women. *Am J Public Health*. 2001;91(4):578-583.
- 28. Eyler AA, Brownson RC, Bacak SJ, Housemann RA. The epidemiology of walking for physical activity in the United States. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2003;35(9):1529-1536.
- 29. Whitt MC, DuBose KD, Ainsworth BE, Tudor-Locke C. Walking patterns in a sample of African American, Native American, and Caucasian women: the Cross-Cultural Activity Participation Study. *Health Educ Behav.* 2004;31(4):45S-56S.
- 30. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, The Merck Company Foundation. *The State of Aging and Health in America 2007.* Whitehouse Station, NJ 2007.
- 31. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Public health and aging: Trends in aging --- United States and worldwide. *MMWR*. 2003;52(06):101-106.

- 32. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Trends in leisure-time physical inactivity by age, sex, and race/ethnicity United States, 1994 2004. *MMWR*. 2005;54(39):991-994.
- 33. Macera CA, Ham SA, Yore MM, et al. Prevalence of physical activity in the United States: Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2001. *Prev Chronic Dis.* Vol 2; 2005.
- 34. Li F, Fisher KJ, Brownson RC, Bosworth M. Multilevel modelling of built environment characteristics related to neighbourhood walking activity in older adults. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* 2005;59:558-564.
- 35. Humpel N, Marshall AL, Leslie E, Bauman A, Owen N. Changes in neighborhood walking are related to changes in perceptions of environmental attributes. *Ann Behav Med.* 2004;27(1):60-67.
- 36. Lee Y. Gender differences in physical activity and walking among older adults. *Journal of Women and Aging*. 2005;17(1/2):55-70.
- 37. Kriska AM, Caspersen CJ. Introduction to a collection of physical activity questionnaires. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 1997;29(6):S5-S9.
- 38. Sallis JF, Owen N. Ecological models of health behavior. In: Glanz K, Rimer BK, Lewis FM, eds. *Health Behavior and Health Education*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass; 2002:462-484.
- 39. Sallis JF, Cervero R, Ascher WW, Henderson K, Kraft KM, Kerr J. An ecological approach to creating active living communities. *Annu Rev Public Health*. 2006;27:297-322.
- 40. Handy SL, Boarnet MG, Ewing R, Killingsworth RE. How the built environment affects physical activity: Views from urban planning. *Am J Prev Med.* 2002;23(2S):64-73.
- 41. Pikora TJ, Giles-Corti B, Bull F, Jamrozik K, Donovan R. Developing a framework for assessment of the environmental determinants of walking and cycling. *Soc Sci Med.* 2003;56:1693-1703.
- 42. Owen N, Humpel N, Leslie E, Bauman A, Sallis JF. Understanding environmental influences on walking: Review and research agenda. *Am J Prev Med*. 2004;27(1):67-76.
- 43. U. S. Department of Health and Human Services. *Physical activity and health: A report of the Surgeon General.* Atlanta, GA: U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion; 1996.
- 44. U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, U.S. Department of Agriculture. Dietary guidelines for Americans, 2005. Washington, D.C.: U. S. Government Printing Office; 2005.
- 45. Mazzeo RS, Cavanagh P, Evans WJ, et al. ACSM position stand: Exercise and physical activity for older adults. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 1998;30(6):992-1008.
- 46. Nelson ME, Rejeski WJ, Blair SN, et al. Physical activity and public health in older adults. Recommendations from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. *Circulation*; 2007.
- 47. Chad KE, Reeder BA, Harrison EL, et al. Profile of physical activity levels in community-dwelling older adults *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2005;37(10):1774-1784.

- 48. Lee I, Rexrode KM, Cook NR, Manson JE, Buring JE. Physical activity and coronary heart disease in women: Is "no pain, no gain" passe? *JAMA*. 2001;285(11):1447-1454.
- 49. Macera CA, Hootman JM, Sniezek JE. Major public health benefits of physical activity. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2003;49(1):122-128.
- 50. Trolle-Lagerros Y, Mucci LA, Kumle M, et al. Physical activity as a determinant of mortality in women. *Epidemiology*. 2005;16(6):780-785.
- 51. Morris JN, Heady JA, Raffle PA, Roberts CG, Parks JW. Coronary heart disease and physical activity of work. *Lancet*. 1953;265(6795):1053-1057.
- 52. Morris JN, Heady JA, Raffle PA, Roberts CG, Parks JW. Coronary heart disease and physical activity of work. *Lancet.* 1953;265(6796):1111-1120.
- 53. Paffenbarger Jr. RS, Hale WE. Work activity and coronary heart mortality. *New Engl J Med.* 1975;292(11):545-550.
- 54. Taylor HL, Klepetar E, Keys A, Parlin W, Blackburn H. Death rates among physically active and sedentary employees of the railroad industry. *Am J Public Health*. 1962;52:1697-1707.
- 55. Mokdad AH, Marks JS, Stroup DF, Gerberding JL. Actual causes of death in the United States, 2000. *JAMA*. 2004;291(10):1238-1245.
- 56. Paffenbarger Jr. RS, Hyde RT, Wing AL, Lee I, Jung DL, Kampert JB. The association of changes in physical activity level and other lifestyle characteristics with mortality among men. *New Engl J Med.* 1993;328(8):538-545.
- 57. Gregg EW, Cauley JA, Stone K, et al. Relationship of changes in physical activity and mortality among older women. *JAMA*. 2003;289(18):2379-2386.
- 58. Hu G, Tuomilehto J, Silventoinen K, Barengo NC, Peltonen M, Jousilahti P. The effects of physical activity and body mass index on cardiovascular, cancer, and all-cause mortality among 47212 middle-aged Finnish men and women. *Int J Obes.* 2005;29:894-902.
- 59. Sundquist K, Qvist J, Sundquist J, Johansson S. Frequent and occasional physical activity in the elderly: A 12-year follow-up study of mortality. *Am J Prev Med.* 2004;27(1):22-27.
- 60. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. The Burden of Chronic Diseases and Their Risk Factors: National and State Perspectives 2004. In: U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, ed: U. S. Department of Health and Human Services,; 2004.
- 61. Minino AM, Heron MP, Murphy SL, Kochanek KD. Deaths: Final data for 2004. *National Vital Statistics Reports*. Vol 55; 2007.
- 62. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Heart Disease Risk Factors. http://www.cdc.gov/heartdisease/risk_factors.htm. Accessed March 26, 2008.
- 63. Rincon F, Sacco RL. Secondary stroke prevention. *J Cardiovasc Nurs*. 2008;23(1):34-41.
- 64. Hu FB, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, et al. Physical activity and risk of stroke in women. *JAMA*. 2000;283(22):2961-2967.
- 65. Kannel WB, Sorlie P. Some health benefits of physical activity: The Framingham Study. *Arch Intern Med.* 1979;139(8):857-861.

- 66. Manson JE, Hu FB, Rich-Edwards JW, et al. A prospective study of walking as compared with vigorous exercise in the prevention of coronary heart disease in women. *New Engl J Med.* 1999;341(9):650-658.
- 67. Wessel TR, Arant CB, Olson MB, et al. Relationship of physical fitness vs body mass index with coronary artery disease and cardiovascular events in women. *JAMA*. 2004;292(10):1179-1187.
- 68. Ellekjaer H, Holmen J, Ellekjaer E, Vatten L. Physical activity and stroke mortality in women: Ten-year follow-up of the Nord-Trondelag Health Survey, 1984-1986. *Stroke*. 2000;31:14-18.
- 69. Oguma Y, Shinoda-Tagawa T. Physical activity decreases cardiovascular disease risk in women: Review and meta-analysis. *Am J Prev Med.* 2004;26(5):407-418.
- 70. Courneya KS, Friedenreich CM. Physical activity and cancer control. *Semin Oncol Nurs*. 2007;23(4):242-252.
- 71. Martinez ME, Giovannucci E, Spiegelman D, Hunter DJ, Willet WC, Colditz GA. Leisure-time physical activity, body size, and colon cancer in women. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 1997;89:948-955.
- 72. Wolin KY, Lee I, Colditz GA, Glynn RJ, Fuchs C, Giovannucci E. Leisure-time physical activity patterns and risk of colon cancer in women. *Int J Cancer*. 2007;121:2776-2781.
- 73. Slattery ML, Potter JD. Physical activity and colon cancer: Confounding or interaction? *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2002;34(6):913-919.
- 74. Takahashi H, Kuriyama S, Tsubono Y, et al. Time spent walking and risk of colorectal cancer in Japan: The Miyagi Cohort Study. *Eur J Cancer Prev.* 2007;16:403-408.
- 75. Friedenreich CM, Courneya KS, Bryant HE. Relation between intensity of physical activity and breast cancer risk reduction. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2001;33(9):1538-1545.
- 76. McTiernan A, Kooperberg C, White E, et al. Recreational physical activity and the risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women: The Women's Health Initiative Cohort Study. *JAMA*. 2003;290(10):1331-1336.
- 77. Tehard B, Friedenreich CM, Oppert J. Effect of physical activity on women at increased risk of breast cancer: Results from the E3N Cohort Study. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2006;15(1):57-64.
- 78. Holmes MD, Chen WY, Feskanich D, Kroenke CH, Colditz GA. Physical activity and survival after breast cancer diagnosis. *JAMA*. 2005;293(20):2479-2486.
- 79. Lee I, Rexrode KM, Cook NR, Hennekens CH, Buring JE. Physical activity and breast cancer risk: The Women's Health Study. *Cancer Causes Control.* 2001;12(2):137-145.
- 80. Kriska AM, Saremi A, Hanson RL, et al. Physical activity, obesity, and the incidence of type 2 diabetes in a high-risk population. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2003;158(7):669-675.
- 81. Hsia J, Wu L, Allen C, et al. Physical activity and diabetes risk in postmenopausal women. *Am J Prev Med.* 2005;28(1):19-25.
- 82. Folsom AR, Kushi LH, Hong C. Physical activity and incident diabetes mellitus in postmenopausal women. *Am J Public Health*. 2000;90:134-138.
- 83. Weinstein AR, Sesso HD, Lee I, et al. Relationship of physical activity vs body mass index with type 2 diabetes in women. *JAMA*. 2004;292(10):1188-1194.
- 84. Hu FB, Li TY, Colditz GA, Willet WC, Manson JE. Television watching and other sedentary behaviors in relation to risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus in women. *JAMA*. 2003;289(14):1785-1791.
- 85. Goodwin RD. Association between physical activity and mental disorders among adults in the United States. *Prev Med.* 2003;36:698-703.
- 86. Weuve J, Kang JH, Manson JE, Breteler MMB, Ware JH, Grodstein F. Physical activity, including walking, and cognitive function in older women. *JAMA*. 2004;292(12):1454-1461.
- 87. Nelson DB, Sammel MD, Freeman EW, Lin H, Gracia CR, Schmitz KH. Effect of physical activity on menopausal symptoms among urban women. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2008;40(1):50-58.
- 88. Simpson ME, Serdula M, Galuska DA, et al. Walking trends among U. S. adults: The Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 1987-2000. *Am J Prev Med.* 2003;25(2):95-100.
- 89. Rafferty AP, Reeves MJ, McGee HB, Pivarnik JM. Physical activity patterns among walkers and compliance with public health recommendations. *Med Sci Sorts Exerc.* 2002;34(8):1255-1261.
- 90. Jones TF, Eaton CB. Cost-benefit analysis of walking to prevent coronary heart disease. *Arch Fam Med.* 1994;3:703-710.
- Ainsworth BE, Haskell WL, Whitt MC, et al. Compendium of physical activities: An update of activity codes and MET intensities. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2000;32(9):S498-S516.
- 92. Ham SA, Macera CA, Lindley C. Trends in walking for transportation in the United States, 1995 and 2001. *Prev Chronic Dis.* Vol 2; 2005.
- 93. Ball K, Bauman A, Leslie E, Owen N. Perceived environmental aesthetics and convenience and company are associated with walking for exercise among Australian adults. *Prev Med.* 2001;33:434-440.
- 94. Humpel N, Owen N, Leslie E, Marshall AL, Bauman AE, Sallis JF. Associations of location and perceived environmental attributes with walking in neighborhoods. *Am J Health Promot.* 2004;18(3):239-242.
- 95. Addy CL, Wilson DK, Kirtland KA, Ainsworth BE, Sharpe P, Kimsey D. Associations of perceived social and physical environmental supports with physical activity and walking behavior. *Am J Public Health*. 2004;94(3):440-443.
- 96. Cerin E, Leslie E, du Toit L, Owen N, Frank LD. Destinations that matter: Associations with walking for transport. *Health and Place*. 2007;13:713-724.
- 97. Powell KE, Martin LM, Chowdhury PP. Places to walk: Convenience and regular physical activity. *Am J Public Health*. 2003;93(9):1519-1521.
- 98. Miles R, Panton L. The influence of the perceived quality of community environments on low-income women's efforts to walk more. *J Community Health*. 2006;31(5):379-392.
- 99. McLeroy KR, Bibeau D, Steckler A, Glanz K. An ecological perspective on health promotion programs. *Health Education Quarterly*. 1988;15:351-377.
- 100. Bandura A. The self system in reciprocal determinism. *Am Psychol.* 1978;33(4):344-358.

- 101. Sallis JF, Bauman A, Pratt M. Environmental and policy interventions to promote physical activity. *Am J Prev Med.* 1998;15(4):379-397.
- 102. Li F, Fisher KJ, Brownson RC. A multilevel analysis of change in neighborhood walking activity in older adults. *J Aging Phys Act.* 2005;13:145-159.
- 103. Wendel-Vos GCW, Schuit AJ, de Niet R, Boshuizen HC, Saris WHM, Kromhout D. Factors of the physical environment associated with walking and bicycling. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2004;36(4):725-730.
- Ainsworth BE. Barrow and McGee's Practical Measurement and Assessment. In: Tritschler K, ed. Baltimore, MD: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; 2000:475-496.
- 105. International Consensus Group for the Development of an International Physical Activity Questionnaire. *International Physical Activity Questionnaire* 2002.
- Craig CL, Marshall AL, Sjostrom M, et al. International Physical Activity Questionnaire: 12-country reliability and validity. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2003;35(8):1381-1395.
- 107. Janz KF. Physical activity in epidemiology: moving from questionnaire to objective measurement. *Br J Sports Med.* 2006;40:191-192.
- 108. Welk GJ, Schaben JA, Morrow Jr. JR. Reliability of accelerometry-based activity monitors: A generalizability study. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2004;36(9):1637-1645.
- Sirard JR, Melanson Jr. EL, Li L, Freedson PS. Field evaluation of the Computer Science and Applications, Inc. physical activity monitor. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2000;32(3):695-700.
- 110. Hendelman D, Miller K, Baggett C, Debold E, Freedson PS. Validity of accelerometry for the assessment of moderate intensity physical activity in the field. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2000;32(9):S442-S449.
- 111. Bassett Jr. DR, Ainsworth BE, Swartz AM, Strath SJ, O'Brien WL, King GA. Validity of four motion sensors in measuring moderate intensity physical activity. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2000;32(9):S471-S480.
- 112. Freedson PS, Melanson E, Sirard JR. Calibration of the Computer Science and Applications, Inc. accelerometer. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 1998;30(5):777-781.
- 113. Crouter SE, Clowers KG, Bassett Jr. DR. A novel method for using accelerometer data to predict energy expenditure. *J Appl Physiol.* 2006;100:1324-1331.
- 114. Tudor-Locke C, Myers AM. Challenges and opportunities for measuring physical activity in sedentary adults. *Sports Med.* 2001;31(2):91-100.
- Melanson Jr. EL, Freedson PS. Validity of the Computer Science and Applications, Inc. (CSA) activity monitor. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 1995;27(6):934-940.
- 116. Fisher KJ, Li F. A community-based walking trial to improve neighborhood quality of life in older adults: A multilevel analysis. *Ann Behav Med.* 2004;28(3):186-194.
- 117. Ball K, Timperio A, Salmon J, Giles-Corti B, Roberts R, Crawford D. Personal, social and environmental determinants of educational inequalities in walking: A multilevel study. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2007;61:108-114.
- 118. Cerin E, Saelens BE, Sallis JF, Frank LD. Neighborhood Environment Walkability Scale: Validity and development of a short form. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2006;38(9):1682-1691.

- Saelens BE, Sallis JF, Black JB, Chen D. Neighborhood-based differences in physical activity: An environment scale evaluation. *Am J Public Health*. 2003;93(9):1552-1558.
- 120. Moudon AV, Lee C. Walking and bicycling: An evaluation of environmental audit instruments. *Am J Health Promot.* 2003;18(1):21-37.
- 121. New Urban Research I. Mapping Oklahoma Communities: An Introduction to GIS and Community Analysis. Portland, OR: New Urban Research, Inc.; 2006.
- 122. Leslie E, Coffee N, Frank LD, Owen N, Bauman A, Hugo G. Walkability of local communities: Using geographic information systems to objectively assess relevant environmental attributes. *Health and Place*. 2007;13:111-122.
- 123. Kirtland KA, Porter DE, Addy CL, et al. Environmental measures of physical activity supports: Perceptions versus reality. *Am J. Prev Med.* 2003;24(4):323-331.
- 124. Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology. PAR-Q and You. Gloucester, Ontario: Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology; 1994:1-2.
- 125. Pietrobelli A, Rubiano F, St-Onge M-P, Heymsfield SB. New bioimpedance analysis system: Improved phenotyping with whole-body analysis. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* 2004;58:1479-1484.
- 126. ActiGraph LLC. ActiGraph GT1M Monitor and ActiLife Lifestyle Monitor Software Ver 1.0 User Manual. Pensacola, FL: ActiGraph, LLC; 2006.
- 127. Masse LC, Fuenmeler BF, Anderson CB, et al. Accelerometer data reduction: A comparison of four reduction algorithms on select outcome variables. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2005;37(11):S544-S554.
- 128. Troiano RP, Berrigan D, Dodd KW, Masse LC, Tilert T, McDowell M. Physical activity in the United States measured by accelerometer. *Med Sci Sports Exercise*. 2008;40(1):181-188.
- 129. International Consensus Group for the Development of an International Physical Activity Questionnaire. *Guidelines for data processing and analysis of the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) short and long forms* 2005.
- 130. Saelens BE, Sallis JF. Scoring for the Neighborhood Environment Walkability Scale - Abbreviated (NEWS-A). <u>http://www.drjamessallis.sdsu.edu/NEWS_A_scoring.pdf</u>. Accessed October 31, 2007.
- 131. Booth ML, Owen N, Bauman A, Clavisi O, Leslie E. Social-cognitive and perceived environment influences associated with physical activity in older Australians. *Prev Med.* 2000;31:15-22.
- 132. King AC, Toobert D, Ahn D, et al. Perceived environments as physical activity correlates and moderators of intervention in five studies. *Am J Health Promot.* 2006;21(1):24-35.
- 133. McGuire MS. *Quantitative study on the perceived neighborhood environment and physical activity levels of adults in a large metropolitan area* [Dissertation]: School of Human Services, Capella University; 2007.
- 134. Brownson RC, Chang JJ, Eyler AA, et al. Measuring the environment for friendliness toward physical activity: A comparison of the reliability of 3 questionnaires. *Am J Public Health*. 2004;94(3):473-483.

- 135. Sallis JF, King AC, Sirard JR, Albright CL. Perceived environmental predictors of physical activity over 6 months in adults: Activity Counseling Trial. *Health Psychol.* 2007;26(6):701-709.
- 136. McCormack GR, Giles-Corti B, Bulsara M. The relationship between destination proximity, destination mix and physical activity behaviors. *Prev Med.* 2008;46:33-40.
- 137. Mowen A, Orsega-Smith E, Payne L, Ainsworth B, Godbey G. The role of park proximity and social support in shaping park visitation, physical activity, and perceived health among older adults. *J Phys Act Health*. 2007;4:167-179.
- 138. Wendel-Vos W, Droomers M, Kremers S, Brug S, van Lenthe F. Potential environmental determinants of physical activity in adults: A systematic review. *Obes Rev.* 2007;8:425-440.

APPENDIX A

Institutional Review Board - Norman Campus Approval

•



The University of Oklahoma

OFFICE FOR HUMAN RESEARCH PARTICIPANT PROTECTION

IRB Number: 11738 Approval Date: May 31, 2007

May 31, 2007

Mary Dinger Health & Exercise Science 1401 Asp Avenue, HHC 117 Norman, OK 73019

RE: Physical Activity and Health-Related Quality of Life in Community-Dwelling Women

Dear Dr. Dinger:

On behalf of the Institutional Review Board (IRB), I have reviewed and granted expedited approval of the abovereferenced research study. This study meets the criteria for expedited approval category 7. It is my judgment as Chairperson of the IRB that the rights and welfare of individuals who may be asked to participate in this study will be respected; that the proposed research, including the process of obtaining informed consent, will be conducted in a manner consistent with the requirements of 45 CFR 46 as amended; and that the research involves no more than minimal risk to participants.

This letter documents approval to conduct the research as described: Advertisement Dated: May 29, 2007 Revised - fiver Consent form - Subject Dated: May 29, 2007 Revised Advertisement Dated: May 29, 2007 Revised - Group Recruiting announcement Survey Instrument Dated: May 15, 2007 Quality of Life Questionnaire SF-36 version 2 Protocol Dated: May 15, 2007 Advertisement Dated: May 15, 2007 Newspaper Advertisement - OUHSC Advertisement Dated: May 15, 2007 Radio Advertisement Advertisement Dated: May 15, 2007 TV Advertisement Letter Dated: May 15, 2007 Recruitment Letter Survey Instrument Dated: May 15, 2007 Pre-Screening Instrument - Survey IRB Application Dated: May 15, 2007 Survey Instrument Dated: May 15, 2007 International Physica Activity Questionnaire Survey Instrument Dated: May 15, 2007 Neighborhood Envirnment Walkability Scale Survey Instrument Dated: May 15, 2007 Perceived Barriers & Coping Strategies - Survey Other Dated: May 15, 2007 Accelerameter Log Priv - Research Auth 1 Dated: May 15, 2007 Survey Instrument Dated: May 15, 2007 Demographic Questionnaire

As principal investigator of this protocol, it is your responsibility to make sure that this study is conducted as approved. Any modifications to the protocol or consent form, initiated by you or by the sponsor, will require prior approval, which you may request by completing a protocol modification form. All study records, including copies of signed consent forms, must be retained for three (3) years after termination of the study.

The approval granted expires on May 30, 2008. Should you wish to maintain this protocol in an active status beyond that date, you will need to provide the IRB with an IRB Application for Continuing Review (Progress Report) summarizing study results to date. The IRB will request an IRB Application for Continuing Review from you approximately two months before the anniversary date of your current approval.

If you have questions about these procedures, or need any additional assistance from the IRB, please call the IRB office at (405) 325-8110 or send an email to irb@ou.edu.

Condially Donald Baker, Ph.D.

Vice Chair, Institutional Review Board 600 Parington Oval, Suite 316, Norman, Oklahoma 73019-3085 PHONE: (405) 325-8110 FAX: (405) 325-2373



OFFICE FOR HUMAN RESEARCH PARTICIPANT PROTECTION

IRB Number: 11738 Amendment Approval Date: August 10, 2007

August 13, 2007

Mary Dinger Health & Exercise Science 1401 Asp Avenue, HHC 117 Norman, OK 73019

RE: IRB No. 11738: Physical Activity and Health-Related Quality of Life in Community-Dwelling Women

Dear Dr. Dinger:

On behalf of the Institutional Review Board (IRB), I have reviewed your protocol modification form. It is my judgement that this modification allows for the rights and welfare of the research subjects to be respected. Further, it has been determined that the study will continue to be conducted in a manner consistent with the requirements of 45 CFR 46 as amended; and that the potential benefits to subjects and others warrant the risks subjects may choose to incur.

This letter documents approval to conduct the research as described in:

 Amend Form
 Dated: August 06, 2007

 Survey Instrument
 Dated: August 06, 2007 Demographic Questionnaire - Revised

 Survey Instrument
 Dated: August 06, 2007 Satisfaction With Life Scale

 Advertisement
 Dated: August 06, 2007 Television - Revised

 Advertisement
 Dated: August 06, 2007 Newspaper - Revised

 Consent form - Subject
 Dated: August 06, 2007 Newspaper - Revised

 Survey Instrument
 Dated: August 06, 2007 Newspaper - Revised

 Protocol
 Dated: August 07, 2007 Revised

Amendment Summary: Change in procedure:

Revise demographic questionnaire to add and delete some questions.

2) Addition of 2 instruments to questionnaire packet: "Satisfaction With Life Scale" and "Neighborhood Walking Scale"

3) Expanding recruiting to include newspapers and television stations other than those previously approved for.

4) Correction in the title of mass email previously submitted for this announcement.

5) Revised Informed Consent form to reflect the requested changes.

This letter covers only the approval of the above referenced modification. All other conditions, including the original expiration date, from the approval granted May 31, 2007 are still effective.

Any proposed change in approved research including the protocol, consent document, or other recruitment materials cannot be initiated without IRB approval except when necessary to eliminate immediate hazards to participants. Changes in approved research initiated without IRB approval to eliminate immediate hazards to the participant must be promptly reported to the IRB. Completion of approved research must be reported to the IRB. If consent form revisions are a part of this modification, you will be provided with a new stamped copy of your consent form. Please use this stamped copy for all future consent documentation. Please discontinue use of all outdated versions of this consent form.

Ltr_Amend_Final_Appv_Exp

660 Parrington Oval, Suite 316, Norman, Oklahoma 73019-3085 PHONE: (405) 325-8110 FAX: (405) 325-2373

If you have any questions about these procedures or need additional assistance, please do not hesitate to call the IRB office at (405) 325-8110 or send an email to irb@ou.edu. Cordiatiy, Lyng Devenport, Ph.tt. Chair, Institutional Review Board

Ltr_Amend_Final_Appv_Exp



The University of Oklahoma OFFICE FOR HUMAN RESEARCH PARTICIPANT PROTECTION

IRB Number: 11738 Amendment Approval Date: August 20, 2007

August 21, 2007

Mary Dinger Health & Exercise Science 1401 Asp Avenue, HHC 117 Norman, OK 73019

RE: IRB No. 11738: Physical Activity and Health-Related Quality of Life in Community-Dwelling Women

Dear Dr. Dinger:

On behalf of the Institutional Review Board (IRB), I have reviewed your protocol modification form. It is my judgement that this modification allows for the rights and welfare of the research subjects to be respected. Further, it has been determined that the study will continue to be conducted in a manner consistent with the requirements of 45 CFR 46 as amended: and that the potential benefits to subjects and others warrant the risks subjects may choose to incur.

This letter documents approval to conduct the research as described in:

Amend Form Dated: August 16, 2007 Survey Instrument Dated: August 16, 2007 Revised - Physical Activity & Health-Related Life

Amendment Summary:

1) Addition of new question to Demographic questionnaire for this study.

This letter covers only the approval of the above referenced modification. All other conditions, including the original expiration date, from the approval granted May 31, 2007 are still effective.

Any proposed change in approved research including the protocol, consent document, or other recruitment materials cannot be initiated without IRB approval except when necessary to eliminate immediate hazards to participants. Changes in approved research initiated without IRB approval to eliminate immediate hazards to the participant must be promptly reported to the IRB. Completion of approved research must be reported to the IRB. If consent form revisions are a part of this modification, you will be provided with a new stamped copy of your consent form. Please use this stamped copy for all future consent documentation. Please discontinue use of all outdated versions of this consent form.

If you have any questions about these procedures or need additional assistance, please do not hesitate to call the IRB office at (405) 325-8110 or send an email to irb@ou.edu.

Cordially, Devenport, Ph.D

Chair, Institutional Review Board

Ltr_Amend_Final_Appv_Exp

660 Parrington Oval, Suite 316, Norman, Oklahoma 73019-3085 PHONE: (405) 325-8110 FAX: (405) 325-2373



The University of Oklahoma

OFFICE FOR HUMAN PARTICIPANT PROTECTION

IRB Number: 11738 Amendment Approval Date: September 21, 2007

September 24, 2007

Mary Dinger Health & Exercise Science 1401 Asp Avenue, HHC 117 Norman, OK 73019

RE: IRB No. 11738: Physical Activity and Health-Related Quality of Life in Community-Dwelling Women

Dear Dr. Dinger:

On behalf of the Institutional Review Board (IRB), I have reviewed your protocol modification form. It is my judgement that this modification allows for the rights and welfare of the research subjects to be respected. Further, it has been determined that the study will continue to be conducted in a manner consistent with the requirements of 45 CFR 46 as amended; and that the potential benefits to subjects and others warrant the risks subjects may choose to incur.

This letter documents approval to conduct the research as described in:

Amend Form Dated: September 14, 2007 Protocol Dated: September 14, 2007 Revised Advertisement Dated: September 14, 2007 Newsletter and Websites Amendment Summary:

Change in procedure:
Request to expand prescreening procedures to include these to be conducted face-to-face.
Addition of placing advertisements in newsletters and websites. Specifically, advertise study at organization/health/information fairs.

This letter covers only the approval of the above referenced modification. All other conditions, including the original expiration date, from the approval granted May 31, 2007 are still effective.

If consent form revisions are a part of this modification, you will be provided with a new stamped copy of your consent form. Please use this stamped copy for all future consent documentation. Please discontinue use of all outdated versions of this consent form.

If you have any questions about these procedures or need additional assistance, please do not hesitate to call the IRB office at (405) 325-8110 or send an email to irb@ou.edu.

Cordiafi Aimee Ecenklin, Ph. D

Vice Chair, Institutional Review Board

Ltr_Amend_Final_Appv_Exp

660 Parrington Oval, Suite 316, Norman, Oklahoma, 73019-3085 PHONE: (405) 325-8110 FAX (405) 325-2373

APPENDIX B

Recruiting Materials

OU Norman Campus Mass E-mail

How Active Are You?

Women 50 to 75 years of age are being sought for a physical activity research study. Participants will complete several questionnaires and wear a small, pager-sized device for 1 week. At the end of the study participants will receive a physical activity and body composition report, and a \$10 gift card. To participate or for more information, contact Jennifer Han or Lindsey Mallow in the Department of Health and Exercise Science, University of Oklahoma Norman Campus, at 641-1458 or <u>physactlab@ou.edu</u>.

OUHSC Campus Mass E-mail and newspapers

How Active Are You?

Women 50 to 75 years of age are being sought for a physical activity research study. Participants will complete several questionnaires and wear a small, pager-sized device for 1 week. At the end of the study participants will receive a physical activity and body composition report, and a \$10 gift card. To participate or for more information, contact Jennifer Han or Lindsey Mallow in the Department of Health and Exercise Science, University of Oklahoma Norman Campus, at 641-1458 or <u>physactlab@ou.edu</u>.

Radio

How Active Are You?

Women 50 to 75 years of age are being sought for a physical activity research study. Participants will complete several questionnaires and wear a small, pager-sized device for 1 week. At the end of the study participants will receive a physical activity and body composition report, and a \$10 gift card. To participate or for more information, contact Jennifer Han or Lindsey Mallow in the Department of Health and Exercise Science, University of Oklahoma Norman Campus, at 641-1458, or p-h-y-s-a-c-t-l-a-b at o-u dot e-d-u.

Channel 22

How Active Are You?

Women 50 to 75 years of age are being sought for a physical activity research study. For information contact Jennifer Han or Lindsey Mallow in the Department of Health and Exercise Science, University of Oklahoma Norman Campus, at 641-1458 or physactlab@ou.edu.

Physical Activity and Health-Related Quality of Life in Community-Dwelling Women

Group Recruiting Announcement

Hi my name is and I am with the Department of Health and Exercise Science on the University of Oklahoma Norman Campus. I am recruiting women, ages 50-75 years to participate in a study to examine physical activity and health-related quality of life in community-dwelling women.

Participants will need to visit the Physical Activity Assessment Laboratory on the OU Norman Campus twice. During the first visit, participants will complete several questionnaires and have their height, weight and body composition measured. The first visit will last approximately 1-1.5 hours. Participants will wear an accelerometer, which is a small pager-like device, during all waking hours for 1 week. During this week participants will maintain their normal levels of physical activity. At the end of the week, participants will return to the laboratory to hand-in their accelerometers and complete a few questionnaires. The second visit will last approximately 30 minutes. Your participation in the study will last 9 total days.

All participants who complete the entire study and wear the accelerometer as instructed will receive a physical activity and body composition report, as well as a \$10 gift card at the end of the study.

If you are interested in participating in this study, or would like to receive additional information, please call 405-641-1458, or email physactlab@ou.edu to see if you meet the eligibility requirements.

Thank you for your time and consideration.

Ouestions?

How Active Are You?



•

- Women between the ages of 50 and 75 are being sought to participate in a 9-day research study to examine physical activity and health-related quality of life.
- If interested please contact Lindsey Mallow or Jennifer Han at the University of Oklahoma, Norman Campus, Department of Health and Exercise Science at 405-641-1458 or physactlab@ou.edu

Participants will receive a physical activity and body composition report and a \$10 gift card at the end of the study.

HOW ACTIVE ARE YOU? Lindsey Mallow or Jennifer Han 405-641-1458 ADS-641-2456

HOW ACTIVE ARE YOU? Lindsey Mallow or Jennifer Han 405-641-1458 physedfab@ou.edu

HOW ACTIVE ARE YOU? Lindsey Mallow or Jennifer Han 405-641-1458 physectlab@ou.edu

HOW ACTIVE ARE YOU? Lindsey Mallow of Jennifer Han 405-641-1458 physectlab@ou.edu

HOW ACTIVE ARE YOU? Lindsey Mailow or Jennifer Han 405-641-1458 405-642180@ou.edu

HOW PCTIVE ARE YOU? Lindsey Mallow of Jennifer Han 405-641-1458 405-641-2458

POW PRA EVITOA WOH Nahinal or wollsin yeshina ABAI-19436 ABAI-19436 ABAI-1984387

HOW ACTIVE ARE YOU? Lindsey Mailow or Jennifet Han 405-641-1458 405-641-1458

HOW ACTIVE ARE YOU? Lindsey Mallow or Jennifet Han 405-641-1458 405-641-1458

YUOY ARA ZVITJA WOH Lindsey Mallow or Janifer Han 88AF-178-204 b9-uo@d6fb582yfg

HOW ACTIVE ARE YOU? Lindsey Mallow or Jennifer Han 405-641-1458 physectlab@ou.edu

APPENDIX C

Prescreening Questionnaire

Physical Activity and Health-Related Quality of Life in Community-Dwelling Women

- 1. What is your age? _____ years
- 2. Do you have any physical problems that limit your ability to participate in ambulatory activities like walking for at least 10 minutes at one time?
 - _____ No _____ Yes
- 3. Are you pregnant?

 No
 Yes

- 4. Do you have a Pacemaker in your heart?
 - _____ <u>No</u>
 - ____Yes
- 5. Has your doctor ever said that you have a heart condition and that you should only do physical activity recommended by a doctor?

 INO
Yes

6. Do you feel pain in your chest when you do physical activity?

- _____ No
- _____Yes
- 7. In the past month, have you had chest pain when you were not doing physical activity?
 No
 Yes
- Do you lose your balance because of dizziness or do you ever lose consciousness?
 No

Yes

- 9. Do you have a bone or joint problem that could be made worse by a change in your physical activity?
 - _____ No
 - _____ Yes
- 10. Is your doctor currently prescribing drugs (for example, water pills) for your blood pressure or heart condition?
 - _____ No _____ Yes
- 11. Do you know of *any other reason* why you should not do physical activity?
 - _____ No
 - ____ Yes

APPENDIX D

•

Demographic Questionnaire

Physical Activity and Health-Related Quality of Life in Community-Dwelling Women

Directions: Please fill in the blank or circle the letter that represents your response. Please select only ONE response for each item.

1. What is your age?

2. Think about your participation in physical activity during a typical week. Do you participate in vigorous physical activity (exercise) for at least 20 minutes a day on at least 3 days a week?

_____ No _____ Yes

- 3. Think about your participation in physical activity during a typical week. Do you accumulate at least 30 minutes of moderate intensity physical activity on at least 5 days of the week? Examples of moderate intensity physical activity include: brisk walking, bicycling, pushing a mower, and mopping floors.
 - ____ No Yes
- 4. How do you describe yourself?
 - A. American Indian or Alaska Native
 - B. Asian
 - C. Black or African American
 - D. Hispanic or Latino
 - E. Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander
 - F. White or Caucasian
 - G. Other (specify)
- 5. Are you...?
 - A. Married
 - B. Divorced
 - C. Widowed
 - D. Separated
 - E. Never married
 - F. A member of an unmarried couple
- 6. How many children less than 18 years of age live in your household?
 - A. 0
 - **B**. 1
 - C. 2
 - D. 3
 - E. 4
 - F. 5

7. What is the highest grade or year of school you have completed?

- A. Never attended school or only attended kindergarten
- B. Grades 1 through 8 (Elementary)
- C. Grades 9 through 11 (Some High School)
- D. Grade 12 or GED (High School Graduate)
- E. College 1 year to 3 years (Some college or technical school)
- F. College graduate
- G. Graduate School (Some Graduate school)
- H. Graduate School graduate

- 8. Are you currently...?
 - A. Employed for wages
 - B. Self-employed
 - C. Out of work for more than 1 year
 - D. Out of work for less than 1 year
 - E. A homemaker
 - F. A student
 - G. Retired
- 9. Your annual household income from all sources is:
 - A. Less than \$10,000
 - B. \$10,000 to less than \$15,000
 - C. \$15,000 to less than \$20,000
 - D. \$20,000 to less than \$25,000
 - E. \$25,000 to less than \$35,000
 - F. \$35,000 to less than \$50,000
 - G. \$50,000 to less than \$75,000
 - H. \$75,000 or more
- 10. Have you experienced menopause?

_____ No (STOP)

Yes (PLEASE RESPOND TO THE FOLLOWING QUESTION)

11. Are you taking hormone replacement therapy?

____ No ____ Yes

PARTICIPANTS - PLEASE DO NOT WRITE BELOW THIS LINE

Date_____

Height_____ inches

Weight_____pounds

Body Fat _____ percent

APPENDIX E

International Physical Activity Questionnaire -Long Form

INTERNATIONAL PHYSICAL ACTIVITY QUESTIONNAIRE

We are interested in finding out about the kinds of physical activities that people do as part of their everyday lives. The questions will ask you about the time you spent being physically active in the <u>last 7 days</u>. Please answer each question even if you do not consider yourself to be an active person. Please think about the activities you do at work, as part of your house and yard work, to get from place to place, and in your spare time for recreation, exercise or sport.

Think about all the vigorous and moderate activities that you did in the <u>last 7 days</u>. Vigorous physical activities refer to activities that take hard physical effort and make you breathe much harder than normal. Moderate activities refer to activities that take moderate physical effort and make you breathe somewhat harder than normal.

PART 1: JOB-RELATED PHYSICAL ACTIVITY

The first section is about your work. This includes paid jobs, farming, volunteer work, course work, and any other unpaid work that you did outside your home. Do not include unpaid work you might do around your home, like housework, yard work, general maintenance, and caring for your family. These are asked in Part 3.

1. Do you currently have a job or do any unpaid work outside your home?

Yes

Skip to PART 2: TRANSPORTATION

The next questions are about all the physical activity you did in the **last 7 days** as part of your paid or unpaid work. This does not include traveling to and from work.

2. During the last 7 days, on how many days did you do vigorous physical activities like heavy lifting, digging, heavy construction, or climbing up stairs as part of your work? Think about only those physical activities that you did for at least 10 minutes at a time.

days per week		
No vigorous job-related physical activity	\rightarrow	Skip to question 4
How much time did you usually spend on one of tho	se davs doing	vinorous physical

3. How much time did you usually spend on one of those days doing vigorous physical activities as part of your work?

hours per day		
	minutes per day	

4. Again, think about only those physical activities that you did for at least 10 minutes at a time. During the last 7 days, on how many days did you do moderate physical activities like carrying light loads as part of your work? Please do not include walking.

____ days per week

Skip to question 6

LONG LAST 7 DAYS SELF-ADMINISTERED version of the IPAQ. Revised October 2002.

5. How much time did you usually spend on one of those days doing moderate physical activities as part of your work?

 hours per day
minutes per day

 During the last 7 days, on how many days did you walk for at least 10 minutes at a time as part of your work? Please do not count any walking you did to travel to or from work.

	_ days per week		
	No job-related walking		Skip to PART 2: TRANSPORTATION
Hown	much time did you usually en	end on one	of those days walking as part of your

*

7. How much time did you usually spend on one of those days walking as part of your work?

 hours	per	day	
 minute	es pe	er day	,

PART 2: TRANSPORTATION PHYSICAL ACTIVITY

These questions are about how you traveled from place to place, including to places like work, stores, movies, and so on.

8. During the last 7 days, on how many days did you travel in a motor vehicle like a train, bus, car, or tram?

	days per week		
	No traveling in a motor vehicle		Skip to question 10
9.	9. How much time did you usually spend on one of those days traveling in a train, bus, car, tram, or other kind of motor vehicle?		
	hours per day minutes per day		
Now th work, t	ink only about the bicycling and walking o do errands, or to go from place to place	you might have done to	travel to and from

10. During the last 7 days, on how many days did you bicycle for at least 10 minutes at a time to go from place to place?

____ days per week

No bicycling from place to place

Skip to question 12

LONG LAST 7 DAYS SELF-ADMINISTERED version of the IPAQ. Revised October 2002,

11.	How much time did you usually spend on one of those days to bicycle from place to
	place?

	hours per day
	minutes per day

12. During the last 7 days, on how many days did you walk for at least 10 minutes at a time to go from place to place?

 days per week	
No walking from place to place	 Skip to PART 3: HOUSEWORK, HOUSE MAINTENANCE, AND CARING FOR FAMILY

 \sim

13. How much time did you usually spend on one of those days **walking** from place to place?

 hours per day
 minutes per day

PART 3: HOUSEWORK, HOUSE MAINTENANCE, AND CARING FOR FAMILY

This section is about some of the physical activities you might have done in the **last 7 days** in and around your home, like housework, gardening, yard work, general maintenance work, and caring for your family.

14. Think about only those physical activities that you did for at least 10 minutes at a time. During the **last 7 days**, on how many days did you do **vigorous** physical activities like heavy lifting, chopping wood, shoveling snow, or digging **in the garden or yard**?

	days per week	
	No vigorous activity in garden or yard	Skip to question 16
15.	How much time did you usually spend on one of those days doing activities in the garden or yard?	vigorous physical
	hours per day minutes per day	
16.	Again, think about only those physical activities that you did for at time. During the last 7 days , on how many days did you do mode carrying light loads, sweeping, washing windows, and raking in th	least 10 minutes at a erate activities like ne garden or yard?

carrying light loads, sweeping, washing windows, and raking in the garden or yard'

No moderate activity in garden or yard

Skip to question 18

LONG LAST 7 DAYS SELF-ADMINISTERED version of the IPAQ. Revised October 2002.

17. How much time did you usually spend on one of those days doing moderate physical activities in the garden or yard?

hours per day minutes per day

18. Once again, think about only those physical activities that you did for at least 10 minutes at a time. During the last 7 days, on how many days did you do moderate activities like carrying light loads, washing windows, scrubbing floors and sweeping inside your home?

<u></u>	days per week						
	No moderate activity inside home		Skip to PART 4: RECREATION, SPORT AND LEISURE-TIME				

19. How much time did you usually spend on one of those days doing moderate physical activities inside your home?

PHYSICAL ACTIVITY

 hours per day
 minutes per day

PART 4: RECREATION, SPORT, AND LEISURE-TIME PHYSICAL ACTIVITY

This section is about all the physical activities that you did in the **last 7 days** solely for recreation, sport, exercise or leisure. Please do not include any activities you have already mentioned.

20. Not counting any walking you have already mentioned, during the last 7 days, on how many days did you walk for at least 10 minutes at a time in your leisure time?

	days per week	
	No walking in leisure time	Skip to question 22
21.	How much time did you usually spend on one of those days walki time?	ing in your leisure
	hours per day minutes per day	
22.	Think about only those physical activities that you did for at least a During the last 7 days , on how many days did you do vigorous p aerobics, running, fast bicycling, or fast swimming in your leisure	10 minutes at a time. physical activities like a time ?
	days per week	
	No vigorous activity in leisure time	Skip to question 24

LONG LAST 7 DAYS SELF-ADMINISTERED version of the IPAQ, Revised October 2002.

	activities in your leisure time?
	hours per day minutes per day
24.	Again, think about only those physical activities that you did for at least 10 minutes at a time. During the last 7 days , on how many days did you do moderate physical activitie like bicycling at a regular pace, swimming at a regular pace, and doubles tennis in you leisure time?
	days per week
	No moderate activity in leisure time
25.	How much time did you usually spend on one of those days doing moderate physical activities in your leisure time?
	minutes per day
frienc in a n	is, reading or sitting or lying down to watch television. Do not include any time spent sitti notor vehicle that you have already told me about.
26.	During the last 7 days, how much time did you usually spend sitting on a weekday?
	hours per day minutes per day
27.	hours per day minutes per day During the last 7 days, how much time did you usually spend sitting on a weekend day?
27.	hours per day minutes per day During the last 7 days, how much time did you usually spend sitting on a weekend day? hours per day minutes per day
27.	hours per day minutes per day During the last 7 days, how much time did you usually spend sitting on a weekend day? hours per day minutes per day his is the end of the guestionnaire, thank you for participating.

*

LONG LAST 7 DAYS SELF-ADMINISTERED version of the IPAQ. Revised October 2002.

APPENDIX F

Neighborhood Walking Scale

Neighborhood Walking Scale

We are interested in finding out how much walking you do **in your neighborhood** in a usual week. The following questions ask about walking for any reason, and walking specifically for transport and recreation purposes.

In answering the following questions,

- Walking for transport refers to walking to get to and from places or walking for errands
- Walking for recreation refers to walking that you do for exercise or during your leisure time

1. How many times a week do you go for a **walk for any reason** (e.g., for exercise, doing errands, walking for transport) in and around your neighborhood?

____ days per week

a. How much time would you usually spend when you do go for a walk in and around your neighborhood?

____ minutes per day

2. How many times a week do you go for a **walk for recreation** in and around your neighborhood?

____ days per week

a. How much time would you usually spend when you do go for a walk for recreation in and around your neighborhood?

____ minutes per day

3. How many times a week do you go for a **walk for transport** in and around your neighborhood?

____ days per week

a. How much time would you usually spend when you do go for a walk for transport in and around your neighborhood?

____ minutes per day

APPENDIX G

Neighborhood Environment Walkability Scale - Abbreviated





B. Stores, facilities, and other things in your neighborhood

About how long would it take to get from your home to the <u>nearest</u> businesses or facilities listed below if you <u>walked</u> to them? Please put only <u>one</u> check mark ($\sqrt{}$) for each business or facility.

	1-5 min	6-10 min	11-20 min	20-30 min	30+ min	don't know
example: gas station	۱	2	3. <u>√</u>	4	5	8
1. convenience/small	1	2	3	4	5	8
grocery store 2. supermarket	ì. <u></u>	2	3	4	5	8
3. hardware store	1	2	3	4	5	8
4. fruit/vegetable market	1	2	3	4	5	8
5. laundry/dry cleaners	1	2	3	4	5	8
6. clothing store	1	2	3	4	5	8
7. post office	1	2	3	4	5	8
8. library	1	2	3	4	5	8
9. elementary school	1	2	3	4	5	8
10. other schools	l	2	3	4,	5	8
11. book store	1	2	3	4	5	8
12. fast food restaurant	l	2	3	4	5	8
13. coffee place	I. <u> </u>	2	3	4	5	8
14. bank/credit union	1	2	3	4	5	8
15. non-fast food restaurant	1	2	3	4	5	8
16. video store	ł	2	3	4	5	8
17. pharmacy/drug store	1	2	3	4	5	8
18. salon/barber shop	1	2	3	4	5	8
19. your job or school [check here it not	1. <u> </u>	2 ə]	3	4	5	8
						2

20. bus or trair	n stop	1-5 min 1	6-10 min 2	11-20 min 3	20-30 min 4	30+ min 5	don't kn 8
21. park		1	2	3	4	5	8
22. recreation	center	1	2	3	4	5	8
23. gym or fitn	ess facility	1	2	3	4	5	8
Please circle t within walking	the answer the distance me	Access nat best ap ean within	to servic oplies to you a 10-15 mir	es u and your n nute walk fro	eighborhood m your home	l. Both <u>Io</u>	<u>cal</u> and
1. Stores are v 1 strongly disagree	within easy w so di	′alking dist 2 mewhat isagree	ance of my : som ag	r home. 3 ewhat gree	4 strongly agree	1	
2. Parking is d	lifficult in loc	al shopping	g areas.	2	- A		
strongly disagree	so di	mewhat isagree	som	ewhat gree	strongly agree	/	
3. There are r	nany places	to go with	in easy wal	king distanc	e of my home	Ð.	
strongly disagree	so di	z mewhat isagree	som	ewhat gree	strongly agree	/	
1 It is easy to	walk to a tro	ansit stop (I	bus, train) fr	om my hom	e.		
1	SO	z mewhat isagree	som	ewhat gree	strongly agree	/	
1 strongly disagree	a	<u> </u>					
 a. In is casy to 1 strongly disagree 5. The streets 1 	a in my neight	borhood ar	re hilly, mak	ing my neig a	nborhood dif	ficult to v	valk in.
 a. It is case to a large strongly disagree 5. The streets large strongly disagree 	a in my neight so d	oorhood ar 2 mewhał sagree	re hilly, mak som ag	ing my neig 3 ewhat gree	nborhood dif 4 strongly agree	ficult to v v	valk in.
 In is case to a large strongly disagree The streets the streets strongly disagree There are r place (for excolution and strengly large) 	a in my neight so d najor barrien ample, freew	porhood ar 2 mewhat isagree s to walking ays, raílwa 2	re hilly, mak som g in my locc ly lines, river	ing my neig 3 ewhat gree al area that 1 s). 3	nborhood dif 4 strongly agree make it hard 4	ficult to v v to get fro	valk in. om place

	D. Streets in n	ıy neighborhood		
Please circle the c	inswer that best app	ies to you and your n	eighborhood.	
		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		- 1
	y neighbornood <u>do 1</u> 2	3	4	5).
strongly	somewhat	somewhat	strongly	
disagree	disagree	agree	agree	
2. The distance be the length of a for	etween intersections	in my neighborhood	is usually short (100 yard	ls or le
1	2	3	4	
strongly	somewhat	somewhat	strongly	
disagree	disagree	agree	agree	
3. There are many don't have to go t 1	alternative routes to he same way every t 2 somewhat	ir getting trom ploce ime.) 3 somewhat	to place in my neighbo 4 strongly	rhood
strongly disagree	disagree	agree	agrée	
strongly disagree	disagree	agree	agree ing	
strongly disagree	E. Places for	agree walking and cycl	agree ing eighborhood.	
strongly disagree Please circle the c 1. There are sidew	disagree E. Places for	agree walking and cycl lies to you and your n treets in my neighbor	agree ing eighborhood. hood.	
strongly disagree Please circle the c 1. There are sidew strongly	disagree E. Places for unswer that best app. valks on most of the s 2 somewhat	agree walking and cycl lies to you and your n treets in my neighbor 3 somewhat	agree ing eighborhood. hood. 4 strongly	
strongly disagree Please circle the control 1. There are sidew strongly disagree	disagree E. Places for answer that best app. valks on most of the s 2 somewhat disagree	agree walking and cycl lies to you and your n treets in my neighbor 3 somewhat agree	agree ing eighborhood hood. 4 strongly agree	
strongly disagree Please circle the c 1. There are sidew strongly disagree 2. Sidewalks are s	disagree E. Places for answer that best app. valks on most of the s 2 somewhat disagree eparated from the ro 2	agree walking and cycl lies to you and your n treets in my neighbor 3 somewhat agree bad/traffic in my neigh 3	agree ing eighborhood. hood. 4 strongly agree nborhood by parked co	ars.
strongly disagree Please circle the c 1. There are sidew 1 strongly disagree 2. Sidewalks are s 1 strongly	disagree E. Places for answer that best app. valks on most of the s 2 somewhat disagree eparated from the ro 2 somewhat	agree walking and cycl lies to you and your n treets in my neighbor 3 somewhat agree bad/traffic in my neigh 3 somewhat	agree ing eighborhood. hood. 4 strongly agree hborhood by parked co 4 strongly	ars.

I	2	3	4
strongly	somewhat	somewhat	strongly
disagree	disagree	agree	agree
F. N	eighborhood suri	roundings	
Please circle the c	answer that best app	lies to you and your n	eighborhood.
1 There are trees	along the streets in n	ny neighborhood	-
1	2	3	4
ctropoly	comowhat	tomowhat	strongly
sirongly	somewhol	somewhat	STOLIGIY
alsagree	disagree	agree	agree
2. There are man	y interesting things to	look at while walking	in my neighborhood.
	2	3	4
strongly	somewhat	somewhat	strongly
disagree	disagree	agree	agree
3. There are man views}.	y attractive natural si	ghts in my neighborh	ood (such as landscapin
I	2	3	4
strongly	somewhat	somewhat	strongly
disagree	disagree	agree	agree
4. There are attra	ctive buildings/home	s in my neighborhoo	d.
1	2	3	4
strongly	somewhat	somewhat	strongly
disagree	disagree	agree	agree
	Neighborhood s	afety	
Please circle the o	answer that best app	lies to you and your r	eighborhood.
1. There is so muc n my neighborho	h traffic along <u>nearb</u> od.	y streets that it make	s it difficult or unpleasant
1 Č	2	3	4
stronaly	somewhat	somewhat	strongly
disaaree	disaaree	aaree	aaree
31349.00	abagioo	39,00	49.00

1	2	3	4
strongly disagree	somewhat disagree	somewhat agree	strongly agree
3. Most drivers exc	ceed the posted spe	ed limits while driving	in my neighborhood.
strongly	2 somewhat	somewhat	4 strongly
disagree	disagree	agree	agree
4. My neighborho	od streets are well lit	at night.	
] stronebu	2	3	4
disagree	disagree	agree	agree
5. Walkers and bik	ers on the streets in r	ny neighborhood ca	ń be easily seen by peopl
their homes.			
1	2	3	. 4
strongly	somewhat	somewhat	strongly
1 strongly	2 somewhat	3 somewhat	4 strongly
disagree	disagree	agree	agree
7. There is a high c	crime rate in my neig	hborhood.	
1	2	3	4
strongly	somewhat	somewhat	strongly
asagree	aisagree	ugree	agree
8. The crime rate i	n my neighborhood	makes it unsate to go 3	o on walks <u>during the day</u> . 4
strongly	somewhat	somewhat	strongly
disagree	disagree	agree	agree
9. The crime rate i 1	n my neighborhood 2	makes it unsafe to go 3	o on walks <u>at night</u> . 4
strongly	somewhat	somewhat	strongly
disagree	disagree	agree	agree

APPENDIX H

Informed Consent Form

701-A-6

University of Oklahoma Institutional Review Board Informed Consent to Participate in a Research Study

Project Title:	Physical Activity and Health-Related Quality of Life in
	Community-Dwelling Women
Principal Investigator:	Mary K. Dinger
Department:	Health and Exercise Science

You are being asked to volunteer for this research study. This study is being conducted at The Physical Activity Assessment Laboratory on the University of Oklahoma Norman Campus. You were selected as a possible participant because you responded to an advertisement and you meet the inclusion criteria to participate in the study.

Please read this form and ask any questions that you may have before agreeing to take part in this study.

Purpose of the Research Study

The purpose of this study is to describe physical activity of community-dwelling women and explore the relationships among physical activity, health-related quality of life, perceived environment, and perceived barriers to being physically active.

Number of Participants

About 150 people will take part in this study.

Procedures

If you agree to be in this study, you will be asked to do the following:

On the first visit to the Physical Activity Assessment Lab:

- · You will complete the informed consent, HIPAA form, and screening items.
- You will have your height and weight measured by the researchers.
- You will have your body composition assessed using bioimpedance analysis (BIA), which involves having a small, undetectable electrical current pass through your body.
- You will complete 7 questionnaires, which should take approximately 30-45 minutes.
- You will receive a demonstration by the researchers on how to wear the accelerometer (a small, pager-sized device) and will be fitted with a belt that will be used to attach the accelerometer to your body.

During the next 7 days:

- You will wear the accelerometer over your right hip during all waking hours (except when bathing, showering, or swimming).
- You will complete the accelerometer log sheet each evening when you remove the accelerometer.

	APPROVED	APPROVAL	
Revised 3/5/2007	AUG 1 0 2007 CU-NC IRB	MAY 3 0 2008	Page 1 of 3
701-A-6

· You will maintain your normal participation in physical activity.

On the second visit to the Physical Activity Assessment Lab:

- At the end of the 7 day period, you will return to the Physical Activity Assessment Lab to return the accelerometer, belt, and log sheet.
- You will complete 5 questionnaires. The second visit will take approximately 30 minutes.

Length of Participation

You participation in the study will last 9 total days.

This study has the following risks:

No foreseeable risks, beyond those present in routine daily life, are anticipated in this study.

Benefits of being in the study:

At the end of the study, all participants who complete the entire study and wear the accelerometer as instructed will receive a physical activity and body composition report. This study will provide additional insight into physical activity levels of community-dwelling women and the associations among physical activity, perceived health-related quality of life, perceived environment, and barriers to being physically active.

Injury

In case of injury or illness resulting from this study, emergency medical treatment is available. However, you or your insurance company may be expected to pay the usual charge from this treatment. The University of Oklahoma Norman Campus has set no funds to compensate you in the event of injury.

Confidentiality

In published reports, there will be no information included that will make it possible to identify you without your permission. Research records will be stored securely and only approved researchers will have access to the records.

There are organizations that may inspect and/or copy your research records for quality assurance and data analysis. These organizations include the Department of Health and Exercise Science and the OU Institutional Review Board.

Costs

There is no cost to participate in the study.

Compensation

At the end of the study, all participants who complete the entire study and wear the accelerometer as instructed will receive a physical activity and body composition report, as well as a \$10 gift card.



701-A-6

Rights

Refusal to participate will involve no penalty or loss of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled. You can discontinue participation at any time without penalty or loss of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled.

Voluntary Nature of the Study

Participation in this study is voluntary. If you decline to participate, you will not be penalized or lose benefits or services unrelated to the study. If you decide to participate, you may decline to answer any question and may choose to withdraw at any time.

Waivers of Elements of Confidentiality

Your name will not be linked with your responses unless you specifically agree to be identified. Please select one of the following options

I consent to being quoted directly.

I do not consent to being quoted directly.

Contacts and Questions

If you have concerns or complaints about the research, the researcher(s) conducting this study can be contacted at phone: 405.325.5211, or email: <u>physactlab@ou.edu</u>.

Contact the researcher(s) if you have questions or if you have experienced a research-related injury.

If you have any questions about your rights as a research participant, concerns, or complaints about the research and wish to talk to someone other than individuals on the research team or if you cannot reach the research team, you may contact the University of Oklahoma – Norman Campus Institutional Review Board (OU-NC IRB) at 405-325-8110 or irb@ou.edu.

You will be given a copy of this information to keep for your records. If you are not given a copy of this consent form, please request one.

Statement of Consent

I have read the above information. I have asked questions and have received satisfactory answers. I consent to participate in the study.

Signature

Date

	APPROVED AUG 1 0 2007	MAY 3 0 2008	
Revised 3/5/2007	U-OU-NC IRB	EXPIRES	Page 3 of 3

APPENDIX I

HIPAA Authorization Form

UNIVERSITY OF OKLAHOMA - NORMAN CAMPUS INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD

AUTHORIZATION TO USE or DISCLOSE PROTECTED HEALTH INFORMATION FOR RESEARCH

An additional Informed Consent Document for Research Participation may also be required.

Title of Research Project:	Physical Activity and Health-Related Quality of Life in Community-Dwelling Women
Principal Investigator:	Mary K. Dinger
IRB Number:	
Address:	Department of Health and Exercise Science, University of Oklahoma, Norman, OK 73019
Phone Number:	405-325-5211

If you decide to join this research project, University of Oklahoma (OU) researchers may use or share (disclose) information about you that is considered to be protected health information for their research. Protected health information will be called private information in this Authorization.

Private Information To Be Used or Shared. Federal law requires that researchers get your permission (authorization) to use or share your private information. If you give permission, the researchers may use or share with the people identified in this Authorization any private information related to this research from your medical records and from any test results. Information, used or shared, may include all information relating to any tests, procedures, surveys, or interviews as outlined in the consent form, medical records and charts, name, address, telephone number, date of birth, race, and government-issued identification number.

<u>Purposes for Using or Sharing Private Information</u>, If you give permission, the researchers may use your private information to analyze the data from the project and present the information in aggregate form.

Other Use and Sharing of Private Information. If you give permission, the researchers may also use your private information to develop new procedures or commercial products. They may share your private information with the research sponsor, the OU Institutional Review Board, auditors and inspectors who check the research, and government agencies such as the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS). The researchers may also share your private information with all researchers collaborating on this project.

MAY 3 0 2008

FXPIRES



<u>Confidentiality</u>. Although the researchers may report their findings in scientific journals or meetings, they will not identify you in their reports. The researchers will try to keep your information confidential, but confidentiality is not guaranteed. Any person or organization receiving the information based on this authorization could re-release the information to others and federal law would no longer protect it.

YOU MUST UNDERSTAND THAT YOUR PROTECTED HEALTH INFORMATION MAY INCLUDE INFORMATION REGARDING ANY CONDITIONS CONSIDERED AS A COMMUNICABLE OR VENEREAL DISEASE WHICH MAY INCLUDE, BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO, DISEASES SUCH AS HEPATITIS, SYPHILIS, GONORRHEA, AND HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS ALSO KNOWN AS ACQUIRED IMMUNE DEFICIENCY SYNDROME (AIDS).

<u>Voluntary Choice</u>. The choice to give OU researchers permission to use or share your private information for their research is voluntary. It is completely up to you. No one can force you to give permission. However, you must give permission for OU researchers to use or share your private health information if you want to participate in the research and if you revoke your authorization, you can no longer participate in this study.

Refusing to give permission will not affect your ability to get routine treatment or health care from OU.

<u>Revoking Permission</u>. If you give the OU researchers permission to use or share your private information, you have a right to revoke your permission whenever you want. However, revoking your permission will not apply to information that the researchers have already used, relied on, or shared.

End of Permission. Unless you revoke it, permission for OU researchers to use or share your private information for their research will end when all data from the project have been analyzed and all reports have been published. You may revoke your permission at any time by writing to:

Privacy Official University of Oklahoma 1000 Stanton L. Young Blvd., STE 221, Oklahoma City, OK 73117 If you have questions call: (405) 271-2511

Γ	APF	R	0	VED	1
	MAY	3	1	2007	
	OU-	N	2	IR8	

Γ,	APPROVAL
	MAY 3 0 2008
L	EXPIRES

<u>Giving Permission</u>. By signing this form, you give OU and OU's researchers led by Mary K. Dinger, Ph.D., permission to share your private information for the research project called Physical Activity and Health-Related Quality of Life in Community-Dwelling Women.

.

Subject Name: _____

Signature of Subject or Parent if Subject is a child

Date

Or

Signature of Legal Representative**

Date

**If signed by a Legal Representative of the Subject, provide a description of the relationship to the Subject and the Authority to Act as Legal Representative:

OU may ask you to produce evidence of your relationship.

A signed copy of this form must be given to the Subject or the Legal Representative at the time this signed form is provided to the researcher or his representative.

APPROVED	1
MAY 3 1 2007	
OU-NC IBB	l

Γ	APPROVAL
	MAY 3 0 2008
Ľ	EXPIRES

APPENDIX J

Accelerometer Log Sheet

Study ID

Accelerometer Log Sheet

								······
Comments								lums Bldg.)
Walk/Bike for Transportation? Type, Intensity, and Duration								y Assessment Lab (146 Col
Exercise or Sports Day? Type, Intensity, and Duration								og to the Physical Activity
Work Day? # of Hours Worked								uipment and this lo
Time Off (am/pm)								turn all eq
Time On (am/pm)								Re
Date	Wed 9/5	Thurs 9/6	Fri 9/7	Sat 9/8	Sun 9/9	Mon 9/10	Tucs 9/11	Wcd 9/12

** If you forget to wear your accelerometer at any time during the day, please put it on as soon as you remember and record this in the Comments section.

** Picase remember to remove your accelerometer while swimming, bathing or showering. It is important that the accelerometer does not get wet.

** If you remove your accelerometer to go swimming or to participate in some other type of activity, please record the type of activity, intensity and duration in the Comments column.

APPENDIX K

Data

NQ (300	Açe	касе	Mar	KIO I	Educ En	NDE IN	c smc		MODO P	SRI .	Height	weight in	207	SMI 07	V2HO	00 re7	100_MV3		mvi_mi 654	mn_v	- 10 N	- FEO 73	1.0.00	177	
100	03 DR				5	4	в <u>ц</u>		2		.04	140	33.7	24.03		193.47	1/4	04.0	104	0.17	20	350.73	14 72	177	
100	A DC				5	4				0	00	190	30.3	26.2		133.43	17 6667	5 3 3 3	47.6		2.037	330.14	13.66	242	
KOU	15 /2	> 5	3	0	3	-	1 0	1	1	U	83,5	120	37.8	20.4	0	5.3333	4/.000/	5.333	47,5		0.167	00.000	13.30	213	
4000	HG 70	5	1	0		5	8 0	0	1	U	82.5	161	41	20.97	2	2.2	46.8	2.2	40.8		4 200	100.32	13.02	104	
DODA	17 57	6	Б	0	5	1	8 0	0	3	1	66.5	138	25.5	21.62	- :	52.5/1	149,857	44./1	145.57	0	4.200	200.03	14.00	190	
H100	8 52	2 6	1	0	- (1	8 0	0	0		63.5	134	34.2	24.91	5	21.333	82.3333	16.5	/8	0	4.333	202.97	13.94	377	
*100	9 62	2 6	1	0	4	1	8 0	0	3	0	83.5	147	27.3	25.63	- 7	46.571	123.857	46.57	123.86			153,4	16.43	3//	
idut	11 54	6	2	0	3	2	6 C	0	3	0	65	125	23.3	20.8		197.29	309.143	171.1	287.29	12.4	21.86	502.68	16.31	202	
1001	2 63	5 6	1	0	7	1	8 C	0	1	0	65.5	133.5	23.5	21.88	5	168.6	217	140.4	253.4	0	23.6	750.67	14.62	1//	
idüt	3 57	6	1	0	5	1	8 C	0	1	0	68	193	42.1	29.34	6	19.333	127.667	13.5	120.5	0	7.167	201.33	15.77	186	
1001	15 63	56	1	0	5	7	8 0	0	1	1	58	115	18.9	24.03	. 7	115.14	215.714	94.71	202.43	12.1	13.29	363.2	15.69	196	
1001	16 60	36	2	0	5	2	6 0) 0	1	0	63	130	24.6	23.03	5	151.17	247.5	117	221	20.3	26.5	462.13	15.77	177	
id01	17 57	5	1	0	7	-1	8 0	F 1.	1	0	65	151	35.3	25.13	7	155.29	221.286	129.1	202.71	3.71	18.57	418.78	14.01	177	
id01	18 54	ι δ	1	0	7	1	8 0) 0	1	0	64	177	40.4	30.38	6	106.67	182,667	69.67	173.5	0	9.187	295.36	14.02	177	
id0 1	19 63	36	1	0	7	7	8 0	1 1	1	1	65	194	48.4	32.28	7	53.429	154.857	42.43	146.14	0	8.714	223,42	14.24	\$77	
id02	20 55	54	5	0	7	1	7 0	0	1	0	64	158	39.2	27.12	7	174.57	268.571	147.3	249.57	3.14	19	403.59	14.85	\$77	
id02	21 55	56	2	0	7	1	6 0	1 0	1	1	62.5	168	40.9	29.87	.6	59.833	165,167	42.33	151.67	5.67	13.5	207.85	14.89	398	
id02	22 50	7 (2	1	7	1	4 0	1 1	0		64.5	162	33.7	27.37	.6	79.667	202.5	56.17	184.67	0	17.83	262.32	15.3	198	
id02	23 53	57	1	0	7	1	8 0	1 1	1	0	63	139	33	24.62	6	61.833	139.167	28.83	114.5	21	24.67	442.97	14.23	177	
id02	24 56	56	1	0	4	7	4 0	1 1	1	0	56	195	37.5	31,47	7	129.14	220.143	122.7	215.14	1.86	5	353,02	14,4	177	
id02	25 54	t 6	5	0	7	1	7 0	0	1	0	66	185	42.7	30.02	7	109.29	197	107.7	195.29	0	1,714	367,01	14.9	\$77	
H002	26 57	6	1	0	4	1	8 0) 0	1	0	68	152	34.3	23.11	6	41.167	139.333	41.17	139.33	0	0	185.99	14.92	177	
id02	27 60	36	1	0	7	5	2 (0	1	0	62.5	172.5	38.8	31.04	7	232.57	335,429	232.6	334.43	0	1	427.51	14,91	177	
:402	29 52	2 6	1	0	7	1	8 C	0	1	0	62	140	30.9	25.6	7	113	192,714	103.3	180.14	0	12.57	384.3	16.39	177	
603	yo 7:	36	1	0	4	7	7 () 1	1	0	67	176	42.4	27.58	6	25.833	97.6867	25.83	97.667	0	0	174.42	13.62	177	
6003	31 52	2 6	1	0	4	-1	8 0) 0	0		67.5	170.5	36.7	26.31	7	115,43	233.285	111.9	229.86	0	3.429	345.44	15.34	177	
id03	32 64	1 2	2	0	7	1	6 () 0	1	1	59	107	27.7	21.61	6	85.333	202.167	73	193.67	2	8.5	374.99	14.82	198	
ic03	34 6-	\$ 5	3	0	4	1	6 ())	1	0	66	198	44.8	31.95	7	155,86	263.143	155.9	261.71	0	1.429	371.41	15.94	177	
:003	35 56	54	1	0	4	1	8 0))	1	0	- 59	162		32,72	6	192.5	302.5	192.5	301	0	1.5	423.32	14.56	186	
id03	37 55	9 6	1	0	4	1	8 (0	1	1	65	154	35.9	25,62	7	21,286	73.5714	21.14	73.286	0	0.286	156.98	14.28	177	
id03	39 5	\$ 6	1	ō	7	1	8 0	, , 0	1	0	63	128.5	30.1	22.76	7	87.143	167.571	77.29	159.71	Ó	7.857	389.24	14,46	228	
id04	10 5	6	1	0	4	1	8 0	0	1	0	65	149	53.4	24.79	5	52.2	154.6	51.2	153.2	Ó	1.4	256.87	15.04	177	
intO4	11 5-	6	1	2	5	ł.	7 0	5 0	1	ō	61.5	122	31.5	22.68	7	130.86	245	130	242.14	ō	2.857	426.57	14.12	198	
id04	12 5	5 6		ō	5	1	7 0	5 1	1	ō	69.5	141	27.8	20.52	6	97.5	200.5	97.5	200	ō	0.5	279.97	14.63	177	
id 04	13 69			ō	7	7		, o		1	65	114	26.6	18.97	7	34,571	80.5714	34.57	80.571	ō	0	126.67	15.13	177	
id04	4 5	5 6	1	ō	5	÷.	8 0	1 1	i	ó	65	168	40.5	27.95	7	97.143	167 286	80.29	157.14	5.71	10.14	408.87	14.92	177	
id04	15 54	6 6	1	1	ž	÷	8 0	 	i	ō	64.5	155.5	32.5	26.28	6	158.67	257.5	154.7	253	0	4.5	416.41	14.89	177	
d04	16 6	6 6	1	ò	7	,	8 (i i	1	ō	69	207	42.3	30.57	6	61.5	130 167	60.17	129.67	ō	0.5	177.43	14.92	177	
1404	47 6	7 1		ō	7	1	6 (1	1	ō	60	172	46	33.59	7	33,857	109 268	33.86	109	ō	0.285	166.13	14.6	177	
1004	18 6	5 6	2	ō	7	1	5 (n a		ō	66	171	32.7	27:8	5	159	248	159	241	ō	5	526.87	15.87	197	
404	49 6	5 6	ī	ō	ż	,	8 0	n n		ň	66	182	39.4	29.37	7	80 714	151 714	80 71	151.57	ō	0.143	244.3	14.43	208	
id04	50 R	3 6		ő	à	5	6 (1	ō	67	229	48.3	35.86	4	19	67.5	19	67.5	ō	0	141.94	12.94	177	
100	51 51	A A		ň	4	7	A (1 1	1	1	68	168	36.6	27 11	6	108.5	193 167	103.7	191 67	0	15	295.49	13 72	177	
1000	52 54	a a	÷	ň	4	÷	ă î		1		65	147	37	24 4B	7	98 286	181	93.86	174 71	ň	6 286	380.79	14 08	\$77	
**34	51 70	, 0 1 A	÷	ň	,	7	7 0				64	143	35.7	24 54	,	52 714	114 571	52 71	134.43	ő	0 143	196 53	14.1	173	
100	50 R	2 8		ň	Å	2	A C			÷	68	155.5	35.4	25.1	Å	170.5	266	168.2	261.67	ň	2 3 3 3	430 35	13.56	\$73	
100-	5 5	5 8	5	ŏ	5	-	8 0		-	ń	63	115	23	20.37	7	50 714	158 857	50 71	157.86	ň	1.000	234 44	17.81	177	
100	50 50				6	4	6 0		4	ő	66.5	184	32.6	26.57	7	89.786	240 4/3	97 14	200	ŏ	1 443	133 28	14 58	177	
100	57 6				5	-	A (Š			63	182	40	32.24	÷	81	168 143	50 43	184 57	ŏ	3 571	258 59	15 11	186	
	57 54 58 64	, 0 , 8			ŝ	ŝ		í ě		0	63.5	126	28.4	22 92	,	42 571	140 420	38.43	135 71	ŏ	4 714	205 18	15.85	177	
5406	50 G			0	7	1					63	146	20.4	25.86	6	128 17	276.5	122.43	2216		4.7 (4	439.85	15.24	177	
:400	19 JS			~	- 1	-				:		166	31,7	23.00	2	07 744	160 143	122.0	201.0	2 00	E 143	217 30	16.82	177	
100	DU DU E4 7			0		3	2 0				200.0	142	33	24.0		E0.74	100,143	13.00	121.25	3.00	0.140	274 40	14.12	172	
	51 I 57 7.		:			÷					6.6	159	21.5	25.45	2	50,15	147 75	51 26	144.5	ő	3.75	200.45	13.87	173	
	12 7		;		ž	5	e (Ś			67	173	35.7	22.00	-	14.05	01.75	14 26	01.26		4,25	141 10	13.67	177	
	1 7 K	5 6	5		7	;	2 1	, U		,	59.5	30	26.2	19.04		103.75	164 75	07 74	181.5		-3.25	268.45	13.95	177	-
inte	ω ε.		Â	ŏ	,	4		, .	, i	•	64	136	27.6	22.34		16 75	70.25	16 75	68	ő	2 25	185.67	13.5	176	
1404	20 C	, , , ,	ž		÷	÷	ě í			•	60	127	22.5	23.23	,	71 744	127 571	74 71	127 67	Ň		105.04	14 14	177	
1000	50 0.				7	'	5 (, ,	•	•	61.6	141	42.0	28.23		74	460.0	71	165.37			249 74	12.05	177	
1300	70 54				- 1				0		00.0	221	49.2	40.07	7	130 10	200142	400.1	207		2 141	210.68	13.05	177	
	71 6				;	1					54	170	42.5	20.10		149.79	249.143	46 74	172		2.140	210.00	14.62	177	
-407	() U	, U	- 1		5	÷			:			204	42.0	23.10	÷,	40	104	40.73	134	Š	-	100.03	14.68	177	
107	74 C				3	4					64 5	156	43.0	37.07	÷.	30 744	444 744	39.29	100	Ň	0.420	120.1	14.00	177	
5403					1	5			-		01,0	100	43.1	37.03	÷,	30.714	192.710	30.71	111.20		0.429	161 70	14.23	177	
1007	10 04 70 6				5	4					00.0	228	49	37,03		29.(14	113.5/1	29.71	113.5/	0	0.022	101,19	14.33	111	
id07	10 5			0	4	1	0 (, 0		2	63	210	40.2	31.2	6 -	43 400	69.5	24.33	09.10/	1.10	0.333	133,20	14.27	177	
8007	. 5	. 1	_ !	0	0	1	0 (1	0	60	138	34.4	x4.90		43.429	138.429	40.29	139,71	1.43	3./14	294.24	15.20		
id07	10 51	* 6	1	U		1	o (, 0	1	U	61.5	127	34	23.61	5	11.167	12.6333	37.37	12.667	0	0.167	104.72	13.52	1//	
id07	ret 70		1	0	8	1	í (0	3	0	56	126	22.8	20.33		01.857	1/0.571	61.43	109.57	0		233.88	15.00	1//	
idül	ու 5՝	1 6	2	1	5	1	1 4	• •	1	0	66	210	47.7	33.89	4	79.5	180.75	/9.5	160	0	0.75	299.94	12.95	177	
id08	51 54	6	1	1	7	1	8 (1	1	0	67	141	31.7	22.08	7	185.71	286.429	171.3	275	0	11.43	448.34	16.39	177	
idOE	62 G	16	1	0	4	1	8 (0	1	0	63.5	168.5	34.9	29.38	7	92-857	195.714	91	193	0	2.714	318	14.89	177	
id08	53 53	2 1	3	0	5	1	6 () ()	1	1	66.5	145	29.4	23.05	7	52,143	141.857	49.29	137.43	1.14	4.429	235.91	16.22	187	
idoti	64 63	2 6	з	0	7	1	6 (0 0	1	1	64	169	41.6	29.01	6	23.333	144.667	23.33	144.67	0	0	164.44	15,16	177	
idbi	56 64	J 6	1	0	2	1	5 4	• 0	1	0	63	125	30,4	22.14	6	100.5	190.187	99.33	187.83	0	2.333	402.39	13.81	177	
id08	58 5	6	1	3	3	1	7 () 0	1	1	63.5	153	33,4	26.67	7	47.857	165.714	45.29	154.29	0	1.429	236.12	15.28	177	
adDe	89 5-	6	1	0	2	2	6 (0	1	0	64	158	34.2	27.12	7	290.57	364.571	290.6	353.71	0	0.857	496.21	15.24	220	
409	90 5	16	1	0	6	5	8 () 0	0		64.5	121	25.8	20.45	5	133.6	210.4	109.4	195.6	0	14.8	484,92	14,58	177	
id05	91 63	26	1	0	4	1	7 (0 (1	0	62	145.5	36.2	26.61	7	64.571	148.571	62.66	146	0	0.571	195,07	16,11	177	
1005	92 54	0 6	1	0	4	1	6 (30	1	1	63.5	142	35.2	24,76	7	52.143	158.429	49,14	154.43	2.43	4	222,98	16.01	177	

id093	62	6	2	0	4	2	6	0	0	1	0	65.5	195	43.1	31.95	5	39.4	142.4	39.4	142.2	0	0.2	215.74	15.41	177
id094	55	6	2	0	6	1	6	0	1	1	0	67	233	45	36.49	6	46.167	118.333	46.17	118.33	0	0	184.11	14.56	177
id095	60	6	1	0	7	7	7	0	1	1	1	64	136	35.2	23.34	7	87.857	165,143	87.86	164.86	0	0.286	298.43	15.09	177
id096	60	6	1	0	7	6	2	б	1	1	0	66	197	42.5	31,79	7	14.286	85.2857	14.29	85,143	0	0.143	158.13	13.06	188
rd097	57	6	1	0	7	1	8	0	0	1	1	70.5	180	34.7	25.46	5	2	68	2	68	0	0	118.01	14.8	177
id098	57	6	2	0	5	2	6	0	0	1	0	63	143	33	25.33	7	178_29	251	178.3	249.86	0	1.143	329	15.25	187
id099	59	6	4	0	6	7	5	0	0	1	0	59.5	125	33.7	24.82	7	29.857	95.7143	26.71	92.857	0	2.857	181.38	15.39	187
id 100	55	6	1	1	7	з	7	0	٥	1	1	64	152	31.3	26.09	4	40.75	132	38.75	131.25	0	0.75	184.98	14,78	177
id 10 t	50	6	1	0	5	2	6	0	0	0		64	159	38.2	27.29	7	57.571	141.714	57.57	141	0	0.714	276.24	15.77	176
id 103	72	8	1	0	4	5	6	0	0	1	0	62.5	131	27.3	23.58	7	7.5714	61.7143	7.571	61.714	0	0	100.99	15.9	177
id 104	53	8	1	0	6	7	6	0	1	1	1	61.5	124	29.1	23.05	. 7	216.86	297,714	216.9	297	0	0.714	388.49	14.06	177
id106	59	8	3	0	6	1	5	0	0	1	1	68	150	31.6	24.21	5	40.2	101	40.2	100.2	0	0.8	185.47	14.88	227
id 107	60	5	2	0	5	1	8	0	0	1	1	63	149	35.6	28.39	7	9.5714	74.4286	9.286	73.143	0	1.266	151.25	14.1	177
id 108	53	6	5	0	7	1	8	0	0	1	0	67	209	44.8	32.73	5	114.8	237.8	111	234.6	0	3.2	416.74	13.42	173
id 109	59	6	2	0	4	1	7	0	1	1	1	61	130	31.5	24.56	7	26.571	104,143	26.57	103.57	0	0.571	177.02	13.39	177
id\$10	72	6	1	0	4	7	8	0	0	.0		65	137	32.4	22.8	5	124.2	180.4	124	179.6	0	0,8	376.8	13.16	177
id111	74	6	1	0	3	1	1	0	0	1	0	60.5	108	28.5	20.74	6	10.5	64.3333	10.5	64.333	0	0	119.56	15.81	1//
id112	53	6	1	1	3	5	8	0	0	1	Ò	87.5	141	26.1	21.76	7	303	375	246.3	332	39	43	716.91	15.46	177
10113	51	4	1	0	4	7	8	0	0	0		62.5	118	15	21.24	5	49.5	179	45.8	176.8	0	2.2	257.06	14.25	1/6
10114	62	6	1	0	7	.7	8	0	0	1	0	65	141	36.1	23.46	6	176.33	246.667	160.2	232.17	7,67	14.5	493.33	13.6	1//
10115	64	6	2	0		4	-	0	0	1	0	67	158	33.6	24.74	- '	19.429	92.8571	19.43	92.714		0.143	145.88	14.35	1//
10116	65	6	1	0	6		7	0	1	1	0	63	137	33.3	24.27	6	46.167	118.667	46.17	118.67	0	0	184.76	15.63	177
10117	1	6	3	0	4		6	0	0	0	0	63.5	151	40.8	26.33		46.286	146.286	46.29	145.66	U O	0.429	221.89	13.47	200
6118	53	6	1	0	4	1		6	0	1	0	63	138	35.4	24.44	6	23.833	168.5	22.17	167	U	1.5	264.88	14,46	
10319	69			0	2	4		0	1	1	2	62.5	133.5	33.0	24.03	2	25 744	105.0	40.71	100.0	0	0	220.99	14 07	177
14121	74	5		0	2	,		0	0	-		64	140	16.9	10.46		40.714	201 206	405.2	120,43	0	6 714	450 61	14:04	177
61122	58	5	,	0	;	4	7			-		65	125	28.6	20.8		100.00	134 25	32 75	130.5	ň	3.71	248 43	13.87	210
14423	65	6	2	ň	é	÷	à	~	ò			66.5	156	32.6	24.0	6	12.73	61 9292	13 33	61 667	ň	0 187	126 25	13 01	189
10120	60	6	-	ň	ž	7	8	ň			ň	86	187	45.1	30 18	5	24.4	91.2	24.4	912	0	0.107	140.00	14 69	177
1125	65	6	1	ő	5	÷	ă	õ	ò	Ť	ň	83	139	34.6	24.62	6	315	125 167	315	124 67	ő	05	218.61	14.53	177
id126	67	6	à	ñ	3		5	ň		÷	ň	R4	159	38.4	27 79	,	89 714	160	87 43	158 43	ō	1 571	263.44	13:26	177
id128	75	6	1	ō	3	7	5	ō	ó	Ť	ō	57	128	37.6	27.7	7	5 7143	67 4266	5,714	67.429	ů.	0	126.71	14.94	197
id129	59	6	1	ō	7	7	8	ŏ	õ	i	.i	60.5	154.5	37.7	29.67	, ,	141.71	240,714	140.7	239.71	ō	1	342.4	15.38	177
id130	68	5	3	ō	3	7	3	ō	ō	Ó		66.5	211	50.7	33.54	4	9 25	51	9.25	61	Ó	Ó	94.056	13.62	203
id131	54	1	2	ō	5	1	7	ō	ō	1	1	65	142	31	23.63	7	102.71	189	96.86	182.43	à	6.571	347.55	14.02	177
id133	63	6	2	ò	з	7	5	ō	ō	1	ó	61	134	26	25.32	7	104.43	205,714	100.4	201.71	0	4	473.26	14.69	261
id134	71	8	t	0	4	7	7	0	5	1	D	52	144	38.7	26.34	ė	53.667	132.833	53.67	132.5	Ó	0.333	231.29	12.92	\$74
id135	72	6	3	0	3	7	4	0	0	1	0	61.6	158	36.8	29.37	.5	47.4	153.4	47.4	163.4	0	io.	221.59	14.52	177
id136	58	8	2	0	5	1	8	1	0	1	0	65	158	38.1	28.29	7	18.429	80.1429	18.43	80	0	0.143	140.03	14.3	177
id137	58	5	1	0	5	7	7	0	1	1	1	63	116	24.6	20.55	7	122.86	247	104.3	233.14	9.57	13.86	381.93	15.52	177
id 138	57	5	1	0	7	1	6	0	0	1	0	62	141	33.2	25.79	5	37.2	153.2	35 <i>A</i>	152.2	0	1	223.54	14,45	177
id139	52	6	2	0	7	1	7	0	0	1	0	65	132	29.2	21.96	7	73.571	191.714	70.71	188.14	0	3.571	300.22	15.65	186
id140	56	5	1	0	7	1	8	0	1	1	0	67	189	43.2	29.6	5	48.6	131.8	43.2	125.4	1.8	6.4	326.14	14.78	177
id141	52	6	1	0	8	1	8	0	1	1	0	65.5	138	27.5	22.61	6	30.333	125.333	28.33	123.17	0	2.167	207.79	15.66	177
id142	57	6	1	0	5	1	8	0	0	1	0	63.5	133	32.9	23.19	7	68	141.429	53.71	127.14	5.71	14,29	272.74	15.44	173
id143	51	6	1	0	5	1	6	0	0	1	0	67.5	128	28.5	19.75	7	28.429	116.143	26.86	115.29	0	0.857	191.92	15.26	173

*

· · ·

bundiy i	umac	stoon	infr	aast	Inaff	crim	lkok	lkovi	ы	barr	dest20	nursenvel	nwsanvm	owsread	owsrecm	restrict	owstrop	owswikany	nwswikrec	nwswiktr	towik	
4.304	2.67	3	3	2.25	2.33	1	1	3	<u>-</u> 1	1 1	21	0	0	G	0) 0	0	0	0	0	
2.565	2	3	2.67	3.75	1	1	3	1	i i	1 1	13	4	40		40	č		150	150	0	45	
3.478	з	4	2.33	2.5	2.33	1	2	1	1	2 1	22	7	30	6	30	C C) (210	180	0	0	
2.261	2.33	2.5	2,17	2,75	2.67	1	4	4	1 1	1	10	0	0	0) ()	· () (, 0	. 0		45	
2.261	2.67	3.5	1.67	4	1.33	1.33	1			1 1	9											
1.304	1	1,5	2	3.75	2	1	2	1	1 1	2 4	1	3	30	3	30	. () () 90	90	. 0	0	
1.696	1	3.5	1.33	2,75	1.33	1	2	2	2 1	1 1	. 6	0	0	0) 0) () 0	, 0	· .	30	
1.957	3	3	2.33	3	3.33	2.87	1	3	3 1	1 2	? 3	4	60	- 4	60) (240	240	. 0	20	
1.174	1	1	1.67	2.25	2	1	1	4	4	4 1	1	6	60	5	i 30	c) (360	150	· 0	420	
1.826	2	2.5	1,67	3.25	2.67	1	-1	1	1	3 3	6											
3.522	4	2.5	3.67	3.25	3	1	3		1	1	19	1	30	0) 0	<u> </u>) (30	• •		30	
2.783	3.67	3.5	3.5	3.25	1	1	1	- 2	2	1 1	12	1	15	2	2 50	<u> </u>) (105	100		210	
2.087	2	1,5	1.83	3.75	2.33	1	2	- 1			9		20		20	0		140	140			
1.043			1.85	3.73	4.07	1	2						30	3	5 30			90	50			
5 666	267	3.5	1.5	3.75	1.07	4 3 3							70		20	÷		30	1 20			
2.000	2.0/	7	2.93	3	1 87	1 33	,		2		1 14		30						, JO		്ക്	
3 174	3	2	2.00	275	3.33	1.33	•	3	ί.	. 1	18		ő	č	, <u> </u>	Ì		i o	, õ		0	
2.783	4	3	1 83	3.5	2	1.67	1			1 2	10	7		Č	, o	, i	i i		, õ		40	
3.13	4	3.5	1.83	2.5	3.67	1	i	2			18	7	20	,	20		, i	140	140		140	
1.565	1	2.5	1.5	2.5	2	1.33	3	3	5	1 3	4	ò	0	Ó) 0	ċ	, c	0	0		10	
1.087	1	1	1,17	3.25	-0.67	1	2	2	2 4	6 1	1	7	50	Ċ	> 0		5 80	420	, O	300	40	
1.826	3.67	3	3.83	3.5	2	1	1	2	2	1 1	1 7	7	40	7	40	· () (280	280	0	280	
1	1	1		4	1.33	1	1	1	1 3	2 1	ı 0	5.5	45	5.5	i 45	. c) (247.5	247.5	C	420	
2.478	3	3		3.75			3	1	1 :	t 1	10	7	25	5	5 20	1	1 40	175	; 100	40	210	
3.217	3.33	2.5	2.5	3.75	3	3	3	2	2 .	t 1	18											
1.261	1	3	3	Z.25	1.67	1	2		2	1 1		1	5	1	20	· · ·) () 5	20	· .	1 0	
2.585	3	1	1.67	3.25	1.67	1.33	1	3	3	1 2	2 15	0	20	c) 20) () (r • O) G	0	
1.217	1	4	2.83	4	1	1	1	3	3 3	3 3	1				-			· ·		_		
3.435	2.33	2	2.5	4	1	. 1	1	1	t	1 1	17	5	40			~ { }) 200			0	
4.435	3	3	3.83	3.75	1.67		1	4			1 23		50	1	60		1 30) 420	420		225	
7.087	,	2	1	4	2.33	1.33	2			2 2	2 1	. 5	45		7 45			225	220		, , , , ,	
3 348		2.5	2	2.0	1.0/	1.33	1						30		, 30 N 0			187	2.0			
1.040		2	317	2/0	3.0/	-						. 3	00		, U		, i	, 100	. 0			
2.348	2 67	2	1.67	3.5	2.67								30		, o 1 0		, . , ,	, 90 1 90	ы о 1		75	
1.783	1.67	2	1.07	4	2.01		;					7	20		5 20		, .	140	100		210	
1	1	ĩ	1	35	1 33						i	; ;	45	Č	j _0		j i	315		, c	80	
2.478	2.33	3	3.33	4	1.67	1	3	. 1	i -	1	15	2	30		2 30		5 10) 60	J 60	50	0	
1,478	2	3	2.83	3.75	1	1	2	1	1	1 :		7	120	2	7 120	, c		840	840	i (0	
	4	3	3.17	- 4	1.67	1	1		1	1	i 22	4	65		65) 260	260) (120	
	2	1	1.17	2.75	4	1	3	. :	1	3 3	3 1	7	30) O			210) 0) (180	
1	1	1	1	2.5	3	1	2		4	t ·	1 () 7	30) 0	1 7	7 60	210) 0	120	840	
1.609	3.33	Э.5	2.67	4	2.33	1.33	2		2	* :	1 3	15	90	5	5 90	· (3 () 450	1 450) (.450	
1.609	2,67	2	2,5	3.5	2.67	1	1	:	3 3	3 1	1 4	1	35	c) 0	•) () 35	, 0	· .	0	
2.217	2	2	2.67	2.75	2	1	1		2	1 1	i 10	2	60	2	2 60	•) () 120	120		0	
1.217	2	3.5	2.33	3	1	1	1		1	1	1 1	1	50	c) 0	•) () 50	0		0	
1.217	1	1.5	1.5	- 1	3.67	1	1		3 :	3 1	3 1	2	45	· · · ·	0 0			90	. 0		0	
3.13	2.33	3	2	3	2.33	2				2			0		J 0							
1.067	2.0/	2.3	2 2 2 2	3./5	1.01		1						30		s 30 i 30) 50) 120	/ 90 1 120			
2 174	3 22	2.0	2.33	3 75		1	2		1			4			- 30 5 20		, L	, 120.) 770	100	6.2		
2.1/4	1 67	3.3	2.03	3.15	3.67	267		. 3	а •				45		45		r 50. n 17) AF	45		í õ	
1,261		1.5	3.5	2.75	1.37	1.67			2	1			20		2 30) 121	u+ DA (0	
1.435	3	2.5	2.67	3	2.33	2	2		2	1 3	2 3	2	30		2 30			60) 60	, c	20	
2.217	1.67	4	2.83	3.5	2.33	1	- 1		2	2 2	2 10	2	10	č) Ö	, i	, ,) 20) 0	, (0	
3.826	4	3	3.33	4	2.33	1	1		1	1 1	1 19	5	60	5	5 60) () 300	J 300	· .	840	
1.609	2.67	3	1.33	1.75	2	1	1	- 4	4	1	5 4											
1.261	2.67	3	3.67	3.75	2	1	2	1	1 :	2 1	1 3	1 7	37.5	1	7 30) (262.5	i 210		45	
1	1	1	1	2.25	4	1.67	2	· •	4 3	2 2	2 (I										
2.696	3	3.5	3.17	- 4	1.67	1.33	1	;	3	1 1	1 13	17	30	3	3 45	i 1	1 20) 210	135	20	180	
1,043	1.33	3	3.33	3	2.33	1.33	1	:	3	3 3	3 1	7	10	(0 C		2 10) 70	, 0	20	90	
	5	1.5	1.83	3,25	1	1	1		1	z ·	1 16	6	30) 0) () 160	, 0) () 180	
1.391	1	1.5	1.33	2.75	3.33	1	1		4 :	3 3	2 4	0	0		0 0		0 () (0) 0	
1.913	2.33	3	3.1/	2,25	2.33	1.67			3	1			0		ט כ				0			
1 700	1	!	1.33	3.75	2.67	. 1	1					3	60	5	s 60		u (/ 180	180		7260	
1.783	3	1	2.63	4		1	1		3	1		4	25		30		∓ 30	y 100	120	30	. ~	
1.043		2	7.33	3.5	2		1			3	. ~	7	20		, 0			140	, O		טיב י	
3.0/	- 1	4	167	3.5	107	1 1 1	2				. 20		0 m					, U	. 0			
1 912	2 67	2	1 37	375	7 27	1.30				, ,		1	00		, QU , 30			00	1 *50		900	
1.391	1.67		2.83	3.75	2.33	1.33	1 2						50		, 30 I 50		, , ,	, 210			30	
2.261	1	1.5	1.5	4	3	1.33			3 :	2	2 10		, JU	ć	 ,							
2.957	3.67	2.5	2.83	3	2	1.33	3		2	1	1 13	7	45		45		3 1!	315	; 315	45	210	
1	1	2	1,67	3.5	2.67	1.67	2		4 :	2	1 G	, 7	30	ċ			7 30) 210) 0	210	30	
	4	3	2.83	2.5	2	1	1		4	1 .	1 1	, .			-				-			
2:478	3	3	2.83	4	1	1.33	1		1	1	1 12	: 5	45		5 45		D (225	j 225	i (• •	
	2.33	2.5	1.83	3	2.67	' 1	1		4	1 .	1 8	i O	0				5 G) () 0	, (60	
		-			-																	

1.478 1.87 1.87 1.857 2.261 1.825 3.391 1.826 3.391 1.826 3.391 1.826 2.652 2.87 1.652 2.87 2.267 1.87 4.696 0.957 2 3.391 1.87 4.696 0.957 2.3391 1.87 4.696 0.957 2.3391 1.87 4.696 0.957 2.3391 1.87 4.696 0.957 2.217 3.174 4.696 1.217 3.391 1.87 2.633 1.217 4.696 0.957 2.217 1.217 1.632 2.639 1.217 4.636 0.957 2.217 1.632 2.639 1.217 4.636 0.957 2.217 1.637 2.639 1.137 1.217 1.137 1.217 1.137 1.217 1.137 1.217 1.13 1.217 3.174 1.137 1.217 1.13 1.217 1.137 1.217 1.13 1.217 1.13 1.217 1.13 1.217 1.13 1.217 1.13 1.217 1.13 1.217 1.13 1.217 1.13 1.217 1.13 1.217 1.13 1.217 1.13 1.217 1.13 1.217 1.13 1.217 1.13 1.217 1.13 1.217 1.13 1.217 1.13 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.217 1.13 1.217 1.67 1.333 3.333 2.333 2.333 2.333 2.333 2.333 2.333 2.333 2.333 2.333 2.333 2.333 2.257 2.677 2.677 2.677 2.677 2.13 3.233 4.4 3.333 2.333 2.333 2.333 2.4 3.367 1.12 2.677 2.677 2.13 3.233 2.335 2.435 2.677 2.637 1.1 1.1 3.33 2.333 4.1 3.267 2.2677 2.373 2.2677 2.373 2.373 2.373 2.373 2.2677 2.2677 2.373 2.373 2.373 2.373 2.373 2.373 2.373 2.375 2.2677 2.373 2.373 2.375 2.2677 2.375 0 2100 210 30 30 30 420 4 450 90 180 50 180 50 180 50 0 0 315 180 0 0 210 0 0 7.5 40 120 0 0 7.5 40 225 90 200 0 225 90 200 0 200 0 200 0 200 0 210 0 200 0 210 0 200 0 210 0 200 0 210 0 200 0 210 0 200 0 210 0 200 0 210 0 200 0 210 0 200 0 210 0 200 0 210 0 200 0 2 2 33 1.33 3 3 2 33 2 1.33 2 1 .33 2 1 .33 2 1 .33 2 2 .33 3 2 2 .33 3 2 2 .33 3 2 2 .33 3 2 2 .33 3 2 2 .33 3 2 .23 3 3 2 2 .13 3 2 .23 3 3 .67 1 1.67 1 1.67 1 1.67 1 1.67 1 1.67 2 2.67 1 1.67 2 2.67 4 2.67 4 1.67 2 .67 2 1.67 2 .67 2 1.67 2 077301745 732708663120700076
 0
 30
 35
 35
 35
 35
 35
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30
 30</ 0723017253732506364120300074 °33510°338293338331°331594723°°20°453453°°3222°80°°522154353 213311111122311211213411121141121212111111321111143 23244414331424344143744132214442122132241411112 112111121341111111111131111331111132111142111112 38610820716222215160561622309174110111651818184102141730410132323 420732107300026536 4 2 0 0 8 2 1 0 5 0 0 5 2 3 5 3 4 1 1.913 1.609 1 2.783 4.348 1.435 1.435 1.174 1.261

÷

twik	wknd	wika	htem	mrecaum vrecau	n meetre	s trwikd	trwikm itwike	d itw	dkm i	michtday	wikmtrec	byekrntrec	inwanymtrec	nwrecmbrec	nwtmtrec	groc	super	howr	
120	1	63.64	162.56	5	2	1 0	0	4	30	443795.7	0	0	0	0	0	ຶ່1	2	2	
60	1	66.36	172.72	7	0	1 3	15	2	30	314780.1	0	0	. 0	0	0	1 2	: 3	4	
180	1	70.45	166.37	0	0	o, c) 0	6	30	70425.17	1	0	1	1	a) 1	3	3	
0	0	73,18	158.75	0	0	0 1	45	0	0	83079	0	0	0	0	a		4	5	
	- 1	61.82	168.91	5	0	1				251891.7	0	0	0	0	0) 3	4	2	
120	1	60.91	156.21	2	0	0 0	0	4	30	169753	0	0	0		0		5 4	3	
240		66.82	161.29	4		0 2	2 15	2	120	151207.1	0	0						4	
120	,	56.62	165.1	ź	2		20	2	20	4921/9.8	- U		1 1	· · ·					
180		00.00	100.3/	5	0	1 <i>1</i>	60	•	30	1005273		1					, 3	5	
60		62.23	147 32	6	3	• • •		1	60	340045 3	ő				ŏ		3	4	
180		59 09	160.02	6	3	1 7	30	3	60	437333.2	0	1	ō	0	c c) 1	1	5	
280		68.64	165.1	7	0	1 0	0	7	40	350319.4	1	0	0	Ó	0) 3	5	5	
90	1	80.45	182.58	6	ō	1 0	0 0	3	30	248498.2	0	Ó	0		a	•	5	5	
0	1	88.18	165.1	3	0	0 0) O	0	0	190898	0	0	0	0	0	•	L 3	5	
300	;	71.62	162.56	7	0	1 0) 0	5	60	359542.6	. 1	0	0	. 0	a) 2	2 2	3	
0	1	75.45	158.75	5	0	1 3	3 20	0	0	185751.8	. 0	0	0	0	0) 3	3 4	5	
0	1	73.64	163.83	5	0	1 (o o	0	0	240806.5	0	0	0	0	٥) 4	2 2	2	
40	1	63.18	160.02	2	2	0 2	20	2	20	378296.8	0	0	0		C) 2	2 4	8	
30	1	88.64	167.64	7	0	1 1	20	1	30	305058	0	a	0		0		2 2	2	
50	1	84.55	167.64	7	0	1 1	10	1	50	328155.4	0	0	0					2	
0		69.09	172.72	4	0	0 2	2 20	7	0	100404.5	0		· .	1	1		5 5		
200		/8.41	158./0	1	0		40	2	40	302002.0									
225		63.64	107.48	4	0	. , . ,	. 30	1	45	1/2650 6	, ,		,					3	
30		77 6	171 45	-	0	1,		3	30	317007 7			. 0				2	2	
150		48.64	149.88	5	ō	i) 0	5	30	333429	1						5	5	
0		90	167.64	6	ō	1 0	o o	ō	õ	355120	0		0				2 3	5	
-	1	73.64	149.66	6	Q.	1	-	-	-	369906.8	0	ġ	. 0). O	0	•	l 5	6	
200	1	70	165.1	2	0	0 (0 (5	40	134462.6	1	-20	1	. 0	í C) 1	1 2	1	
360	1	58.41	160.02	7	0	1 :	5 45	6	80	337634.4	1		1	1	c) 1	1 2	2	
180	c	67.73	185.1	4	0	0 1	1 15 4	4.5	40	231847	. 0	0	1 1	i 1	C) (55	5	
120	1	55.45	158.21	7	0	1 (0	4	30	361426.6	0	0	• 1	1	0) 3	3 3	- 5	
75	1	54.09	176.53	6	0	1 () 0	5	15	245675.6	0	0	0	0	0		5	5	
0	1	51.82	165.1	5	0	1 (0	0	0	114999.4	0	a	0	0			15	5	
150	1	76.36	185,1	6	1	1	5 15	5	30	365992.7	!	0			6		2 5	-	
210	3	70.68	163.83	8	0	1	1 30	4	30	3/1996.5		1	U U						
40		94,09	1/5.28	5	0	1 4	20	1	40	158/90			1					-	
00		78.10	132.4		0			4	470	190009.1									
040		01.73	107.04		~	2 2		'n	120	211459.0							1	1	
ň	ċ	104.1	170 18		õ		5 30	ŏ	ő	110214.3			1			í i	1 5	÷	
ň	1	76.36	167 64	6	õ	1	7 120	ŏ	ă	244111.7			1			i	5 5	÷	
ő	1	66.82	165.1	6	ō	1	5 90	ō	ō	321655.6	; 0			1	Ċ) :	3 4		
ò	1	65	162.56	4	0	0 0	0	0	Ó	166236.6	0	0	0) 0) 3	35	4	
120	1	70,68	167.64	6	0	1 () 0	2	80	350025.7	. 0	0	ı 0) 0	. 0) :	3 3	3	
45	1	52.27	160.02	6	0	1 (0 (з	15	194314.1	0	0	. 0) 0	0) 4	I 5	5	
240	1	74.55	166.37	7	0	1 0	> 0	6	40	291474.6	1	C	. 0) 0	0) 3	35	5	
600	1	82.73	160.02	2	0	0 (0 0	2	300	234468.3	0	ç	· 0) C) 1	1 1	1	
90	1	58,18	161.29	3	0	0 2	2 30	3	30	280797.1	0	· C	• •) C	0		3	2	
150	1	66.36	5 160.02	6	0	1 (0 0	5	30	401409.7	1	C) 0				4		
30	1	70.91	168.91	5	0	1 1	5 10	3	10	320232.9			1				2 3	2	
120	1	65	168.37	2	0	u (ź	60	232633.8		· · ·					, a		
300		10.91	107.04	4	0	0 1	1 20	1	00	115364	, 1						. 0	-	•
150		43.64	151 13	4	õ	ň í	, <u>1</u> 0	5	30	274601	1							ē	
300	1	61,62	152.58	1	0	ō i	7 120	5	60	150393	1		1	1	ò) 1	1 1	4	
	1	57.73	157.48	5	0	1		-		166243.7	· .	ć	, o	, a	. c) :	4	4	
0	1	73.18	161.29	4	0	0 3	3 15	0	0	194811.6	. 0	- c) i	1	c) 3	5	e	
	1	105	5 157.48	7	0	3				266869.7	. 0	- C) 0) Q) (5 5	5	
90	1	77.27	162,56	5	0	1 4	45	3	30	184729	0	· .) 1		· C) 3	3 4	5	
0	1	93.64	157.48	4	0	0 (3 15	0	0	187265	0	· .) 0) (•) :	3 5	5	<u>.</u>
0	1	70.91	158.21	3	0	0 3	3 60	0	0	145747	, o	· .) 1	с с	, c)	1	3	
120	1	102.7	166.37	3	0	0 1	0 0	2	60	139113.3	0	C	0) C	¢		5	5	(
180	1	95.45	5 160.02	2	0	0 1	0	4	45	115766.7	0) (1 2		
120		62.73	165.1	3	U	U	081 1	3	240	223588.1							, 5 , 1	5	
100	-	57.72	5 100.21	2	0	υ I 4	J U 1 20	4	25	120209.2							. 3		
100	,	01.20	107.04	4	0			0	00	213424 4									
40		50.40 64 M	1 107.04	7	0	u 1	, u. 1 50	1	0 80	440797 4				, i		, i			
150		76 60	161 30	7	ň		5 150	5	30- 30-	284151 4	1								
- 50		85.01	184.91	5	õ	1	1 30	1	50	229575 0			, ,						
60	1	76.82	162.58	. 3	ō	o i	0	2	30	168029.3	i a) 0	, i			2 3	3	
540	1	56.82	160.02	6	0	1 1	7 30	6	90	333515.3	1	1	1	. i	ò		2 2	2	r
420	1	69.55	5 161.29	4	0	0	3 10	7	60	216453.6	1	ć) 1	ı c	. 1		5 5	5	i
	1	71.82	162.58	. 7	D	1				453602.7	, O	· () á) (· () 2	2 2	3	
225	1	55	5 183.83	4	0	0 (0 0	5	45	42411	; 1) 1	1	c) :	3 4	5	
30		66.14	157.48	4	0	0 :	3 20	1	30	188580.0	u 0) () () :	2 4		
135		64.5	5 161.29	1 4	0	0 (o o	3	45	214247,4	. 0) C) (· · ·) (55		

276		00.04	188 37		•		•	•		46	100475 8		•	0	n			2	5	5	
210	-	105.04	100.37	2		ő	÷	30	7	30	160984 2	:	1	1	1	ū		2	5	5	
210	- 1	61.02	140.10	;			ć	-00		36	270168 4		à	-	ò	č		2	Ā	5	
210	- 1	01.02	102.00	1	~		6	20	2	20	122052	÷		i.	õ	ō		1	Å.	5	
+0	:	03.33	107.09		š	, in the second s		30	-	20	104768 8	ů.		ě	ŏ	ō		;	5	ě.	
		01.02	1/9.07					Ň		20	200042 7	Ň	Ň	ŏ	ň	ž			ñ	Ă	
30		03	100.02			:				30	300942.7	ě							ž	2	
180	1	56.62	151.13	3	4	U	4	180	3	00	10/400	U	1	1				2	3	~	
60	1	69.09	162.56	2	0	0	2	20	2	30	164076	U	0	0				-	ć	~	
450	1	72.27	162,56			0	0	0	5	90	261364.3	1	U	1	1			3	2	2	
60	1	59.55	158.75	0	0	0	7	120	3	20	96360.57	0		U					4	3	
420	1	56.36	156.21	7	0	1	2	20	7	60	327722.3	1	8	1	1			1	5		
180	1	68,18	167.64	3	0	0	2	60	3	50	165550.4	0	0	U.	0			3	2	2	
0	1	67.73	160.02	0	.0	0	2	30	0	0	127933.4	0	0	0	0			2	3	3	
Q	D	95	170.18	5	0	1	7	20	0	0	335557.6	0	0	0	0	ų,		2	2	2	
60	1	59.09	154.94	3	0.	0	0	0	2	30	142174.1	0	0	0	0			3	4	1	
190	1	62.27	165.1	5	0	1	0	ø	6	30	297362.2	t	Ø	1	1	6		2	3	8	
225	1	49.09	153.67	1	0	0	0	0	5	45	113420.3	1	0	.0	0	0		2	2	3	
540	1	64.09	171.45	7	5	1	7	30	6	90	654986.6	1	1	1	1	0		2	5	5	
120	0	53.64	158.75	2	0	0	- 4	60	4	30	219943.8	0	0	0	0	C		1	1	2	
120	1	64.09	165.1	6	1	1	0	0	1	120	402641.8	0	0	0	0			5	5	5	
60	1	71.82	170.18	2	0	0	0	0	. 2	30	125580.6	Q	ø	¢	0	C		3	3	4	
0	1	62.27	160.02	3	0	0	7	60	0	0	173208.7	0	1	0	0	C		2	2	4	
60	1	68.64	161.29	5	0	1	5	40	3	20	179129.1	0	1	0	Û	0		3	5	5	
0	1	62.73	160.02	1	0	0	3	30	0	0	229782.2	0	0	0	0	0		3	5	5	
180	1	60.68	156.75	4	O,	D	1	60	3	60	192218.2	0	Ð	0	0			2	3	5	
0	1	66.36	162.56	5	0	1	1	20	Ö	0	271963.6	0	٥	o	G			4	5	5	
315	1	46.82	154.94	7	.0	1	7	45	7	45	411939.4	1	1	1	1	C C		3	4	5	
210	0	56.62	185.1	1	0	0		0	7	30	205027.5	1	0	1	0			1	2	4	
	1	70.91	168.91	1	0	0					105380.2	0	0	0	0			1	4	5	
225	1	85	167.64	2	0	0	0	0	5	45	124265.2	1	0	0.	۵			3	3	4	
90	1	63.18	160.02	3	o	0	3	30	3	30	188776.5	0	0	0	0	6		2	2	4	
210	1	72.27	162.56	7	.0	1	3	30	7	30	209585	1	`o	0	0			3	3	8	
0	1	58.18	144.78	1	Ó	0	ō	0	0	0	113552.4	0	0	1	0			3	5	8	
315	1	70.23	153.67	7	0	1	0	Û	7	45	315939.3	1	0	0	1			2	4	5	
0	1	95.91	168.91	1	ō	Ð	3	30	0	0	76843.5	0	Ó	0	ò			5	5	5	
60	1	64.55	165.1	7	ō	1	3	30	2	30	292441.7	Ó	0	o	a			3	4	5	
480	1	60.91	154.94	5	ō	1	ō	Ó	6	60	417141.9	1	0	o	Q			3	1	1	
450	1	65.45	157.48	3	ō	Ó	7	180	5	90	179286.7	1	1	1	0		i .	-4			
0	1	71.82	156.21	4	ō	ō.	5	120	Ď	0	193003.2	0		0	0			5	5	5	
ň	1	71.82	165.1	2	0	ō	ō	0	ō	Ō	120109.1	ò	Ó	ō	0	Ċ	•	3	3	5	
ő	÷	52 73	160.02	7	2	ĩ	ő	ō	ň	ŏ	355985.9	à	ŏ	õ	0			3	4	4	
ň	6	64.09	157.48	2	ō	ò	ŏ	ŏ	ō	ñ	193902.2	ō	ó	Ó	ō	Ċ		5	5	5	
20	1	60	165 1	ĩ	0	Ď	ŏ	õ	1	20	281818 7	ō	ň	õ	ō	Ċ		2	2	5	
340	- 1	85 01	170 18	3	ŏ	ñ	ň	ő	Å	60	286693.6	1	õ	õ	ō	Ċ		1	1	2	
225	- 4	62 71	168 17	2	ŏ	ŏ	ň	ő	5	45	195290 3		ň	ĭ	1	Ċ		Å.	5	5	
190		BD AK	161 70	1	4	ň	ň	ň	6	30	252873.3		ñ	'n	à	Ċ		3	5	5	
134	- 1	58 14	171 45	2	÷	ŏ	ň	ő	3	45	175693		ŏ	ĩ	ō			3	5	5	
145				-		•	•	v	•	40		•		,	•			-		-	

s.

*

												. .						-							
fruit	laund	1 010	ath m	uana lib	(B	emsçut	hersc bi	DOK 1	flood	coffee	bank	offood	video	pharm	salon	work	, bu	us park	rec	9ym	groc20	market20	hrdwr20	Truit20	laund20
	<u> </u>	1	1	1	4	1.	2	1	1	1	1	1		1	4		9	6	1 4						
	, . ,	÷	-	2	2	2	э. э	4	2	2					3		3						, ,	1	;
		5	5	5	5	3	;	2	2	5	ŭ	2	5	5	Ă		ě.	8	3 3				, . n 0		, i
		3	Ă	2	5	5	- 2	5	4	,	3	2	5	2	Å		5	5	1 5		ŝ		o o		
		ā.	5	5	5	4	5	5	4	5	5	5	5	5	4		5.	5	5 5			1 1	0 0	0	0
		2	B	a	8	2	å	8	3	3	8	8	3	ā	В		8	8	8 8			• •	0 0	a	1
	ŗ,	4	Ā.	4	4	2	4	5	4	4	- 4	4	8	4	4		4	5	5 5				1 0	a	σ
:	, .	4	5	8	8	8	2	8	8	8	5	8	8	8	6		8	8	58		3 1	D	0 0	0	Ū
	5	2	5	3	5	4	5	5	5	2	5	4	5	2	4		5	8 -	4 5		5	1	1 0	a	1
1	3	2	1	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	3	2	2		8	1	1 8	. :	2	1	1 0	C	1
4	i i	4	1	1	8	4	8	2	3	3	1	3	1	3	1		9	8	e a	1 A	1 ·	1	1 0	C	0
:	5	3	5	4	5	2	4	5	5	3	3	2	5	4	3		5	2	28	1		1	o 0	0	1
	3	8	5	5	а	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	8		5	5	5 5		5 1	ו ם	o 0	0	r 0
		5	4	5	5	5	- 4	3	- 4	4	4	3	3	5	5		9	.3	1 5		5 1	0	1 0	1	6
	3	3	4	5	5	1	3	- 4	3	3	2	3	- 4	4	- 4		5	8	18	1 3	5	1	1 1	0	1 3
:	5 ·	4	5	5	5	2	1	5	3	3	3	1	3	- 4	3		4	2 :	2 5		\$ ·	1 1	0 0	0	. 0
	?	3	3	5	5	1	2	3	3	2	2	3	- 4	2	3		9	2	1 5		1	1	۱ ۱	1	1.
- 4	k i	4	5	5	5	1	5	5	1	2	1	1	2	4	1		5	1	18		5	1 1	D 0	0	. 0
4	5	3	5	3	3	2	1	3	2	2	2	2	2	2	2		9	2	35		i '	1	1 1	0	· 1,
:	5	8	5	5	5	3	8	5	4	5	3	5	5	5	5		5	5	15		5 ·	1	D 0	a	0
-	5.	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5		5	5	55		5 ·	1 1	o 0	0	i 0
	1	3	5	5	5	5	5	5	3	5	2	5	5	5	5		9	.1	1 3			•	0 0	a	1
1	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5		5	5	55	5	5 1	D +	D 0	Q	Ð
	i -	4	8	5	5	1	2	3	1	1	2	4	4	5	4		9	5	4 8	18	1	1 '	1 1	1	0
	2	2	3	2	3	3	3	8	2	2	2	3	8	2	2		5	8	1 2	4		1	1 1	1	1
	5	4	5	5	5	4	4	5	5	5	- 4	5	5	5	5		5	5 -	4 5) (0 1	0 0	0	0
	3	3	4	3	5	3	3	5	1	3	2	3	5	3	3		5	2 :	3 5			1	1 0	1	1
	2	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5		5	5	1 5)	0 0	0	
	•	1	3	2	3	2	2	5	1	в	. 1	2	2	2	2		4	8	1			2			1
	ć -	2	3	2	4	4	4	1		1	2	2	1		1		2	2						1	
	2	5 £	2	2	5	5	5	5	4	4	5	5	2	5	2		2	5							
		5	5	÷	5		5		3	3	2	3	3	4	3		2					,			
	5	۵ د	5	2	5	r i	5	2	2	5		5	5	2	2		2	2							
		5	5	5	5	3		2		5			3	5			8	3							
		4		4	6	4	6	2	- 1			- 1	ŝ				5	1				1			
		-	2		5	5	5	5	2	-	5	-	5	-	-		5	1					, 0		
	í	2		3	5	ž	6	ž			2	3	3				ž						n 0	ň	
	ś	Å	5	5	š.	A	5	5	2	5		2	8	8	8		š	R I	1 8				n i		'n
	2	ĩ	3	2	2	1	1	3	- 1	1	1	- î	1	1	2		•	1 .	1 2		;		1 1	Ĩ	
	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	4	5	4	5	5	5	5			5	5 5			1 1	ò o		
	5	5	5	5	5	5	š	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5		5	5	5 5			n i	5 0	ō	0
	5	3	5	5	5	4	5	5	4	B	4	4	5	4	5		5	8	1 5		5	1	o o	ō	1
	3	4	8	5	4	4	3	8	5	5	5	4	5	5	ā		9	Ť :	3 8				b o	ā	0
	3	4	4	3	3	4	8	8	4	4	3	3	3	.3	3		8	8	4 4			1	1 1	ġ	0
:	5	4	5	5	5	3	5	5	4	5	5	5	5	5	8		5	8	5 5		5 (0 1	0 0	ġ	0
	5	4	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	4	5	4	5	5	5		5	5	5 5		5	1	0 0	0	0
i.	5	1	2	3	4	1.	4	4	3	3	3	2	2	3	3		5	5	1 5		۱ I	1	1 1	0	1
:	3	2	3	4	4	2	- 3	2	1	2	2	2	2	3	2		9	2 .	4 4			1	1 1	1	1
5	5	5	4	5	5	3	3	5	3	з	- 4	4	- 4	4	8		5	4 3	3 3	1 3	5 () (D 0	0	0
	9	2	Э	з	5	4	8	3	Э	3	3	- 4	2	5	2		9	8	58	1	5 .	1 .	1 0	0	1
																						1	1 1	1	1
1	3	8	8	8	3	4	8	8	5	5	8	8	8	8	8		9	8	54		5	1 1	0 0	0	0
•	•	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	- 4	5	5	5	5		5	5	35	i (з -	i 1	0 0	0	, Ó
•	1	3	4	з	8	2	8	8	8	3	2	3	- 4	2	- 4		9	8 :	26	: :	3 .	1 1	0 0	0	1
	1	1	3	з	3	2	1	2	1	1	1	2	1	1	3		5	8	1 3	1 4	۰ ۱	1	10	1	1
	•	5	8	5	5	5	1	8	- 4	5	4	5	3	5	5		9	8	5.5)	1	0 0	0	0
	5	5	5	5	8	5	8	5	5	5	5	5	8	3	6		9	8 :	28		•	1 1	0 0	0	0
	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5		5	5	5 5		5. (0	0	0
	2	2	3	4	5	3	5	4	2	2	2	3	5	2	2		5	4	2 5			1	0 0	1	1
	2	5	5	5	2	5	5	2	5	5	5	5	5	5	5		9	5						. 0	
		4	2	2	4	1	2	1	2	3	2	3	3	1	2		9	4	2 2				1 1	0	1
	2	2	5	5	2	5	5	2	2	5	3	5	5	3	2		2	5	5.5					0	0
		3	ş	2	5	3	1	2	3	2	3	5	- 1	3	5		2	8					1 0	0	1
	,		5	2	5	2	2	2	2	5		5		2	2		2	2						, u	
			2	2	5	د د	2	- 2	2	- 2	5	- 2	- 2	5	2		3	2							
		2		2	2	3	2	5	•			- 1	<u>ہ</u>	>	5		5	3 3							
	i :	2	-	Â	Â	5	2	ŝ	,	2				, ,	5		5	5							
		i.	6	5	5	í.	4	5	1		2	4		4	4		5	4	1				, 1 		
	5	4	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	3	5	- -			- 2		5	5					- U		
ì		3	š	5	4	4	ĭ	Ř	ž	9 19	2	Ă	2		Å		9	8					1 1		
	i.	2	2	5	5	4	Å	Ř	1	0 a	1	,	1	2	2		2	2	4 6						
	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	6	5	6	5	- K	5		5	5	5 5			n i	 n n		'n
	۱.	4	5	8	8	3	-	8	3	8	3	3	- Ă	Ă	4		9	1	2 Я			1	1 1	ň	0
	۱. I	3	3	з	4	4	4	4	3	3	ŝ	3	4	3	3		9	4	1 4	. 3	, .		, ס נ	ŏ	1
			5	4	5	4	5	5	- 4	3	2	- 4	5	2	2		5	5	4 5		, ·	1 4) i	ŏ	i
1	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5		5	5	5 5			, i	o o	ŏ	ò

.

ł

.

5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5
5</t

doth20	mail20	lib 20	elems20	others20	book20	flood20	coffee20	bank20	nffood20	video20	pharm20	salon20	work20	bus20	park20	rec20	gym20
1			0 .	1 1	• •				1							0	1
•	1		1 .	1 1				1 1	1	1	i 1	1	Ċ) 1		1	1
0			0	1 1					1) (1	1
u 0			0 (0 (י ט ה ב				ו ו ס נ	1		ניי					0	0
0	0)	0 .	1 C		, .		i c	0	i 1	ı 0	0) C) (0	Ó
0	0	2	0	1 0) (0) (0	0
0			0 L 0 1	ו נ) () ·) (() U) 1	· .				0 0	0
1	. i		1	1 1	1		i ·	i 1	1		í i	1	Ċ	5 1		i	1
1	1		0 (0 0) 1			1 1	1	1	1	1	C) () (0
0			0 1	1 (n r) (\ (1 1 D 7	1) 1) 1		10 10	: 0 -0
ò	i d	r F i	ā i		i i		i d	j	1	1	r a		i è	, i		8	0
0	•		o ·	1 1	<u>د</u>	, .		I 1	1) (0	(C	ί (0	1
0) (,		0 .	1 1					1	1						0	0
0	Ò		ŏ.	i i	, i	, .			1	1	í a				-	. 0	ò
0	1	I	1 '	1 1	I 1		1 1	E. 1	1	1	1 1	1	· .) 1	1	: 0	0
0			0	1 0					0) (0	. 0
0			0 0				i d	5 1		, () (, ,) 1		1	ŏ
c	Ċ):	0 0	o c) (, (i i) c	, a) c) () (ò
0) ().	0	1 1				1	0	, ,) () 0	0
1	י ס (, 1 ,	1. 0. (י י				1 I	1		, 1 , 1	1) ()) ()		1	ů
Ċ	1		ō ·	1 1	Ċ			í 1	1		. 1	1	Ċ) <u>1</u>		ō	ŏ
0	. 0		0 (b (, (0) (), Q		0	0
1			1	1 1					1			<u></u>) U		0	0
Ċ	, a), – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –	ò i	, b c	i i) (, i		i i	, , (ò	i i) o	ò
C	1		0 1	0 1				\$ 1	1	l .1	ı d	1	_) (0	0
) () (0 ·	10				D 1) () () () i n	0
	1 1		a -	1 0	í c	i i	;	1 0		i) 1	' i		í 1	, ,	. 0	ŏ
, c	0)	0 (0 0) () () () <u>(</u>) (· .) (0	0
0)	0 0						0) (0	0
č)	ŏ		Ś	j .	i ı	, ,	, i	<u>م</u>	, , , ,			, .	r i	0	ò
1	1	I	1	1 1	i i			1 1	1	1	i 1	1	1	1	1	1	1
0			0 1	00) () .(0	0
			0 0	0 C	, . , .	5	5			, . , .							ŏ
c) ()	0 (0 1) (0 0) (ì) () (, i) i		I Ö	Ó
0) 1		1 1	0 (D 1	1			1		0 0		0 (0
			o i	, . , .		5										0	ŏ
1	1	i	o -	1 0) () -		1 1	1	1	1 1	1	c) (- 1	0	0
1		2	0	1 1					1	1	1	1) 1) 0	•
1		, ,	ŏ (,						, c	1		j		0	ò
1	1	I	1	1 1	, ·		i -	1 1	1	1	i 1	1	1	1	1	1	1
0			1 (0 0) () () () 0	0
			0 1	1 (, . 		j l	0 (1 1	1		, () 1	, u				0	÷
1	1	1	1	1 1	1 1		1	r 1	1	1	1 1	. 1	C	r d	1	t t	e
0			0 1	0 1					0	1		0) (0	1
			ŏ	0 1	, () (, u	, , , ,	. 0				0	0
1)	o ·	1 () ()		1 1	1	Ċ	5 1	1		Ċ	· 1	0	i
6			0 0	00) (0) (0	0.
	, i	•	ο i			5	,		. 0							, ,	ö
c) ()	o ·	1 () () ·	ı i	D 1	0) () (1	C) () d) 0	0
0				0 (• /					0							0	0
	, i		ŏı	ρ c	, .) (i i		5 0		, i) (Ċ				, u , o	ŏ
0) ī		1	1 1	1		,	1	1	1	ı 1	1		1	i	Ō	1
1			0 1	1 1	ļ				1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	0
0	, U		0 1	0 C	, L) (, i	, 1) (, 0	, C	, u		, C	, 0		, 0 1	1
č	ò	•	0 0	0 1	i i	, .	i .i	5 1	ō	. 1	i	, d	i d) Ö		ō	ĩ
1			0 0	0 0) (1	1	1	1	1	. 1		0	1
	, u	5	0 1	u (1 1		, ,		, () 1	· 0		, u	. 0		, 0		, 0	0
	1	I	0 (o d) d) ·	1	1 1	· 1	i č	0 1	1	Ģ	i d	+ 1	ŏ	1
4		2	0 (0 0		2	2	. 1	0		2 1	1	4	0	(0	0
c	, ,		• •	v ç	, (, (, (0	, ,	, 0	0		• •	(, 0	0

,

Я,

•

• 00110101011100001010000010111010100010001001 •

ŝ,

•

.

٠.